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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

CORPORATE PROFILE
LR

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ("CMRU" or the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 22 February 2013. The Company and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) are a fastgrowing manufacturer of recycled
copper products, also known as copper semis, in Southwest China. The
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”| since
21 February 2014 (the “listing Date”).

The Group is a manufacturer of recycled copper products [also known
as copper semis), communication cables and power fransmission and
distribution cables. The Group processes recycled scrap copper and,
fo a lesser extent, electrolytic copper, fo manufacture a range of copper
products, including copper wire rods, copper wires, copper plates,
copper granules, communication cables and power fransmission and
disfribution cables.

This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on
the Company's website at http://www.cmru.com.cn/.

Shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) may af any time change
their choice of languagels) (either English only or Chinese only or both
languages) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to change their choice of
languagels) of Corporate Communications by notfice in writing fo the
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company with Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services lid. at 17M Floor Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.
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Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
hereby present the audited consolidated annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31

December 2024.

REVIEW ON COPPER MARKET

In 2024, China’s copper market witnessed a sustained upward
frajectory, underpinned by the country’s unwavering commitment fo
economic recovery and ifs ambitious susfainability goals. The overall
economy grew by a resilient 5.6%, providing a solid foundation for the
copper industry's performance.

The copper market benefited from a resurgence in demand, driven
by robust industrial activity across sectors such as renewable energy,
electric vehicles, and infrastructure development. Prices on the Shanghai
Futures Exchange rose from around RMBG9,000 per ton at the sfart of
the year to approximately RMB74,000 per ton by yearend, peaking
at an impressive RMB87,000 per ton during the year. This upward
frajectory in prices reflected a tightening supply outlook amid the
ongoing recovery efforts in infrastructure and manufacturing, as well
as the counfry’s unwavering commitment to sustainable development
inifiatives.

Despite the positive momentum, the copper market continued to
navigate challenges stemming from a sluggish real estate sector and
geopolitical tensions that impacted trade dynamics. However, the
Chinese government's proactive measures to stimulate economic
growth, coupled with ifs resolute focus on transitioning towards a more
sustainable and technologically advanced future, provided a buoyant
environment for the copper industry’s growth.

The surge in copper prices during the year underscored the increasing
demand for this versatile metal, driven by its indispensable role in
supporting China’s ambitious goals, including the development of
renewable energy infrastructure, the proliferation of electric vehicles,
and the rollout of cutting-edge technologies such as 5G networks and
smart cities.
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FEHWE

As China continues to prioritize sustainable development and
technological advancement, the copper industry is poised to play a
pivotal role in shaping the natfion’s future. The government's commitment
fo infrastructure investment, coupled with its emphasis on promoting
a circular economy and resource efficiency, presents significant
opporiunities for the copper market fo thrive and confribute fo the country’s
long-ferm growth objectives.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The year 2024 proved to be a challenging vyet transformative period
for our Group. While we continued to navigate the lingering effects
of the COVID-19 pandemic and the downturn in the real estate and
engineering infrastructure sectors, our primary focus remained on
successfully completing the bankruptcy reorganizations and debt
restructuring of our operating subsidiaries.

Despite our efforts, the Group's revenue declined to RMB468.0
million in 2024, compared to RMB837.7 million in the previous year,
resulting in a gross loss of RMB30.7 million (2023: gross loss of
RMBT111.9 million) and a net loss of RMB653.5 million [2023: net
loss of RMB80S5.8 million). The loss per share was RMBO. 15 in 2024,
compared to RMBO.18 in the previous year. This substantial drop in
revenue was primarily atiributable to the Company's decision to sfop
production since July 2024. The temporary suspension of operations
was driven by the Group's priority to achieve a successful resumption
of trading in Shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange (the
"Resumption”], which became the key focus in the second half of 2024.
Only after the Resumption process was completed did the Management
commence planning and scheduling the resumption of production
activities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In addition to the temporary suspension of production activities, the
Group's communication cables business and power fransmission and
distribution business remained suspended throughout 2024 due to a
lack of working capital and the ongoing challenges in the real estate
sector, where a significant portion of these products are sold. Despite
signs of stabilization in the real esfate market, the Group was unable fo
resume these two downstream businesses unfil sufficient working capital
was secured through the successful completion of the debt restructuring
and bankruptcy reorganization processes.

Despite these challenges, the Group remained steadfast in its efforts to
restructure and reduce the debts of its subsidiaries through bankruptcy
reorganizations and debt restructuring processes. These strategic
initiatives aimed to unlock the intrinsic value and business potential of
our quality assets, positioning us for longferm success.

looking ahead, the successful completion of these debt restructuring
and bankruptcy reorganization processes is crucial for the Group's
long-term sustainability and growth prospects. With the necessary
working capital and a strengthened financial position, the Group will
be better positioned fo resume its communication cables business and
power transmission and distribution business, capitalizing on market
opporiunities as economic conditions improve. We remain committed
to working closely with all stakeholders to navigate through these
challenges and emerge stronger, better positioned to capture future
growth opportunities.

PROSPECTS

While 2024 witnessed a slowdown in the real estate sector,
traditionally a key economic driver, compounded by external factors like
the Russia-Ukraine conlflict, inferest rate hikes globally, and heightened
fensions with the United Stafes, the central government took proactive
measures to mitigate risks. These included expansionary fiscal and
monetfary policies, such as cutting the seven-day reverse repo rate
and reserve requirement rafio, reducing rafes on existing mortgages,
recapifalizing large state-owned banks, and implementing measures to
support the housing and stock markets.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FEHWE

Despite the overall economic uncertainties, the outlook for China's
copper sector remains promising, underpinned by the 14th Five-Year
Plan (2021-2025) and the 2021 circular titled "Guiding Opinion
on Urging Efforts to Build an Economic System Featuring Green, Low-
carbon and Circular Development, and to Promote an Overall Green
Transformation of the Economy and Society”( KBRS MNIREE S 2 4%
BERBRERKLERBRNIEEER) ). These policies emphasize
a fransition fowards a susfainable economy and the advancement of
information technology, including the rollout of 5G networks. With
copper being an essential component in electric vehicles, renewable
energy systems, and advanced manufacturing, demand is anticipated
fo rise in line with the government’s goal of achieving carbon neutrality
by 2060. Moreover, the increasing focus on electrification, smart
grid development, and 5G infrastructure needs present substantial
opportunities for the copper industry, likely boosting both domestic
production and imporfs.

However, the copper sector must navigate several challenges that
could potentially hinder its growth within the framework of the 14th
Five-Year Plan. Stringent environmental regulations, resource scarcity,
and geopolitical tensions may disrupt supply chains and impact
production capacity. Furthermore, while government initiatives aimed at
technological innovation and infrastructure development, including 5G
deployment, are expected fo stimulate demand, competitive pressures
and price volatility in global markets could complicate the industry
landscape.

One significant challenge faced by the Group and the broader industry
is the introduction of the new taxation policy by the State Taxation
Administration of China [Announcement No. 5 of 2024) [ {EIZR 1%
HBBRE2024FE55%) ) regarding the recycling industry. This policy
change has resulted in a substantial increase in the tax burden on our
suppliers, leading to higher operational costs and potential disruptions
in the supply chain.

The recycling industry plays a crucial role in promoting a circular
economy and supporting China's sustainability goals. However, the new
taxation policy has made it more challenging for suppliers to operate
efficiently and remain competitive. This development has the potfential
fo impact the Group's procurement processes, pricing sirafegies, and
overall profitability.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Stringent environmental regulations, resource scarcity, and geopolitical
fensions may further disrupt supply chains and affect production capacity
within the copper industry. While the government's initiatives aimed af
technological innovation and infrastructure development, including 5G
deployment, are expected fo stimulate demand, competitive pressures
and price volatility in global markefs could complicate the industry
landscape.

The Group remains committed to adapfing to the evolving regulatory
and market conditions. We are actively exploring strategies to mitigate
the impact of the new taxation policy, such as optimizing our supplier
relationships, seeking alternative sources, and implementing cost-
effective measures to maintain our competitiveness.

In addition to the challenges posed by the new faxation policy and
other external factors, the Group faced another significant hurdle in
the form of delays in receiving government grants. This issue was
brought about by the implementation of the new “Regulations on Fair
Competition Review” ( (R FEFEE D) |, which imposed stricter
rules on the provision of grants by local governments.

Govemnment grants have traditionally played a crucial role in supporting
various industries, including the copper sector, by providing financial
assisfance and incentives. However, the new regulations aim fo ensure
fair competition and prevent unfair advantages arising from government
subsidies or granfs.

The delayed receipt of government grants due to the new regulations
has resulted in a temporary financial strain on the Group, affecting our
cash flow and operational capabilities. This disruption has particularly
impacted our ability fo invest in new projects, research and development
initiatives, and other growth-oriented activities.

While we acknowledge the importance of promoting fair competition
and preventing market distortions, the timely receipt of government
grants is crifical for maintaining our competitiveness and supporting
the copper industry's transition towards a more sustainable and
technologically advanced future, as envisioned by the 14th Five-Year
Plan.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FEHWE

In response fo this challenge, the Group is actively engaging with
relevant authorities and industry associations to seek clarity on the
implementation of the new regulations and explore alterative funding
sources or support mechanisms. We are also reviewing our internal
processes and sfrategies fo optimize our operafions and mitigate the
impact of the grant delays.

Despite these challenges, the Group remains steadfast in its commitment
to adapting fo the evolving regulatory landscape and leveraging our
strengths to capitalize on the opportunities presented by the growing
demand for copper and China’s sustainable development goals.

The successful completion of the bankruptey reorganizations and debt
restructuring for our subsidiaries remains a top priority for the Group.
While we anticipate that our operational and financial results may face
nearterm challenges during this process, we remain confident in our
longferm business prospects and the robust demand for our products,
particularly copper.

Our strategic approach of voluntarily filing for bankruptey reorganization
applications with the respective courts aims to provide a platform for our
subsidiaries, including Mianyang Tongxin Copper Co., ltd. {“Tongxin”),
Mianyang Jin Xunhuan Metal Materials Co., ltd. ("Jin Xunhuan”},
Mianyang Baohe Taiyue Communications Cable Co. lid. ("Taiyue”),
Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Copper Co., lid. ("Yinlian Xiangbei’), and
Hubei Rongsheng Copper Co., ltd. ["Hubei Rongsheng”), to restructure
their existing indebtedness with relevant creditors under the supervision
and sancfion of the courts ("Debt Restructuring”).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

By filing the Bankruptcy Reorganisation Application with the Court
voluntarily and, if approved, there would be a platform for (i) Mianyang
Tongxin Copper Co., lid.* (43F5REZ#HEFR A F]) ("Tongxin”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; [iij Mianyang Jin Xunhuan
Metal Materials Co., ltd.* (52 BEREBMEIAR AR ("in
Xunhuan), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (i)
Mianyang Baohe Taiyue Communications Cable Co. ltd.* (4BF5{RFN
FBEREBR AR ("Taiyue'), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company; (iv)] Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Copper Co., ld.* (i#}
FEREMILIRZEBR A A]) ("Yinlian Xiangbei”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company; and [v] Hubei Rongsheng Copper
Co., td* (HitmREBEMAMR AT ("H ube i Ro ngs he ng”),
a n in dir ec t wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (collectively,
the “Relevant Subsidiaries”) to restructure their existing indebtedness
with the relevant creditors, with the sanction by the Court ("Debt
Restructuring”). The Debt Restructuring would reduce the debts of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, release the infrinsic value and business potential
of the quality assefs currently held by the Relevant Subsidiaries, and
allow the Relevant Subsidiaries to fully utilise such assets fo increase the
revenue generation ability. Although the Relevant Subsidiaries presently
face difficulties in repaying their debts, the Board is of the view that |i)
the assefs held by the Relevant Subsidiaries are of strategic value; (i)
the Relevant Subsidiaries possess strong technical capabilities pedigree;
and (iii) the production and recycling industries in which the Relevant
Subsidiaries operate have promising prospects in the China in light of
the 14th Five-Year Plan published by the China government. After the
Debt Restructuring, the Board believes that the Relevant Subsidiaries will
be able fo continue to operate as a going concemn and improve the
overall financial position of the Relevant Subsidiaries and the Group.
Further, through the Debt Restructuring, the Company hopes fo preserve
the welfare of the staff of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as a matter of social
responsibiliies, and contribute to the local community.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FEHWE

On 6 June 2022, Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan intended fo resfructure
its existing indebtedness through the applicable provisions of the
Enterprise Bankruptcy law of the PRC. A voluntary application for the
aoforementioned bankruptcy reorganization of Taiyue has been filed with

the Court on 6 June 2022.

On 25 May 2023, Taiyue also intended fo restructure its existing
indebtedness through the applicable provisions of the Enterprise
Bankruptcy Law of the PRC. A voluntary application for the
aoforementioned bankruptey reorganization of Taiyue has been filed
with the Court on 18 May 2023. Please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 25 May 2023 for further details.

On 14 August 2023, Yinlian Xiangbe received a civil ruling (the
"Civil Ruling”) from the People’s Court of Miluo City, Hunan Province
in relafion fo a pefition for winding-up against Yinlian Xiangbei filed
by Hunan Miziyuan Asset Holdings Co., lid.* [#EEZ IRE X EE
BRAF]) ("Miziyuan”), a creditor of Yinlian Xiangbei, on the ground
that Yinlian Xiangbei was unable to repay the debts falling due. The
debts involved were in the amount of approximately RMB1 1.9 million.
Yinlian Xiangbei opposed the petition and applied to the Court for
bankruptey reorganisation instead. According to the Civil Ruling, affer
faking info account the situation of Yinlian Xiangbei and the bankruptcy
reorganisation of the Company's other certain subsidiaries in Mianyang
City, Sichuan Province, the Court rejected Miziyuan's petition for
windingup and accepted Yinlian Xiangbei's bankruptcy reorganisation
application. The People’s Court of Miluo City, Hunan Province
appointed Hunan licheng Asset Liquidation Management Company
ltd.* (AR EEBTEER AR AT as the administrator. The
administrator subsequently held the first creditors’ meefing on 5 January
2024. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 14 August
2023 and 13 October 2023 for further details.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

On 7 September 2023, Hubei Rongsheng received (i) a decision
dated 12 September 2023; and |ii) notice to Hubei Rongsheng dated
12 September 2023 from the People’s Court of Yunmeng County,
Hubei Province in relation to Hubei Rongsheng's application for
pre-restructuring (the "Pre-restructuring”) in accordance with the pre-
restructuring procedure under the applicable provisions of the Enferprise
Bankruptey law of the People’s Republic of China to prepare for its
intended bankruptey reorganisation application. After considering the
opinions of Hubei Rongsheng, its main credifors and interested investors
and the relevant government authorities, the Court approved the Pre-
restructuring of Hubei Rongsheng and designated Hubei Gongshun
Accounting Firm* (1t ANEEETRIEEFT) as provisional administrator
of the Pre-restructuring per the discussion of Hubei Rongsheng and ifs

main credifors. Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 15
September 2023 for further defails.

On 22 February 2024, the Company received from Sichuan Dingtian
law Firm™* (P98 RXEEDETEFT) and Sichuan Chunlei Llaw Firm™* (9
JIEERENERFR), the joint administrators for the Debt Restructuring
of Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan (the “Joint Administrators”), (i} the Court's
civil ruling to the Joint Administrators dated 26 December 2023; and
(ii) the Court notice dated 21 February 2024 (collectively, the “Court
Documents”). Pursuant to the Court Documents, the Court accepted
the application o f Joint Administrators for substantive consolidated
bankruptcy reorganization of Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan and Taiyue with
the Joint Administrators to perform the duties and responsibilities of
administrators for the Debt Restructurings. Please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 6 June 2022, 3 August 2022, 5 August 2022,
3 January 2023, 28 March 2023, 25 May 2023 and 23 February
2024 for further defails.

On 3 June 2024, the second creditors’ meeting for Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan
and Taiyue (the “Second Creditors’ Meeting”) was held. Agenda of
the Second Creditors’ Meeting included: period performance report
of the Joint Administrators, verification of the creditors’ rights, report of
the Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan and Taiyue's business operations by the Joint
Administrators, proposed resolutions, review of Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan
and Taiyue' property status report and the Relevant Subsidiaries’
management plan and operation supervision plan. Please refer fo the
Company's announcement dated 19 June 2024 for further details.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FEHWE

The Debt Restructuring process is intended to reduce the debt burden
of these subsidiaries, unlock the infrinsic value and business potential
of their quality assets, and enable them to fully utilize these assets to
enhance revenue generation capabiliies. Despite the current challenges
in repaying debts, we firmly believe that the assets held by these
subsidiaries possess strategic value, supported by their sirong fechnical
capabilities and the promising prospects of the production and recycling
industries in China, as highlighted in the government's 14th Five-Year
Plan.

After the successful completion of the Debt Restructuring, we anticipate
that our subsidiaries will be able to continue operating as going
concerns, improving their overall financial positions and contributing
to the Group's longterm growth. Furthermore, this process aligns with
our social responsibilities, allowing us fo preserve the welfare of our
subsidiaries” employees and contribute to the local communities.

Throughout 2024, significant progress was made in the bankruptcy
reorganization and Debt Resfructuring processes for our subsidiaries. Key
milestones included the acceptance of applications by the respective
courts, the appointment of administrators, the holding of creditors’
meetings, and the consolidation of the reorganization processes for
certain subsidiaries under the supervision of joint administrators.

As we move forward, we remain committed to navigating this
reorganization effectively, positioning ourselves for growth once we
emerge from this challenging period, and creating longterm value for
all our stakeholders.

CONCLUSION

| would like to thank our customers, suppliers, business partners and
Shareholders for their continued support, my fellow directors for their
wise insight and active participation, and our management team for
their continued dedication and commitment to the success of the Group.
The Group is confident in its ability o create shortterm and long-ferm
value for our Shareholders and would like to thank Shareholders for their
support and trust in the Group over the years.

Chairman
Mr. Yu Jiangiu

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our revenue represents the amounts accepted to be entitled for sales
of goods and services in the ordinary course of business. Revenue
recognised is net of VAT and other faxes, returns and discounts after
eliminating sales within our Group.

TEEEMWR S

Bt ¥ 0 R

EXE
BMHEXBENBTEBBREFREE
EMEREEERKIR 2 £ 5 - FERH
SEBR(CERIMREBETREMBIE  RE
KT e S A EB A RRE A HE £ TS

Sales of recycled copper products BAREmMAE

Sales of power transmission and KELEEBIHE
distribution cables

Sales of communication cables HEEEHEE

Sales of scrap materials FEEM KL HE

Other HAt

2024 2023

2024 ¥ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
458,062 811,094
437 3,498

57 240

5,054 17,797
4,426 5075
468,036 837,704

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately RMB468.0 million, representing a decrease of 44.13%
from approximately RMB837.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The decline in sales volume was primarily due to a significant
reduction in the sales of recycled copper products and the Group's
decision to stop production since July 2024. The temporary suspension
of operations was driven by the Group's priority to achieve a successful
Resumption, which became the key focus in the second half of 2024.
Only after the Resumption process was completed did the Management
commence planning and scheduling the resumption of production
activities.

Revenue from recycled copper products amounted to approximately
RMB458.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing a decrease of 43.52% from approximately RMB811.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This was primarily
due to a decrease of 46.0% in the sales volume of recycled copper
products, which declined from 13,330 metric fons for the year ended
31 December 2023 to 7,192 metric tons for the year ended 31
December 2024. Additionally, there was an increase of 4.7% in the
average selling price, rising from RMB60,847 per ton for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to RMB63,694 per fon for the year ended
31 December 2024.

HE2024F 1231 HIEFEREETELD
RARKAB 0B BT BW#H E2023F
1I2A3TALEFEHNRAREEI77EHSE
TUR A 44.13% - HE RS T ERSB LR
EmiHEXNEE D RARKERE A 2024 F
7 ARFILEE - HEEEHRAREK
EMEREERR WK 2024F T +F
MEBEH -  EEEENERBRETKESH
AETEIY ZHEIRIELERD -

HE2024F12A31BILFE - BAEH
EmBNERBOR/RAREASBIBE T
WREE2023F12A31BIEFEHARA
RESITITBEETMA43.52% X E-
M BEREMHEEREE2023F12 4
31 HIEFER 13,330 AN ERZE 2024
FI2A3THIEFENT,102AW - & i&E
R46.0% o FIIEBHEZE 2023 F
12831 BIEFEHEHARE 60,847 7T
EINEBE2024F 1231 BIEFENE
WA 63,6947T  BIER4.7% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHEMWRESH

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2024 totaled
approximately RMB498.8 million, representing a decrease of 47.49%
from approximately RMB?50.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. This significant decline in cost of sales corresponds with a
notable decrease in sales, which saw a reduction of 44.13%.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2024, we reported a gross loss of
approximately RMB30.7 million, a decline from the gross loss of about
RMB111.9 million for the year ending 31 December 2023. Our gross
profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2024 was negative
6.56%, compared to a margin of negafive 13.4% for the year ended
31 December 2023. This improvement in gross margin was primarily
driven by the increase in average selling prices of the Group's recycled
copper segment products. The Management's proactive cost confrol
measures ensured that the extent of the sales price increase outpaced
the change in average costs, resulting in a narrower gross loss.

Other income/(expenses), gain/(loss), net

Our net of other income/(expenses) and gain/(loss) totaled
approximately RMB30.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, representing a significant decrease from approximately
RMB52.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This
decline was primarily driven by reductions in (i) VAT refunds related to
comprehensive resource utilization, (i) inferest income.

Net provision for doubtful debts and impairment of advance
payment to suppliers

Our net provision for doubtful debts totaled approximately RMB121.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a
significant decrease from approximately RMB142.0 million for the year

ended 31 December 2023.

Our impairment of advance payment to suppliers totaled approximately
RMB72.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing
a significant decrease from approximately RMB208. 1
year ended 31 December 2023.

million for the
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group performs impairment assessment on trade and bills
receivables and advance payment to suppliers under the expected
credit loss ("ECL") model. The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, the loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of probability of default and loss given default based on historical
data and forward looking information is performed by independent
professional valuers engaged by the Group at each reporting date for
the purpose of determining ECL.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately RMB1.6 million, representing a
77 .8% decrease from approximately RMB7.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. This reduction was primarily due fo a decline in
sales during the year.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024
were approximately RMB103.0 million, representing a decrease of
7.0% from RMB110.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
This reduction was primarily due to a decrease in staff costs and
operating expenses, which aligned with the decline in sales during the
year.

Finance costs

Our finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
approximately RMB354.1 million, representing an increase of 27.5%
from RMB277.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This
increase was primarily due fo higher interest rafes and borrowing during
the year.

Loss for the year

Our loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB652.5
million as compared to the loss of RMB805.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The decrease in loss was mainly atiributable to
the net decrease in net provision for doubtful debts and impairment of
advance payment fo suppliers of RMB155.9 million.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2024, the capital structure of the Group mainly
consisted of shareholder’s equity, note payables and inferestbearing
bank and other borrowings. There is no material seasonality of
borrowing requirements for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEMWRSH

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s fofal

interestbearing borrowings at the end of the reporting period: BN IS

31 December 2024
202412831 H
WACC
pilip: )
BE A

Amount

T8

FHEMER
I ANES
HRIRTT R EMER

Inferest bearing borrowings:
Note payables
Interestbearing bank and

other borrowings
Lease liabilities

12-13 24,373

3.85-9.92 1,642,001
HERE = -

AR

1,666,374

Total interest bearing borrowings

The following table sefs forth the maturity profile of the Group's inferest-
bearing borrowings af the dates indicated:

HIER

TR AEEGFBEREERREHR

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

WACC Amount

kY
B KA o]
12-13 23,922
3.85-9.92 1,628,000
3.25-4.76 379
1,652,301

TR AREEFEBHRNAHRBHNE

As at 31 December 2024
72024512 BE31H

Interest-
bearing
bank and
other
borrowings
FFEBTR
H &=
RMB’000
ARET T

Note
payables

EBNRE
RMB’000
ARBTR

Within one year or repayable —FRNFIRERER

on demand 24,373 1,642,001

Lease
liabilities Total
HEAE
RMB’000
AR¥T T

#ast
RMB’000
ARETR

- 1,666,374
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEEMWR S

As at 31 December 2023
MW2023F12A31H

Interest-
bearing
bank and
Nofe other lease
payables  borrowings liabilities Total
ARRITR
ENRE  EtfEs  HEAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT
Within one year or repayable —FRSRBERER
on demand 23,922 1,628,000 379 1,652,301
Liquidity and financial resources RBETRMBER

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
(excluding pledged deposits of RMB32.3 million] amounted to
approximately RMB3.6 million (2023: approximately RMB18.3

million).

The Group's inventories decreased by RMB25.3 million to
approximately RMB39.2 million, compared to approximately RMB64.5
million in 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the overall
inventory turnover days increased to 38 days, compared to 32 days for
the year ended 31 December 2023. This decrease in inventory turnover
days is mainly attributable to a decrease in demand for copper products
and the Company’s decision fo sfop production since July 2024.

Trade and bills receivables decreased by approximately RMB133.0
million to approximately RMB13.3 million as of 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately RMB146.3 million). The trade and bills
receivables turnover days in 2024 of 384 days increased compared
to 221 days in 2023. The significant increase in trade and bills
receivables turnover days was affributable to suspended production
activities since July 2024 to prioritize the successful Resumption. This
temporary halt in operations led to a lower revenue stream, while
outstanding frade receivables remained largely unchanged, resulting in
an extended furnover period.
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BeEERAIMBREERERARE
323BETINR/ARKE3.6AEIT(2023
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R¥EO45BEHT BHE2024F 12 A 31
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ARBI33BET(2023F : HARE
146.3BETT) - 2024 F 0N E 5 fE WA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHEMWRESH

Trade and bills payables decreased by approximately RMBO.4 million
to approximately RMB789.3 million as of 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately RMB789.7 million). The payable turnover days were
578 days, compared to 462 days in 2023. Payable turnover days
for the year increased compared to the previous year. The increase in
payable turmnover days was mainly due fo fight liquidity resulting from
decreased sales and slower collections. The Group is also currently
undergoing Debt Restructuring.

The Group's total interest-bearing borrowings increased by
approximately RMB14.1 million to RMB1,666.4 million as at 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately RMB1,652.3 million).
The overall increase was primarily due to accrued interest and new
borrowings during the year.

Bank loans and other borrowings included three entrusted loans totalling
approximately RMB300.0 million from Mianyang Science Technology
City Development Investment (Group) Co., ltd.* (435I & E
wE(EE) BRAR]) (Kefa"), a stateowned enterprise in the PRC.
Pursuant to the entrusted loan agreement signed among Tongxin, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Kefa and the entrusted bank,
the entrusted loans expired on 27 August 2016, 23 September 2016
and 18 November 2016 respectively. Kefa, the entrusted bank and
Tongxin further agreed that the entrusted loan would not be repayable
until further agreed otherwise. On 16 July 2020, the Company entered
info a non-legally binding framework agreement with Kefa. Under
the framework agreement, it is intended, among others, that Kefa will
subscribe for Shares for a consideration of more than RMB300 million.
The infended uses of the proceeds from Kefa will include, but not be
limited to, the repayment of entrusted loans amounting to approximately
RMB299 million as at 31 December 2020 owed by the Group to
Kefa. As of the dafe of this report, the discussion with Kefa on the
potential subscription for Shares is still ongoing.
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R M2023F RIR462K  F AR K
THEE R EEFRLL AN - BAR
HRABRBUEMEZRANEHE RS kA
RBREEHRPDESHMNBERMAE - A&
BB AT EETTEREE -

M2024F12A31H - AEBEHETEE
ERBEMOARKI4IBETEAR
¥ 1,666.48 & L(2023F - H AR
1,652 3EETT) - BREMDTEHNF
NERT B M F IR R -

RITERREAMIERBIERE BEREH
HRNE(RE)ARAR(HED(PEE
BEE)N=ZFHXH/AREI00.0E8E
THEEER - REARFTNZENER
AlE  BMBELRIXFTRITEZNETERN
B ZRERTERDANN2016F8A
27820169238 k201611 A
18 HEIH - B XFEiRTTRAECDE—
FPRABRAERKERAEEEEE—
THE - W2020F7 A 16H » AR A
MBI EEARORIOERRF - RIB
ERZ MEREPBE)BUARS
B00BE BTN ENRERBERD - BIEMR
GRENBRERAZEE/RAENRREERN
SBEMN2020F12A31 HERBELDH A
RE200BETHNERFEER - RAHE A
Hi - BRI OEERBO I wIDEE

7

7



The following table sefs forth certain financial rafios of the Group as af
the dates indicated:

Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEEEMWR S

TREINPIRERAEENE T
s? .

o

As at As at

<) PO 31 December

2024 2023

72024 F R 2023 %

12H31H 12H31H

Current ratio B & 0.1 0.2
Quick ratio HB) LXK 0.1 0.2
Debt to equity ratio * EIEERILLE -40.0% -47 1%
Net debt to equity ratio * FHETAE R R -40.0% -46.6%

* Total interestbearing debts/Total equity.

# Total inferestbearing debts less cash and cash equivalents/Total equity.

The negative debt to equity rafio and net debt to equity ratio were a
result of net liabilities of approximately RMB4,161.5 million (2023:
approximately RMB3,507.2 million) mainly attributable to the losses for
the year amounted to approximately RMB652.5 million.

Charge on assets

The following table sets forth the net carrying amounts of assets under
pledge for cerfain banking facilities, bills payable facilities, proceeds
from factorer and lease liabilities as at the dates included:

* AEEGEE AR -

: AEEBEERRSRASSEER Al -

TEHRFABBENARKOS25B8
T AR RBEHNRARBA4161.5BE
TT(2023 % : HHARME3,507.2HETT) -
Rt EBEE L R R ERESRLE R AR
B e

BEEEH

TREERMTAHEHE TRITRE -
RENEERE - KRAREANERER
HEABEFELEANEEREFE -

As at As at

QPSS 31 December

2024 2023

2024 M 2023 F

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR®ET T

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KkRE 205,093 223,345
Rightofuse assets EREEE 74,857 84,164
Inventories T8 26,583 26,583
Bank deposits IRITIF X 32,262 32,262
338,795 366,354

19



20

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHEMWRESH

Commodity risk

The major raw materials used in the production of our recycled copper
products are scrap copper. We are exposed to fluctuations in the prices
of raw materials as well as finished goods which are influenced by
global as well as regional supply and demand conditions. Fluctuations
in the copper prices could adversely affect our financial performance.
The Group will consider to use copper futures contracts fo mitigate part
of its exposure against price fluctuations of copper. The Group did
not have any outstanding copper futures contfracts as af 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil]. No loss or gain was recognised for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nlil).

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within our Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, we
are exposed fo currency risk primarily related to the cash and cash
equivalents, notes payables and other borrowings, some of which are
mainly denominated in HKD.

As at 31 December 2024, cerfain nofes payables and borrowings
included in the Group's inferestbearing bank and other borrowings
were denominated in HKD, with an aggregate principal amount of
approximately HKD376.2 million. The Group did not commit to any
financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the
year ended 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company incurred an exchange difference on franslation
of financial statements of entities outside of the PRC equivalent to
approximately RMB2.9 million.

Significant investments held

Except for investments in subsidiaries and associates, the Group did not
hold any significant investment in equity interest in any other companies
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or affiliated companies. during the year ended 31

December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's capital
expenditures payments represent additions to property, plant and
equipment (including construction in progress) and land use rights of
approximately RMBO.4 million (2023: approximately RMBO.5 million).
The capital expenditures were mainly financed from internal resources.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the capital commitments in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and lease prepayments
on lands contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements amounted to approximately RMB25.8 million (2023:
approximately RMB25.8 million).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in progress of various legal
litigations relating to bank and other borrowings and trade and other
payables. As a result of these litigations, various bank accounts were
frozen and various properties, rightof-use assets and inventories were
seized.

Events after the reporting period

On 28 January 2025 and as amended on 18 March 2025, a
conditional subscription agreement was entered into between the
Company as issuer and Top legend SPC on behalf of Queens SP
as subscriber (the “Investor”) (the “Convertible Note Subscription
Agreement”) in relation to the issue of the convertible nofes [“Convertible
Notes") in the principal amount of HK$ 10,000,000 due on the day
which lands on the sixth month after the date of issue. The Convertible
Notes are convertible in the circumstances set out in the terms and
condifions of the Convertible Note Subscription Agreement. Assuming
full conversion of the Convertible Notes (together with all accrued
interesfs) at their conversion price, the Convertible Notes (together with
all accrued interests) will be convertible into approximately 92,477,876
New Conversion Shares as adjusted based on the proposed Share
Consolidation, Capital Reduction and Share Subdivision (as defined
below].
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHEMWRESH

On 28 January 2025 and as amended on 18 March 2025,
a conditional subscription agreement (the “Share Subscription
Agreement”) was entered info between the Company as issuer and
Lin Fei as subscriber (the “Subscriber”) in relation to the issue of a
total of 585,659,030 shares of the Company, to be adjusted to
58,565,903 shares of the Company (the “Subscription Shares”) based
on the proposed Share Consolidation, Capital Reduction and Share
Subdivision (as defined below).

On 28 January 2025 as updated on 18 March 2025, and on 21
March 2025 (as sef out in its Circular), the Company proposes fo
implement the capital reorganization involving the share consolidation,
the capital reduction and the share sub-division, as follows:

The Company proposes a share consolidation of every fen (10) issued
and unissued Shares of par value of HK$0.10 each in the share capifal
of the Company into one (1) Consolidated Share of par value of

HK$1.00 (the “Share Consolidation”).

Immediately following the Share Consolidation becoming effective,
the capital reduction and the Share sub-division will be implemented,
pursuant to which:

(i)  the issued share capital of the Company will be reduced by
cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.99 on each
of the then issued Consolidated Shares such that the par value of
each issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from HK$1.00
to HK$0.01 (the "Capital Reduction”); and

(i)  immediately following the Capital Reduction, each of the authorised
but unissued Consolidated Shares of par value of HK$1.00 each
be sub-divided into 100 New Shares of par value of HK$0.01
each (the “"Sub-Division”).

Except for those disclosed, the Group did not have any other material
events affer the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Human resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a fofal of 250 employees
(2023: 287). The Group's staff costs for the year ended 31 December
2024 were approximately RMB27.6 million (2023: RMB28.6
million). The Group offers its staff competitive remuneration packages.
In addition, discretionary bonuses and share options may also be
granted fo eligible staff based on individual and Group's performance.
The Group is committed to nurturing @ leamning and sharing culture
in the organization. Heavy emphasis is placed on the training and
development of individual staff and team building, as the Group's
success is dependent on the contribution of all functional divisions
comprising skilled and motivated professionals. The Group is also
committed to social responsibility as demonstrated by employing
disabled staff and providing appropriate working conditions and
protection to them.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEREREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yu Jianqiv (BT2K), oge 60, is the founder of the Group and
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for the overall business
and sfrategy of the Group. He also serves as a director of our certain
subsidiaries. Through his personal inferests and holdings in Epoch Keen,
Mr. Yu is a major shareholder of the Company. Mr. Yu has over 20
years of experience in corporate operafions and management in the
pefrochemical, automobile and renewable energy sectors. He was
the chairman and principal executive officer of Gushan Environmental
Energy limited ("Gushan”), a company whose American depositary
shares were listed on the New York Stock Exchange from December
2007 to October 2012. Mr. Yu also founded a number of subsidiaries
of the Gushan group between 1996 and 2008. Mr. Yu received
his degree of Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
from Hautes Etudes Commerciales de Paris on 13 December, 2010.
In 2002, he was elected as a member of the Fuzhou Committee of
the 10th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Committee and a
member of the Santai County Committee of the 11th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Committee. He was appointed as a Director on

22 February 2013 and redesignated as an executive Director on 16
August 2013.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (BE15), age 59, is an executive
director of the Company. He is in charge of the corporate and
strafegic development of the Company. Mr. Kwong is also a direcfor
of certain subsidiaries, and a director of our associafes companies:
Deda Holdings Limited and Hongkong Fujian Investments Limited. Mr.
Kwong was the President of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited
(“Gushan”). He is also an independent non-executive director of
C.banner International Holdings limited, the principal business of
which is the manufacture and sale of branded fashion footwear, since
26 August 2011, China Ouffitters Holdings Limited, the principal
business of which is the design, manufacture, marketing and sale of
apparel products and accessories in China with a focus on menswear,
since 8 June 2011, Shunfeng International Clean Energy Limited, the
principal business of which is the manufacture and sale of solar wafers,
solar cells, solar modules and related products as well as developing
and operating solar power plants, since 16 July 2014, China New
Higher Education Group Limited, the principal business of which is
the rendering of education services, since 20 March 2017, and East
Buy Holding Limited (formerly known as Koolearn Technology Holding
Limited), the principal business of which is the provision of online after-
school tutoring and test preparation service in China since 15 March
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continved)

2019, which are listed on the Stock Exchange since 23 September
2011, 9 December 2011, 13 July 2011, 19 April 2017 and 28
March 2019, respectively. Mr. Kwong has over 10 years of experience
in corporate finance and equity capital markets in Asia, having
previously worked at a number of investment banks in Hong Kong. Prior
fo joining Gushan in 2006, he was the managing director of investment
banking and he held the position as the head of Hong Kong and China
equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital Markets Limited since
March 2004. From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Kwong was a director and the
head of equity capital markets for Cazenove Asia Limited, an investment
bank. After graduating from University of Cambridge, England with
a bachelor of Arts degree in 1987, he qualified as a chartered
accountant in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an
associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountant in England
and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Kwong was appointed as an executive director of the Company on

16 August 2013.

Ms. Zhu Yufen (RE%), age 62, is an executive director of the
Company. Ms. Zhu has over 20 years of experience in accounting
and financial management. She is primarily responsible for the financial
reporting and accounting affairs of the Company. Ms. Zhu is also the
vice president in charge of the finance of Mianyang Jinxin Copper
Co., ld. (#BF52BIAEAR AR (")inxin"), since July 2009. Prior to
joining Jinxin, she was a vice general manager and the head of finance
department of Mianyang Santai Vise Co., Ud. (25 =& B aHBRA
]), the principal business of which is the manufacture and sale of vises,
from 1978 1o 2009. Ms. Zhu was appointed as an executive direcfor
of the Company on 16 August 2013.

Mr. GAO Qiang (%), aged 55, graduated from Shanghai Theatre
Academy in 1994 with a bachelor degree in acting. Mr. Gao has
been serving as an executive director of Yawei Culture Media (Shanghai)
Co., lid.* HH{LFEE(LE) BRZAF and Xing Jiu Culture Media
(Shanghai) Co., Uid.* EARX{LEE (LF) BRAF] since January
2019 and March 2019, respectively. He also currently serves as
the secretary general of China Literature and Art Foundation Folk Art
Special Fund* (PRI E&MEceRMEMEEBES) and an
honorary curafor of Jin Shangjing History Museum* (& L3R £ 184
£8). Mr. Gao's background and experience in corporate management
and project management would allow him fo contribute to the Group
by providing leadership and views from a different perspective and
assist the Group in navigating through challenges and seizing business
opportunities. Mr. Gao was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 2 Sepfember 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEREREER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Wei (218), aged 49, graduated from Sichuan University
in 2000 with a bachelor degree in economics. He has been the
general manager of AR EMAEREERFR QA (Henan Wangxiang
Ecological Industry Co., ltd.)* since June 2019. He was the vice
general manager and project general manager of BEZFEE A
Al (Xiexin Duoli Chongging Company)* from April 2018 to April
2019, the general manager of FIIRAXALIREAR AR (Sichuan
Xianggu Cultural Tourism Co., Lid.)* from June 2016 to March 2018,
the general manager of each of FJIEFHEZEBFR A F] (Sichuan
Haike Industrial Co., ltd.)*, 4B[5IEEEZEBR AR (Mianyang Bojie
Industrial Co., Ud.]*, B REFEMERZEBR AR (Deyang Yongxin
Real Estate Development Co., lid.]* from July 2014 to June 2016, May
2012 to June 2014, and May 2010 to May 2012, respectively. Mr.
Li is experienced in corporate management, real esfate development,
marketing and project management. Mr. Li was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 28 June 2022.

Mr. Fang Guanghua (FH#E %), aged 58, obtained a certificate
of building construction and management from The Open University
of China in January 2011. Mr. Fang has been serving as a direcfor
of Sichuan Gangfu Decoration Design Co., ltd.* FUJI| & BFERK
TH#ER AT, Ganghua Tongda Industrial (Chengdu) Co., lid.* #
HEiRFEEZE(KE) AR AR, and Sichuan Xinduguicheng Village
Bank Co., ltd.* W/ REFHENERITEREE AR since May
1994, November 2017, and March 2011 respectively. Mr. Fang is
experienced in corporate management, building and construction, civil
engineering, sales of communication electronic products, and general
banking business. Mr. Fang was appoinfed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 13 October 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continved)

Mr. Yu Rengzhong (8138 5% %), aged 46, graduated from Xian
Jiaotong University with a bachelor degree in investment economic in
July 2001, Mr. Yu has been serving as the financial controller of Fujian
Minhai Energy Co., ltd.* BEZREIRBR AT since June 2020.
From January 2019 to March 2020, Mr. Yu served as the general
manager of Xiamen Bangfu Investment Management Co., ltd.* &
FIHEREBEEAR DA, mainly engaging in initial public offering
planning. From September 2001 to June 2007, Mr. Yu worked in
Fujian Mindu Certified Public Accountants Co., ltd.* t@2REIE & 5HAD
FEAABRAE] (currently known as Fujian Lixin Mindu Cerfified Public
Accountants Co., ltd. * BEAZFEEZFTENEFMER AR with his
last role as the audit manager. Mr. Yu has approximately 21 years of
experiences in auditing, accounting and financial management. Mr. Yu
is a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Fang was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the

Company on 13 October 2022.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, there was no change fo any of the information required
to be disclosed in relation to any director pursuant to paragraphs (a) fo
(e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the Company's last
published annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Board is pleased to present the audited consolidated results of the
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial stafements.

DIRECTORS

During the year and up tfo the date of this annual report, the Directors
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Jiangiu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Ms. Zhu Yufen

Mr. Gao Qiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Fang Guanghua
Mr. Yu Rengzhong

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this report.

EZEMAREARARAEEEZE 2024
FI2A3 BEFENKERGARE -
FEXRK
ARRAPHES—FHREZER AR B AR
MR RS REMFBTHNGRE P HRE
izt 42 -

=2

RAFERBEANFREH  EFMOT

BITES

AR R A (LRI THUAREL)
BEERE

REFLE

SE:$id

BYFHTES

FREL
AR kL

EERSREEERE

AEEEERSREREEREFBRANAE
BEEELSREERE |4 -



Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Llisting Rules. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

12, 23, 39 respectively fo the financial
statements and in this annual report, no director or any entity connected
with a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any fransaction, arrangement or contract of significance fo the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of ifs subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

Save as disclosed in notes

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election af the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service confract with the Company or any of ifs
subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without payment
of compensation other than statutory compensation.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, there was no change to any of the information required
fo be disclosed in relation to any director pursuant to paragraphs (a) fo
(e] and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the listing Rules since the Company'’s last
published annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were |i)
recorded in the register required fo be kept under section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
(the “SFO"), or [ii) otherwise nofified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
"Model Code") were as follows:

(1) Long Positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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corporation ©!
ZIESEE R 200,000,000 (S) 4.46%
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson  Beneficial owner 3,272,600 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 0.16%
BEEEE EnfAA
Ms. Zhu Yufen Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L)« 0.07%

REFRE EalEA A
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EFERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTSAND EERFETHAERAEALA TR
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING HEBRZENROREBRAH
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED ERERABE)

CORPORATIONS (Continved)

(1) Long Positions in the shares and underlying shares of the m » j‘x AABRBREBRBHER
Company (Confinved) (%)
Notes: Bt -

1. The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference fo the number of ordinary I RARAMEBEALLSEER2024F12A318

shares in issue as at 31 December 2024, that is 4,481,557,261 ordinary shares of the Z%%f;‘%ﬁﬁ%{E(EH$QEA,A8],557QOW B
Company. BR)FE -

2. FEHILRISIARIRRAA/BEBRARFRA S

2. The letters “L" and "S" denote a person’s/an entity's long position and short position in the P
iR RAR o

shares of the Company, respectively.

3. MEREERREZERAFEPERTRANES

3. Mr. Yu Jiangiu is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of Epoch Keen Limited > e e ok e -
and is deemed fo be inferested in the 532,794,400 Shares held by Epoch Keen Limited under HEA *ETE?ﬁﬂﬁ&gﬁﬁﬂﬂm&@iﬁﬁﬁﬁjgﬁmL\
the SFO. AIFE R 532,794,400 RIR1D R B 1% o

200,000,000 iR &0 3% & R
EZRERZERAERRA(E
AR o

BERDRARE
BER AR RAME

The short position of 200,000,000 shares represents the shares which are pledged by
Epoch Keen Limited in favour of with China Huarong Intemational Holdings Limited (“Huarong
International”).

BEBERAADHR2017F8A8H K2020F
AR 2R EEGARATIRMML(2017F K1
W) RERBBROTEL - Bt BRERRANE
B B X = AE 278,000,000 K5 - f£5
XA RBRHRADERE (AP RE) BERBERA

Epoch Keen Limited entered info a share charge (the “2017 Share Charge'| and a confirmatory
share charge with Huarong Intenational on 8 August 2017 and 22 April 2020, respectively,
pursuant to which Epoch Keen Limited charged 278,000,000 Shares in favour of Huarong
Infernational as security for the payment and discharge of obligations owing from the Company
to Huarong International pursuant o, amongst others, the convertible bonds subscription

agreement with Huarong Intenational. On 31 March 2022, 78,000,000 Shares out of the ﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ%?@ﬁ%%%%rﬂi@ﬂ@’%Eﬁ?%ﬁﬁ@
278,000,000 Shares charged by Epoch Keen Limited has been released pursuant fo the deed BRR2022%3A31 0 - BRARA LA

278,000,000 & iz 17 % + 78,000,000 i iz {3 B 18
R D BRI RIE T AR -

of partial release.

4. FERATETEABN2021 5128 14RBER

4. These equity derivafives were share opions granted under the Share Option Scheme of the S o e o : it es
Company on 14 December 2021. Please see the section headed “Share Option Scheme” for L mﬂﬂ%ﬁi@wﬁﬁj MR - BRE— SR
further defails. SEER 26 -

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR ESREEROIESFHNER
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no rights to acquire KR ARNFEREM B L FEEN  REE
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE » B&EE FEM
Company were granted fo any Director or their respective spouse or  BEHBEEZT B ZEBRAM 18HNTL
children under 18 years of age, nor were any such rights exercised BBE AR R BIRMD K EHEDH H N imEZR
by them, nor was the Company or any of s subsidiaries a party to B #E |8k i % ST FE T ML SER - NE
any arrangement fo enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or B A A &) sk BT B R a/EH ZHAS
children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body B EHFELK B ZEBH KR 18HENFL
corporate during the year ended 31 December 2024. REEAME A B RETZFER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND FERRRERATARMD RAEER
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING BHER KRR
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being a director #2024 12 A31 H » AR A R IR &
or chief executive of the Company| had 5% or more interests or % & HiE (& FI 5 336 15BE T FE M Z LM
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company as  FTae#k * M FAL(WHEARRBEEREE
recorded in the register required fo be kept by the Company pursuant to  fTERA B )R AR AR SABBE IR R #EHE

section 336 of the SFO: 5% A RS SOR R
Interest in shares of the Company: RAXBRHE R
Number of
Underlying shares
(unlisted and) Approximately
Capacity/Nature Number of  physically settled percentage
Note of inferest Shares held derivatives) of interest
HEROHE
(LR
i UBREEH BEHY
M 5 ERtE RAEE FTETR) BoRO
Kwek Steven Poh Song 3 Interest in a controlled 280,312,902 (L - 6.25%
corporation
Kwek Steven Poh Song REHEEES
Stated-owned Assets Supervision and 4 Interest in a controlled 717,994,556 (|) - 16.02%
Administration Office of Youxian Disfrict, corporation
Mianyang City*
("Mianyang SASA Office”|
BETRIEREEEEE REHEEES
ERMRAZ([REEEMR])
China CITIC Financial Asset Management 5 Inferest in a controlled 90,485,295 (l) - 2.02%
Co., limited [formerly known as corporation
"China Huarong Asset Management Co.,
Limited")
hRMEEREEERARAA(AIREA REHEEES

[hEEREEEERNARAR])
Person having a securily - 700,000,000 (l) 15.62%
interest in the shares

HENBEMER AL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND FERERAAQARG RAEBER
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SR AR E)
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continved)

leung Lisa

Huang Weiping

BEY

Mianyang Yuan Cheng Infegration
Development Group Co.,
Limited* ("Mianyang Yuan Cheng']

GEESRSEREEEREMLAR
(T#RFBE )

Interest in shares of the Company: (Continued RAEQXTRGEERS : (&)
Number of
Underlying shares
(unlisted and) Approximately
Capacity/Nature Number of  physically settled percentage
Note of interest Shares held derivatives) of interest (!
HERGE
(FEHK
P NEREEN BRHN
M 54 BRiE RO E fT£TR) BALW
6 Interest in a controlled 557,627,268 |l) - 12.44%
corporation
R EE#ER
7 Inferest in a controlled 310,317,000 (S) - 6.92%
corporation
R R ER
8 Beneficial inferests 500,000,000 (S) - 11.16%
B
9 Person having a security - 310,317,000 () 6.92%

Mianyang Science Technology City

Development Investment (Group) Co., Lid.

REMBAERRE (RB)ERDA

interest in the shares

B BEAER AL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY [Continved)

Interest in shares of the Company: (Continued

Notes:

(1

2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

()

The percentage of inferest in the Company is calculated by reference to the number of ordinary shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024, that is 4,481,557,261 ordinary shares of the Company.

The lefters “L" and “S" denote a person’s/an entity's long position and short position in the shares of the
Company respeciively.

The 280,312,902 Shares are directly held by Quaesius Capital Pre Limited, which is 80% equily interest
owned by Kwek Steven Poh Song. According fo the SFO, Kwek Steven Poh Song is deemed fo have
inferests in the 280,312,902 Shares held by Quaesius Capital Pre Limited.

The 717,994,566 shares of the Company comprise:

(i) The 694,470,566 Shares are directly held by Mianyang Fule Invesiment Co., Limited*, which
is wholly owned by Mianyang SASA Office; and

(ii) The 23,524,000 Shares are direcily held by Mianyang Zantai Industrial Co., Limited*, which
is wholly owned by Mianyang Fule Invesiment Co., Limited* which is in turn wholly owned by
Mianyang SASA Office.

According fo the SFO, Mianyang SASA Office is therefore deemed fo be interested in the shares held by
Mianyang Fule Invesiment Co., Limited* and Mianyang Zantai Industrial Co., Limited*.

The 90,485,295 Shares are directly held by Huarong International and the 700,000,000 Shares
represents the security interests in the shares held by Huarong Infernational. Huarong Real Estate Co.,
Limited and Huarong Zhiyuan Invesiment & Management Co., Limited hold 88.1% and 11.9% equity
interests in Huarong Intemational, respectively. Huarong Real Estate Co., limited and Huarong Zhiyuan
Investment & Management Co., limited are directly wholly owned by China CITIC Financial Asset
Management Co., Limited. According fo the SFO, China CITIC Financial Asset Management Co., Limited
is therefore deemed fo be interested in the shares held by Huarong International.

The 557,627,268 Shares are directly held by Prosper Rich Investments Limited, which is wholly owned
by Leung lisa. According fo the SFO, Leung Lisa is deemed fo have interests in the 280,312,902 Shares
held by Prosper Rich Investments Limited.

$¥&$F¢ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁ
R RRE (&

REQRBRGEERS (&)
PiFEE

(1) RADRNERED L N2 EN2024F12A31BZE%
mﬁﬂ@ﬁ(é(ﬁﬂm F4,481,557 261 EBR)FE o

(2] FEILRISIAARKREABEERARARNDPHITER

ye o

(3) 280,312,902 i 7 F1 Quaestus Capital Pte Limited &
#5A i1 Quaestus Capital Pre Limited B Kwek Steven Poh
Song B 80% M #E - RIEFEFH RBE KN Kwek Steven
Poh Song #% 1% % 1 Quaesius Capital Pre Limited#§ 5 #)
280,312,902 Bk # B 4 -

(4] AT 717,994,566 Rk B3E

[i) 694,470,566 BB BB EREREARAFER
HE MEBEXREERAABBEEENR2E
BE R

(ii) 23,524,000 BB BHERELBERAAIER
hﬁ BHEREXERANAEGELRESR
NAZEHEA  MEGELREERARRESE

AW EHE -

REEFRAGED  SHEERAMFEARNGHELR
ABRARLBHREREEERATMSRO T HE#ER

(5] 90,485,205 Ry mERBER EE#E - M 700,000,000
AR AERERATSRONENES - EREXERAFL
ARRERBERAERERAEERANAFAEREAR
88.1% K11 0% MM - ERMELXBERAALARERIER
AERAREAAAATATELREAEERRNARAT
EERERA  REEFLAEERS PETEEREEE
EEHQ PERAFEGREARERBRSAORN T HEEE

(6] B557,627 208 BT EREAERAAEER
B MzEREERR Tﬂa%%ﬂﬁ}ié}?ﬁﬁ BIEE S
LHEGRD REMBRARTEREARAAFAEN
280,312,902 Bk {3 E B 4 -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY [Continved)

Interest in shares of the Company: (Continued

Notes: [Confinved)

)

()

)

The 310,317,000 shares of the Company comprise:

(i) The 102,963,000 Shares are directly held by Gold Wide Enterprises Limited, which is wholly
owned by Huang Weiping;

(ii) The 167,952,400 Shares are directly held by First Harvest Global Limited, which is wholly
owned by Huang Weiping;

(i) The 39,401,600 Shares are directly held by Ocean Through Limited, which is wholly owned by
Huang Weiping;

According fo the SFO, Huang Weiping is therefore deemed fo be inferested in the shares held by Gold
Wide Enterprises Limited, First Harvest Global Limited and Ocean Through Limited.

The short position of 500,000,000 Shares represents the shares which are pledged by Mianyang Yuan
Cheng in favour of with Huarong Intemational. Mianyang Yuan Cheng enfered info a share charge with
Huarong International on 31 May 2022.

The short position of 310,317,000 Shares represents the shares which are pledged by:

(i) 39,401,600 Shares held by Ocean Through Limited;

(ii) 167,952,400 Shares held by First Harvest Global Limited; and

(iii) 102,963,000 Shares held by Gold Wide Enterprises Limited;

in favour of with Mianyang Science Technology City Development Invesiment (Group) Co., Lid. *. Ocean
Through Limited, First Harvest Global Limited and Gold Wide Enterprises Limited has each entered info a

share charge with Mianyang Science Technology City Development Invesiment (Group) Co., Lid.* on 15
August 2014.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the directors
had not been notified by any person [not being the directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had 5% or more inferests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required fo be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

EFERE

FERRRAQ2ARG R EER
DR KRB (#)

RAEATRGOESR - (&)

M ()
(7) AR7F310,317,000 R B

(i) 102,963,000k A& B X AERAREEH
B MeBEXERARREES2ERE

(ii) 167,952,400 R h R ELRIRER A R E 5
B MELEHRERARRBRES2ERA -

lii) 39,401,600 BB FEERATEESE M
FEARARMEETRARE

REEFRAGED &EFELEEAREBELEARA
A ERRBRAERARNFEERARBANRONTHEHR

k

Z

i

o

B

(8] 500,000,000 BMDEKE RBHEEAAEBERAZ S
ATEREORD - BHEEWRN 202255831 BRERER
AT RADHRAE

(9) K2 310,317,000 A EE R EAT RAERMAED
(i) FERRARHAER 39,401,600 M ¢
[ii) BURMBERATFEN 167,052,400 A7 : &
li)  EBEEERAFFEN 102,963 000 BEH ;

URGHEABRRERE(GE)ERATDATAA - FEE
RAF - BLRFBERLAREHEEERARATEER
2014F8 A 15 HERBMERMBRRE (EE)BRATF]
UBRHAE

B ESCPTIREE & SN - 10202412 A 31
B SMBEETAL(LERRAREFTSES
TBAB)MEEZENAR A HAEREE
Bt rh A RIEE 5 M E RPIE 336 &
ATFENELMARES% A LR

AR o
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any business or inferests in businesses which compete or
are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the

year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a proTata basis to existing Shareholders.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are sef ouf in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 80 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
nofe 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements of the share capital of the Company are set ouf in note 34
fo the financial statements.

EERBEXBNER

R2024% 128318 BEEERESS
BRBBEAEEEAREEEBHEK AL
BXEEXREBRF ZRBERNBRERS
REA AR -

iz 2.

EEE T ERREERE 20245 12H31H
IFFE 2 REIALE (2023 4 : &) o

B RRiE
AARBHERGI(ABERAA ) K
B & B B 0% )98 T 3 AR O B SE BB AR HE 10
AT BEADRARLAZEARAER
REEHBRS -

Rk

AREEEHE20245F 12831 HIEFERE
BHRRAFRECOAMNGABBERAMS
EER o

W% - BMEKRKRE
AEEYE - BFEREEOFBHNUE
WRMEE 16 -

7R
AR BRI R A B B BB TS R 5 34
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BANK LOANS

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in note 28 fo the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
fo their duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group. Details of the Directors” emoluments and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in notes 12 to the financial statements
respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up to develop the Group's emolument
policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group's operating
results, individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

PENSION SCHEMES

Pursuant fo the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC participate in defined contribution
refirement benefit schemes (the "PRC Schemes”) organized by the local
authorities whereby the subsidiaries are required to make confributions
fo the PRC Schemes based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries. Contributions fo the PRC Schemes vest immediately. Under the
PRC Schemes, refirement benefits of existing and retired employees are
payable by the relevant scheme administrators and the Group has no
further obligations beyond the annual contributions.

EFERE

RITERK
REMR 202449 12 A 31 AR ERITR
HoAth £ R B B 75 TR P RE 28

EEMEROEBRESFMAL

EZFM IR ETSL2ERENRE -
BEERKRBAURAEENEEMETE - &
EMeEREARSHMALNFE S IE
R EHRKRMEE 12

R
AEBERIFMNEZE G UG EEHEAEHE
EENSRERBZHMBERLRE %
FHHBRRNRABELEAEENLEE
BEERENEEENEAARRENAE
HEMIZER -

RIKEFHE

RIEFEMEBESBRAUNEER  AEER
o B B B B B2 B % 3 05 HE R AR A Y
RERFERKBEMFE(THEEFE]D &
- MBARARAEREEHENEA
DR B A &R R R - Bl EI R
REAERE - RETDEE - HE S
EERBARESR MENEER X MRKE
Ao MAREGRSFHERRI - BAAEH
fELE °
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PENSION SCHEMES (Continved)

The Group enrolled all employees in Hong Kong in the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme ("MPF’) (together with the PRC Schemes, the
"Retirement Benefit Schemes”), which is a defined contribution refirement
benefit scheme. Confributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged fo the consolidated income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF. The Group confributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the
MPF subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000, and
which contribution is matched by the employees. The assets of the MPF
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. Contributions from the employer are 100% vested in the
employees as soon as they are paid to the MPF and subject fo cerfain
conditions being met, and all benefits derived from the mandatory
confributions must be preserved until the employee either reaches the
normal retirement age of 65 or meets certain specified conditions
whichever is earlier.

The Group's contributions to the Refirement Benefit Schemes charged
fo the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December

2024 were RMB3,300,000 (2023: RMB2,668,000).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered info or
existed during the year.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 36 fo the
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company does not has any disfributable
reserves available for distribution calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands.

RIS E (2

AEECDABEBNEBEEZ2N T ARG
NEeFE(RES ] CERT RS - &
BRIERBEAETE]) - AR EHIENK
w|AEE - KRN REEEAFENEA
DEAFEE > ARREBREEZHRANEBT X
MREREERERNAG - AEER®RES
FIERMARREBIEXAZ 5% (T A
MEEAY A PR 30,0008 THAMR) - TiE&
MR R IR AER - BIRE M EERAS
BOWEESREE  UWESEARERA
BEE - RBINEFTKRARERE A2
RREME  BRimesE THRENERIN
BHERKSRONEAREEREFE
N AR RS SRR T 1 (AR
RERE)STIURE -

REEREE2024F12A31BIEFE
FARAERERNERRBEFEHRES
A K #3,300,0007T(20234% : AR ¥
2,668,0007T) °

EEEYN

RAFE  ARARLERANR B 2 F R
] X BE D EBET L HIRIFEATE R RIT
BAa# -

RERAHD IR
RRARIRAEEHE2024F 1231 B
AR BREIE S BB B R R
536 RiF A R B -

M2024%F 12431 B - RERSHS AR
ERMRESE - ARBRRBERAIH DK
[



Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

HUMAN RESOURCE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a fofal of 250 employees
(2023: 287). The Group's sfaff costs for the year ended 31 December
2024 were approximately RMB27.6 million (2023: RMB28.6
million). The Group offers its staff competitive remuneration packages.
In addition, discretionary bonuses and share options may also be
granted to eligible staff based on individual and Group's performance.
The Group is committed to nurturing a learning and sharing culture
in the organization. Heavy emphasis is placed on the training and
development of individual staff and team building, as the Group's
success is dependent on the confribution of all functional divisions
comprising skilled and motivated professionals. The Group is also
committed to social responsibility as demonstrated by employing
disabled staff and providing appropriate working conditions and
profection to them.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the
Group's maijor suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

—  The largest supplier: 8% of cost of sales
—  Five largest suppliers combined: 20% of cost of sales

Sales

—  The largest customer: 47% of revenue

—  Five largest customers combined: /7% of revenue

EFERE

ABER

MW2024%12A31H A& EBEEE S &
2504 (20234 : 2874 ) - B E2024%F
12A31HIEFE  AEEHE THRAL
/RARE27.6BBT(2023F : AR
286ABIT) AEBERAEBTRHEAR
FHHNMERE - b BERBITIRA
BEBAARKEBENRBERBBILLR
BAE - AEEBAONABARIZE M
DEXL - AEE R AT B RE BRI AL
HEfRESONEXABMARMN S BAEHEM
EHHER - B AEEERE THEA
FIIRER UAREBER - NEE TR
WAL EEE  JRREBRRKA
T YRRSEREEE N TERBNRE -

FEEFRHER

AEEIERERMEFPEBAENFE 2K
BRMEHERODLMT ¢

REEE
— RARHER : HEERA 8%
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (Continved)

The scrap copper that we process comes from a variety of sources,
including used household appliances, electrical equipment and
transportation equipment, used cables and wires and scrap materials
from certain industrial manufacturing processes. We purchase our scrap
copper mainly from domestic suppliers located near our production
facilities and elsewhere in other provinces of the PRC. We conduct
rigorous quality control tests at different stages of our production
processes, including rigorous quality tests of our raw materials. Before
entering info a business relationship with a new supplier, we conducted
due diligence on the supplier's background and reputation in the market
fo assess its suitability. In addition, we physically inspect each delivery
of raw materials to ensure its compliance with contfract specifications,
including purity and copper content.

Maintaining sftrong relationships with our custfomers is important to us
and we believe that our customer's willingness to work with us reflects,
among others, our record of producing high quality products that meet
industry standards and customer requirements.

None of the Directors or any of their associafes or any shareholders
(which to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company's issued share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
largest customers and five largest suppliers.

EXPIRED SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to provide incentive and/or reward fo eligible persons for
their confribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the inferests of,
our Company. The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved
by a written resolution of the then shareholders of the Company on 28
January 2014 and came into effect upon the Company's listing on 21
February 2014, and expired on 28 January 2024.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is fo provide incentive and/or
reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and continuing efforts
fo promote the interests of, our Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continved)
Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options ("Options”) to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the terms set
out in the Share Option Scheme to any director or employee of the
Group and any other person (including a consultant or advisor) who in
the sole discrefion of the Board has contributed or will confribute to the
Group ["Eligible Persons”).

Further details of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 28
January 2014. Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Company
has no other share option scheme currently in force. As at 31
December 2024, 4,481,557,261 Shares were in issue and a total
of 139,800,000 share options to subscribe for up to 139,800,000
Shares, representing 3.11% of the issued Shares as at 31 December
2024 have been granted and remained outstanding since the adoption
of the Share Option Scheme.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with
Rule17.03 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all Options fo be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company, shall not exceed 10% of the fotal number of Shares in issue
as at the date of the approval of the Share Option Scheme or of the
approval of the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit").

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders at general meeting provided that (1) the
scheme mandate limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholders” approval
of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit; (2) Options previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, or
lapsed in accordance with the relevant scheme rules or exercised share
options) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed; and (3] the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options granted and yet
fo be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemels) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the fotal number of Shares in issue from time fo time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continved)
Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continuved)

The Company refreshed the Scheme Mandate Limit at the annual
general meeting held on @ June 2015. Under the Scheme Mandate
Limit as refreshed on @ June 2015, the Company may issue up to 10%
of the fofal number of Shares in issue as af the date of the approval of
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, which is 210,514,560
Shares.

The Company had refreshed the Scheme Mandate Limit at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 22 February
2022, since over 99.61% of the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed
on @ June 2015 has been utilized. Under the current Scheme Mandate
Limit as refreshed on 22 February 2022, the Company may issue up fo
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval
of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, which is 345,602,006
Shares. The number of Shares that may be issued under the Share
Option Scheme will be an aggregate of 485,402,006 Shares
(comprising 345,602,006 Shares allotted and issued upon exercise of
the Options fo be granted under the refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit
and 139,800,000 Shares to be allotted and issued upon full exercise
of the outstanding Options), representing approximately 10.83% of the
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the tofal
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and fo be granted fo that person in any 12-month period up to
the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of our Company's issued share
capital from time o time.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be
entitled at any time within 10 years after the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme to offer the grant of an Option to any Eligible
Person as the Board may in its absolute discretion select to subscribe at
the subscription price for such number of shares as the Board may (subject
fo the terms of the Share Option Scheme| determine (provided the same
shall be a board lot for dealing in the Shares on the Stock Exchange or
an infegral multiple thereof).

There is no minimum period for which an Option granfed must be held
before it can be exercised unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continved)
Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continuved)

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board may in ifs
absolute discrefion when offering the grant of an Option specify such
conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in addition to
those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit
when making an offer to an Eligible Person (including, without limitation,
as to any performance criteria which must be safisfied by the Eligible
Person and/or the Company and/or its subsidiaries, and any minimum
period for which an Option must be held, before an Option may be
exercised, if any), provided that such conditions shall not be inconsistent
with any ofher terms or conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be such
price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of
grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the lefter containing
the offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription price shall be at
least the highest of:

(a) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the offer date, which must be a business
day;

(b) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c]  the nominal value of a share.

An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part within the option
period which is the period to be determined and notified by the Board
fo the grantee during which period the Oplion may be exercised and
in any event shall not exceed ten years commencing from the date on
which the offer in relation to such Option is accepted.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme |i.e.
28 January 2014), after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain
in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any subsisting Options granted prior to the expiry of the
10-year period or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME /Confinved) R AESTEl ()
Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continuved) BRETE2ESHIF(E)
Movements of the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 & ZE 2024 12 A 31 HILFE - HBR#EL
December 2024 are as follows: El2EHMT -
Changes during the year
FREE
Number of Number of Price of
Options held Options held Exercise ~Share at the
at 1 January at 31 December priceof  grant dofe
Date of grant 2024 Granfed  Exercised  Cancelled 2024 Exercise period of Options Options  of Options
20245 R2024%F
1A1H 12A318 RERE
BEZ BEZ BRE HiHBH
BREHE T B 3 BRESE BRETES EE  ROER
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun 14 December 2021 4,000,000 0 0 0 0 4,000,000 14 December 2021 to 13 December 2031 0.465 0.168
BEREE 2021128148 2021%12814RZ2031512 8138
Ms. Zhu Yufen 14 December 2021 3,000,000 0 0 0 0 3,000,000 14 December 2021 to 13 December 2031 0.465 0.168
REFRL 2021%12814A 2021%12R8140%20315128 138
Eligible Persons other than 7 May 2015 14,000,000 0 0 0 0 14,000,000 7 May 2015 o6 May 2025 1.680 1.680
Direcfors Employees
E2EE 2O 20155878 201565R7HE202555R68
RERAT
Consuliants 7 May 2015 13,000,000 0 0 0 0 13,000,000 7 May 201506 May 2025 1.680 1.680
B 20155878 2015F5R78%2025F 5868
Others — suppliers 12 December 2017 744,224 0 0 0 (744,224) 744,224 12 December 2017 fo 30 March 2024 3.700 3.700
Hif — R 2017%12R128 2017F12R128% 2024838308
Others = customers 12 December 2017 64,110 0 0 0 (64,110 64,110 12 December 2017 to 30 March 2024 3.700 3.700
iy - 5P 2017%12R128 2017%12R8120%202453 8308
Employees 14 December 2021 107,075,000 0 0 0 {1,275000) 105,800,000 14 December 2021 to 13 December 2031 0.465 0.168
B8 2021%12814A 2021%12R8140%2031512 138
Tofol 141,883,334 0 0 0 {2,083,334) 139,800,000
&t

The fair value of the relevant Options granted were estimated as at the B R E 2z B@AERE 2 A FERK L B H
dates of grant using a binomial model, taking info account the terms A —EAERGE - EHEZREFELEE
and conditions upon which the relevant Options were granted. BB AR h 2 GRS AR 1
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continved)
Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continuved)

The following table sets out the inputs to the model used:

EFERE

BTl
BRENBCESHEE)
TRESRERER 2 AR

23 July 12 December
2015 2017
Options Options 14 December 2021
Grant date granted to 31 May 2016 Options granted to granted to Options granted to
2015% 2017 %
7R238 124128 20215128 14R
BB BRERT 2016%5A831 BBRERT BRERT BRERT
Certain Certain Certain
Other Other eligible Other eligible eligible Other
Directors  employees  Directors  employees participants  Directors  employees participants  participants  Directors  employees
HETRER ATRER ETRER
EE HftlEs B HtEs SRE Ex HftEs SRE S5RE Ex At
Fair value af R EREZ

measurement date  ATE(ETT)

[HKS) 0.44 0.39 0.71 0.58 0.22 122 1.17 1.45 1.45 0.1003  0.08111
Share price (HK§) ~ BEB(HT) 1.07 1.07 1.68 1.68 1.67 3.05 3.05 3.05 370 0.168 0.168
Bxercise price (HK$) 176 (#TT) 1.13 1.13 1.68 1.68 2.16 3.66 3.66 3.66 3.70 0.465 0.465
Expected volatilty — THERIR B8 45.54% 45.54% 46.20% 46.20% 49.43% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 41.61% 84.7% 84.7%
Historical volotilty &£ % & 45.54% 45.54% 46.20% 46.20% 49.43% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 41.61% 84.7% 84.7%
Expected life REER 10 years 10 years 10 years 10years 1.5 years 10 years 10 years 10vyears 6.3 years 10 years 10 years

105 105 105 105 1.5% 105 105 105 6.3%F 105 104
Expected dividends ~ TEHIIR & 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 1.47% 1.47% 1.47% 0.92% 0% 0%
Riskdree inferest rate LR | %

|based on (AEEINEES

Hong Kong RENEARE)

Exchange

Fund Notes| 2.059% 2.059% 1.745% 1.745% 0.239% 1.286% 1.286% 1.286% 1.647% 1.271% 1.271%
Exercise mulliple TiEEe 2.8 2.2 2.8 2.2 - 2.8 2.2 - - 2.8 22
Postvesting exit rate BB % TAE 0% 5.44% 0% 16.12% - 9.22% 9.22% - - 0% 8.05%

No other feature of the relevant Options was incorporated info the B A MBI 2 B b B 9 A 2 FER
measurement of fair value. g e

The value of the relevant Options is subject to the limitations of the HBEBREZEBEZRN ZHAENKHR
binomial model and a number of assumptions which are subjective and ~ #I R ZHEX - LAY BEFEE XA

difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Further details relating to the Share Option Scheme and Options
granted thereunder are set out in note 4 and note 35 fo the financial
statements and the announcements of the Company dated 2 July 2014,
7 May 2015, 23 July 2015, 31 May 2016, 12 December 2017
and 14 December 2021. Apart from the above, the Company had
not granted any Options under the Share Option Scheme to any other
persons as required fo be disclosed under the Rule 17.07 of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Option Scheme

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the section above

headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME".

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significont events occurring after the reporting period are sef
out in note 43 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries, of the listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Yu Jiangiv and Epoch Keen, the then controlling shareholders of
the Company, entered info a deed of non-competition {“Deed of Non-
Competition”) dated 6 February 2014, details of which have been
set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition Undertaking” in
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company dated 11 February 2014.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Directors confirmed that based
on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Direcfors, the Company had maintained sufficient
amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules and agreed by
the Stock Exchange.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
who will retire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution will
be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA
("ZHONGHUI ANDA") as the Company's auditor for the year ending
31 December 2025.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If any Shareholder is unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation fo the Shares, it is advised fo consult an expert.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director is entfitled to
be indemnified and secured harmless out of assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act,
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or frusfs (except such is incurred
or susfained through his own fraud or dishonesty). The Company has
not mainfained Directors” and officers” liabilities insurance throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024. The Company will consider taking up
the insurance arrangement when a quote within budget of the Company
is available.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
the highest environmental and social standards fo ensure sustainable
development of its business. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in relation fo ifs business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group understands that a better future depends
on everyone's parficipation and contribution. It has encouraged all
employees fo participate in environmental and social activities which
benefit the community as a whole.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY (Continved)

The Group is operating in the environmental protection industry by
virtue of recycling scrap metal materials in the society. Contributing
fo resolving a significant part of pollution problem in the vicinity of
our plants, the Group is highly praised and encouraged by the local
governments. The Group also advocated conservation of resources
in the office and encouraged employees to develop good habits,
conserve resources and energy to build a green and comfortable office
environment.

For a more comprehensive review, please refer to the 2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company that will
be dispatched to the Shareholders and available on the website of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance

Code (the "“CG Code") as sef forth in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
save as disclosed below.

Code Provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
Chief Executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.
Currently, Mr. Yu Jiangiu is both the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. As Mr. Yu is the founder of the Group and
has extensive experience in operations and management, the Board
believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Yu
taking up both roles for continuous effective management and business
development of the Group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Directors would like to take this opportunity to express our
sincere thanks to all the Shareholders and business associates for
their continuous support and the entire staff for their dedication and
contribution to the Group during the year.
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RESUMPTION OF TRADING CONDITIONS

On 19 May 2023, the Company received a letter issued by the Stock
Exchange, which sefs out the guidance in relation to the resumption
of trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange (the
"Resumption Guidance”). The Stock Exchange requires the Company
to meet all Resumption Guidance, remedy the issues causing the
Company's trading suspension and fully comply with the Listing Rules
fo the Stock Exchange's satisfaction before trading in the Company's
securities is allowed fo resume. Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules,
the Stock Exchange may cancel the listing of any securities that have
been suspended from trading for a continuous period of 18 months. In
the case of the Company, the 18-month period expires on 2 October
2024. If the Company fails to remedy the substantive issues causing the
Company's frading suspension, fulfill the Resumption Guidance and fully
comply with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange's satisfaction and
resume frading in ifs shares by 2 October 2024, the Listing Division of
the Stock Exchange will recommend the listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange to proceed with the cancellation of the Company's listing.

Pursuant fo the Resumption Guidance, the Company shall:

()  publish all outstanding financial results required under the Listing
Rules and address any audit modifications;

(b)  demonstrate the Company's compliance with Rule 13.24 of the
Listing Rules; and

(c) inform the market of all material information for the Company’s
shareholders and invesfors fo appraise the Company's position.

For further details of the conditions of resumption of trading, please refer
fo the announcement of the Company dated 24 May 2023.
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RESUMPTION OF TRADING

The trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange has
been resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 22 November 2024. This
resumption of trading follows the Company’s successful fulfillment of
the resumption guidance provided by the Stock Exchange on 19 May
2023.

In accordance with the resumption guidance, the Company has
undertaken the following actions:

()  Published all outstanding financial results, including the annual
results for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, and
addressed the audit modifications identified by the auditors;

(b)  Demonstrated compliance with Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules
by demonstrating that the Group has a viable and sustainable
business with sufficient level of operations and assets of sufficient
value fo support ifs operations; and

(c) Informed the market of all material information through regular
announcements and circulars, ensuring transparency and
providing shareholders and invesfors with sufficient information to
appraise the Company's position.

After a thorough review, the Stock Exchange was satisfied that the
Company had fulfilled all the resumption guidance requirements and
complied with the Listing Rules. Consequently, frading in the Company’s
shares was allowed to resume on 22 November 2024.

For further details on the fulfillment of the resumption guidance and
resumption of trading, please refer fo the announcement of the Company

dated 21 November 2024.

By Order of the Board

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited
YU Jianqiu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group recognizes the vital importance of good corporate
governance to the Group's success and sustainability. We are
committed to achieving a high standard of corporate governance
as an essential component of quality and have infroduced corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of our
business.

The Company has applied the principles of and is in compliance with
all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code [the “CG
Code") except for deviations disclosed and explained below.

Key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company as
well as defails relating fo the deviations are summarized below.

MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities fransactions on terms not less exacting than the required
standards sef out in the Model Code in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules. After specific enquiry made by the Company, all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding the Direcfors’
securities transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overall management and control of the
Company. The Board’s main roles are to provide leadership and
fo approve sfrategic policies and plans with a view fo enhancing
shareholder value. All Directors carry out their duties in good faith
and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking
decisions objectively, and acting in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior
management, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations are followed.
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THE BOARD (Continved)
Responsibilities (Continved)

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material fransactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

Directors have full and timely access to consult with the Company's
senior management independently. Any Director and Board Committee
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making reasonable
request fo the Board.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group fo the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three Board committees, namely the audit
and corporate governance committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”] [together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibiliies as sef out in their respective ferms of reference.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year under review and as at the date of this report, the
members of the board of Directors are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Jiangiu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Gao Qiang

Ms. Zhu Yufen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Fang Guanghua
Mr. Yu Rengzhong
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BOARD COMPOSITION (Continved)

There are three Board committees. The composition of the Board
committees are set out below.

Board Committee Audit and
Director Corporate
Governance Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Mr. Li Wei M M C
M:r. Fang Guanghua M C M
Mr. Yu Rengzhong C M M
Notes:
C Chairman of the relevant Board committees
M Member of the relevant Board committees

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has confirmed his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors have brought a wide range of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Moreover, through active participation in
Boord meefings, faking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all independent
non-executive directors make various contributions to the effective
direction of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has a board diversity policy whereby it recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company's competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, regional and
industry experience, background, gender, age and other qualities of
the members of the Board. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible
should be balanced appropriately. All appointments of the members
of the Board are made on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience the Board as a whole requires fo be effective.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continved)

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy,
as appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Under Code Provision C.1.4, Directors should participate in
appropriate confinuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution fo the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Directors are encouraged fo participate in continuous professional
development so as to refresh their knowledge and skills for discharging
their duties and responsibilities. For the year ended 31 December
2024, relevant reading materials including regulatory update and
seminar handouts, etc. have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

Each newly appointed Director would attend training and receive an
induction package covering the statutory and regulatory obligation of
a director of a listed company. Directors may participate in confinuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. All Directors
are provided with materials on latest changes in applicable legal and
regulatory requirements and corporafe governance practices fo assist
them fo discharge their dufies.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors had
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending trainings organized by professional firm
and/or reading materials relevant to the Company's businesses or to
the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

EXTEMEZTLBE#E)

REZEERRIEFTEXNEZTILR
R WHEBEERELETASESARAH
CERBMUESSHFLNESRLZS -

REBRGERERERE

*E?F?H'JM\X%‘C 4 EFXESHE

ii““ﬁi?“ﬁuﬁiﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁrﬂ%ﬂ
E‘E‘k&?ﬁ CUHRESEREHRLEER
MR ERL -

HBEF2EFEZRER  UEHES
BITHEBREMEENME LR BE
2024F 12 A3V HILSE - HAMEEHR
(@%E%ﬁﬁ’]E””éﬂ&ﬁﬂﬁ“é“ﬂ—d
REFETEFLH MR

BEHEEZTH2MEIRER ABE
gl ARBR LT RARESFHEAIELESE
MELONEE - REGCXRE RTINS
BFEXECIAG EFTU2EGEHERHE
& LAEX@&E%)TT&—IE’]%DE%&BEHEO
BESHRREHEBREREIEMNEERTE
ARERERERNSHELNER - A
BB EEITRE -

HE2024F12A31HILFE 28ESF
EEBHFEAEERBERNZIR X
BEERARNREGREETRE NS THE
MERSETASBEENRESERRR
) o



Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 sfipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Yu Jiangiu is Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. As Mr. Yu is the founder of the Group and has
exfensive experience in corporate operations and management, the
Board believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Yu
taking up both roles for continuous effective management and business
development of the Group.

The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person will not
impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The appointment of independent non-executive directors, subject fo re-
nomination and re-election by the Company in general meeting, shall
be for a term of two years unless previously terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions specified in their appointment.

The director’s fee specified in the lefter of appointment of each of
independent non-executive Directors are HK$ 180,000 per annum.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and/or industry expertise and management experience
and have provided their professional advice to the Board.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has any service contract which
is not deferminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than sfatutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, refirement,
re-election and removal of directors are set out in the Articles of
Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board structure, size and composition and making recommendations
fo the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Direcfors and
succession planning for Directors.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(Continved)

All Direcfors, including independent non-executive Direcfors appoinfed
for a specific term, are subject to refirement by rofation. In accordance
with the Arficles of Association, at each annual general meetfing of the
Company ("AGM"), at least one third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is nof three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to, but not less than, onethird) shall refire from office by rotation,
provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement af an AGM at
least once every three years.

Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or
as an addition fo the existing Board shall be subject to re-election at the
next AGM after his or her appointment.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold board meetings regularly at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than
fourteen days will be given for all regular board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to atend and include matters in the
agenda for regular board meetings.

For other Board and Board committlee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers
are dispatched fo the Directors or Board commitiee members at least
three days before the meetfings to ensure that they have sufficient time
fo review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or Board commitiee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known fo the chairman prior fo the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board commitiee meetings are/will
be recorded in sufficient defail to include the matters considered by the
Board and the Board committee and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and Board committee meeting will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the dafe on which the meeting

is held.
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BOARD MEETINGS /Continved)

According fo the Articles of Association, a Director shall not vote nor
be counted in the quorum on any resolution of the Board approving
any confract or arrangement in which he or his associates is materially
interested.

BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The number of Board meetings, Board committee meetings held in
2024 are set out in the table below.

Name of Director

Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Yu Jiangiu M EE
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson BEELE
Mr. Gao Qiang BREE
Ms. Zhu Yufen REFRL

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. li Wei FREL

Mr. Fang Guanghua HRERE

Mr. Yu Rengzhong amBELE
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Number of meeting attended/Eligible fo attend

HE/RERHEESSI Y
Audit and

Corporate

Governance Remuneration  Nomination
Committee Committee Committee

Bkt

EREER® FMZEE REZE"

4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER NEH NEH
4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER TEH NER
3/4 N/A N/A N/A
NEH TER NEH
3/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER NEH NEH
3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company's affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the
Company's website “htip://www.cmru.com.cn” and are available to
Shareholders upon request. All Board committees report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr.
Fang Guanghua, Mr. Yu Rengzhong and Mr. Li Wei (Chairperson)
who are all independent non-executive Directors. The functions of the
Nomination Committee primarily are to:

(] review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board fo
complement the Company’s corporate sirategy;

(i)  identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(iii)  assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv)] make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for directors, in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive; and

(v to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors, the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted to
select and recommend candidates for directorship.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continved)

For considering the appointment of Directors, the Nomination Committee
assesses the candidate on a variety of criteria such as reputation of
integrity, qualification, knowledge and experience in the industry, ability
fo commit time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities
and diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. Having taken into accounts of
the above factors and obtained all the information as the Nomination
Committee considers necessary, the recommendations of the
Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision, and if
the candidate will stand for election at a general meeting, a circular will
be sent to the Shareholders.

On 16 April 2014 the Nomination Committee adopted a board
diversity policy. The board diversity policy applies to the Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
mainfaining the Company’'s competitive advantage. The Nomination
Committee will review annually the structure, size and composition of
the Board and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
fo the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, and
will make recommendation to the Board on the measurable objectives
for achieving board diversity. The Company aims to maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are
relevant to the Company business growth.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2024 to, inter alia, (i) review the size and composition of the
Board; (i) assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

EREIWE

REZER(#)

ERETEER EEZEERBEZER
HEFBIEREA WHEERE BF A&
RITHZR  RETBREIEEMANHEZ
REINRBHDARRABRTEZ T B
BEARNER - F8 - XMERBEER -
EE’% BEXELR R AERRGF
ot R FHRAEITHMBIRZZETR
%Z\yﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ REZEENEZH
BRERXTEEFFUAHRE Thﬂ%ﬁ/\BA
BREAGEZET  BRRRTER

M2014F4A16H REZEGRMNE

$AﬁéyﬁMﬁ cEEEGWE L IU(L
BEEAREES  THREFSCEBDAR

ZTEBRBARANBFEL ZB@HRT
Z - RAEAZBEHEFELREFTINR
T% RERERAREEERRMRES A
ARMEERRBEREABESTEZENE
UK ERESEKREZTEAES
SROEHEAMAERRNEZE - ARAH
NEFERARNREHEREBELEBINE
ERZTLTVEEE -

MREZE2024F12A31 BILFE  =#REZE

Bef7T—Rg&s WEBERE) ()
EHNEESNRB AR : (i) FFEIBIL3F

WITESE 2B -

59



60

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIWE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr.
Li Wei, Mr. Fang Guanghua (Chairperson) and Mr. Yu Rengzhong who
are all independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

(]  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management's
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and fransparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i)  to review and approve the management's remuneration proposals
with reference fo the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

[iii) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management,

liv] to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

[v] fo consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

(vi) to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or fermination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

[vii) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating fo
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continved)

(viii) to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

(ix) to defermine the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors,
assess performonce of executive Directors and approve the ferms
of executive Directors’ service contracts.

Details of the remuneration of each Director and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set outf in note
12 to the financial statements contained in this annual report.

One meeting of the Remuneration Commitiee were held during the
year fo review the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
managements of the Company.

AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu
Rengzhong (Chairperson), Mr. Fang Guanghua and Mr. Li Wei who
are all independent non-executive Directors.

In relation to reviewing the Company's financial information, the Audit
Committee’s duties mainly are fo:

(i)  review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of the
Group or external auditors before submission fo the Board;

[i)  review and monitor the external auditors” independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process;

(i) make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors; and

(iv] review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporfing system, internal confrol system and risk management
system.
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AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
(Continved)

In relation to its corporate governance functions, the Audit Committee’s
responsibilities are fo

()  develop, review and update the Company's corporate
governance policies and pracfices and to make recommendations
to the Board,

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management,

(i) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulafory requirements,

(iv)] to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable fo employees and Directors, and

[v] to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Govemnance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year. The
work performed by the Audit Committee during the year included the
review of the annual audit plan, the nature and scope of the audit
and respective relevant issues, reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and other financial reporting matters;
considered the re-appointment of external auditors and recommended
fo the Board for approval of the audit fee proposal for the year; and
reviewed and considered of significant accounting and audit issues
arisen from the annual audit.
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AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continved)
Review of 2024 annual results

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024, including the accounting policy adopted by the Group and has
discussed the internal controls and financial reporting matters of the
Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

ZHONGHUI was appointed as our external auditor. It is primarily
responsible for providing audit services in connection with the annual
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to ZHONGHUI is set
out below:

AR 7%

Services
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which give a frue
and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
Group's results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company's financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of
the Board with relevant information on timely basis.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL

REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continved)

Pursuant to code provision C.1.3 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the Board would like to provide more details regarding the Company's
ability to confinue as a going concern.

As described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB652,462,000 and
RMB805,780,000 respectively for two consecutive years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately RMB4,711,009,000 and net
liabilities of approximately RMB4,161,503,000. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB3,613,000, while debts repayable within one year or on
demand (including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
nofe payables| were approximately RMB1,666,374,000. In addition,
as at 31 December 2024, the Group had defaulted the repayment
of inferest-bearing bank and other borrowings and note payables
of approximately RMB1,630,001,000 and RMB24,373,000
respectively. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the Group was
also involved in various litigations resulting in the freezing of several
bank accounts and the seizure of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and inventories. All these conditions indicated the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt as
fo the Group's ability fo continue as a going concern. Please refer to
the section headed "MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN" in the independent auditor’s report for further details.

EERVBBRERNYBRERE

(%)

RELZEATAECT 3ETAIEX -
EFERELIREEBAR AR EEEED
0 % FEAS -

IR M MRM T2 - AEE
REE2024F K 2023 12HA31HIEMm
BEEFEDHNBFSEBEEFROMARYE
652,462,000t K& A R # 805,780,000
oo PR2024F12R318  REEHF
RBBEEORARE4,711,009,000 7T -
mFEFRBHNR/ARE4,161,503,0007T °
MR2024F 128310 AEENRE &
ReFEHEABOR/RARKES3,613,0007T -
MAR —FAFRBR(BREABRITRE
ffERRENRR)IEEZEBORARE
1,666,374,0007C ° b5 » R 20244 12
A31H  REBEREEEDHHSARE
1,630,001,000 Tt w5t B R 1T Jo E b & 53K
MAIANRE 24,373,000 T8 FE T Z IR -

gEoh - R2024F 12 A31 H - AEETRE
HRZHFD  EHZERTEPRRES

AEBE - BEIEE EAREERT
EWEH - FIBEELBERBRFEERT
MEN  ATREARERELENENE
EERGRHE - BEE—FHE F2HB
VAZBERE R BEELERENEAS
FEERIE |6 -



Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL

REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continved)

The Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion and the Other Matters

The Directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of finance to
continues as a going concern. The Company has been undertaking
various plans and measures fo improve the Group's liquidity and
financial position. Further details of such actions are set out in note 2
fo the consolidated financial statements. The Direcfors are therefore of
the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
confinue as a going concem, adjustments would have to be made to
the consolidated financial statements to adjust fo value of the Group's
assets fo their recoverable amounts, fo provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assefs and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively.

Also, regarding to the Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables and the
Outstanding Advance Payments [the “Outstanding Receivables”) as
described under the section headed “Other Matters” in the independent
auditor’s report, the Board is considering and taking all possible
measures including but not limited to (i) Actively communicating with
customers/suppliers on understanding their situation and negotiating
with and issuing demand letters to customers/suppliers in relations to
the repayment/setflement of the Outstanding Receivables; [ii] taking
legal action on the repayment of the Outstanding Receivables on cerfain
customers/suppliers, with consideration of comparing the potential
legal costs expected to be incurred and potential returns from legal
actions results before taking formal legal action; and {iii) communicating
with potential buyers of the Outstanding Receivables on the potential
considerations and contract terms for recovery of the Outstanding
Receivables for the interests of the Company as well as addressing of
the audit qualification.

The Board is of the view that if the plans and measures on (i) improving
the Group's liquidity and financial position as described in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements and recovering the Outstanding
Receivables can be successfully implemented, audit modification
can be removed in future financial audit. The Company’s auditors,
ZHONGHUI, concurs with the Board's view as disclosed in this annual
report.

EREIWE

EERVBBRERNYBRERE

(#&)

EEEUARRREREMEENY
5 BRI

EECFEEREEAEENKRERBE S
RRBAREATBAMB IR - AFEL
2o KRB BRI Z BT 8 RIE N ER
SENRBESRMEINR - BETHHN
E—THBEANGAMERERME2 -
bt EERRERERFELLEERRES
BMBHRE - HAKERERFELE?
BEEES S$EHEREMBRRUA
BAEENEEEZEHEATR@EE 57
RELANEME-—FPREFELEEG &S
FRBDEERBEIHEHDBERRDE
ERAIE -

SN - BN B AR BB RS P H M E IR
—Ei T B B B WA R R R
IR DA R OR (B3R B RO (1R I =) 8 ek
B EESTLAEZEALRR YA s
i BEERRY: (|EEEEP fHE
BAE - TRERR - W REE R
ENEEREEEREP EREETRA
RBEHERE: (IR RELEERF HER
MR (EE B PSR RBUARTTE - WHEK
MIESVARTEAMZ BRBMELNETEX
REMERTHERNBEERISETL
R i) R EE EUGRRM B E B A
B AR A R OR (B R UG IR B B
ZEERNMERER - AREARR R HF
DI FREFTREARBR ©

EZERR WELREMBRAME2M
AERB(|HEAKRERDE S MUMBAR
BT B K 1 5t DA Ko s B R (E5E PR MR SRR BE
MK E e - RIR R #5222 Al 2 B
BRZER] - ARAREBPERBRAF
BHIRENESSEH -

65



66

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIWE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL

REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continved)

Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion and the
Other Matters

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the views and
concerns of the independent auditor with respect to the Disclaimer of
Opinion and the Other Matters issued in relation to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements. The Audit Committee noted that the Board has undertaken
or is in the progress of implementing measures to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position and recovering the Outstanding
Receivables. The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with
the Board's position and has discussed with the independent auditor
regarding the financial position of the Group, measures taken by
the Group, and considered the independent auditor’s rationale and
understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board to
mainfain an adequate infernal control system to safeguard shareholder
investments and Company assets and review the effectiveness of such
system on an annual basis.

The Board has reviewed of the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Company and considers the internal control system to be
effective and adequate.

The Board has established an internal audit function, which reports
directly to the Audit Committee to defermine whether the infernal control
procedures are properly carried out throughout the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an
ongoing basis. Such risk management and infemnal control systems are
designed for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure
fo achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and infernal control to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee [on behalf of the Board) oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
confrol systems. During the year, the Board had conducted review of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company before the
date of this report through effort of the Audit Committee.

During 2024, the Group has engaged an external consultant to
provide assistance in the development of a structured approach to risk
management and perform infernal control review. Based on the review
of the external consultant, no material internal control defects had been

identified.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group's risk governance sfructure and the main responsibilities of
each level of the structure are summarised below:
Board

e Detfermines the business strategies and objectives of the Group,
and evaluates and defermines the nature and exfent of risks it is
willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives;

*  Ensures that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and infernal control systems; and

e Oversees management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continved)

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Assists the Board fo perform ifs responsibilities of risk management
and internal control sysfems;

reviews the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices (including risk management policy) and to make
recommendations to the Board:;

Ensures the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions; and

Considers key matters on risk management and internal control,
and reports and makes recommendations fo the Board.

Management

Designs, implements and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and infernal control systems;

Identifies, evaluates and manages the risks that may potentially
impact the major processes of the operations;

Monitors risks and takes measures to mitigate risks in day-fo-day
operations;

Gives prompt responses to, and follow up on risk management
and infernal control matters; and

Provides confirmation to the Board and Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Internal control consultant

Reports to the Audit Committee the findings of the internal
control review and makes recommendations to the Board and
management to improve the material systems deficiencies or
control weaknesses identified.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the SFO, the Group has taken
various procedures and measures, including arousing the awareness to
preserve confidentiality of inside information within the Group, sending
blackout period and securities dealing restrictions notification to the
relevant Directors and employees regularly, disseminating information to
specified persons on a need+oknow basis and regarding closely to the
"Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission in June 2012.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, saved as announced and
disclosed, the Group was unaware of any non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the

Group.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognizes the importance of fransparency and timely disclosure
of corporate information, which enables Shareholders and invesfors to
make the best investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at "http://www.cmru.com.cn”, where extensive information and
updates on the Group's business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS /Continved)

Shareholders and investors may send writien enquiries or requests to the
Company as follows:

Address: Unit 809-810, 8/F., Hong Kong Plaza,

188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong

(For the attention of Corporate Communications Department]
Fax: +852 2587 /199

Email: ir@cmru.com.cn

Enquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

The Board welcomes views of Shareholders and encourages them to
attend general meetings to raise any concerns they might have with the
Board or the management directly. Board members and appropriate
senior staff of the Group are available at the meetings to answer any
questions raised by shareholders.

The Company continues fo enhance communication and relationship
with its investors.

Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them informed of the Group's
developments.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The current version of the Articles is available on the website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of the Company at
www.cmru.com.cn. There is no change in the Company's constitutional
documents during the period under review.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group adopted a dividend policy on 18 January 2019. A summary
of the policy is disclosed as below.

The Company considers stable and sustainable refumns to Shareholders
fo be ifs goal and endeavours to maintain o balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
stable and sustainable dividend policy.

In accordance with the Arficles of Association and subject fo the relevant
laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company in general meeting may
from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be paid to the
Shareholders but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the Company,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits which
the Direcfors determine is no longer needed. With the sanction of an
ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared and paid out of
share premium account or any other fund or account which can be
authorised for this purpose in accordance with the relevant laws of the
Cayman Islands.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board may take into account, amongst other
things, the actual and expected financial performance, the earnings,
distributable reserves, debts to equity ratio, refurn on equity, working
capital requirement, future expansion plans, and any other factors that
the Board deems appropriafe.

The Board shall review this policy from time to time, as appropriate, o
ensure the effectiveness of this policy and shall discuss any revisions that
may be required.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan. Mr.
Cheung complied with the Listing Rules, and he had attained no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional fraining during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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EREIWE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

To safeguard Shareholders' inferests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each subsfantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and
vofing.

Under article 58 of the Atticles of Association, the Shareholders may
convene an extraordinary general meefing or put forward proposals
at Shareholders’ meetings pursuant to the Articles of Association.
Any one or more Shareholder(s| holding af the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, require
an exfraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
fransaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisifion.

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting in accordance with the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
and the Atticles of Association.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the Company and provide their full name, contact
defails and identification in order to give effect therefo. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

An upfodate version of the Articles of Association is available on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Arficles of Association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (http://www.cmru.com.cn) immediately affer the relevant
general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

~
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il T3 7

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Metal Resources Utilization Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
80 to 177, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes fo the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible
for us to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial stafements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZEBEN RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainties relating to going concern

We draw attention to nofe 2 fo the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB652,462,000 and RMB80S5,780,000 respectively for two
consecutive years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB4,711,009,000 and net liabilities of approximately
RMB4,161,503,000. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB3,613,000, while debits
repayable within one year or on demand (including interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and nofe payables) were approximately
RMBT1,666,374,000. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the
Croup had defaulted the repayment of interestbearing bank and other
borrowings and nofe payables of approximately RMB1,630,001,000
and RMB24,373,000 respectively [collectively referred to as the
“Overdue Debts”). In addition, as described in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December 2024, the Group
was also involved in various litigations resulting in the freezing of several
bank accounts and the seizure of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and invenfories. The above events or conditions indicate
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability fo continue as a going concern and, therefore,
that the Group may not be able to redlise ifs assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The directors of the Company have been undertaking
a number of plans and measures as described in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements to mitigate the liquidity pressure and
improve ifs financial position. Should the going concermn assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assefs and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continved)
Material uncertainties relating to going concern (Continved)

Up to the date of this report, the Relevant Subsidiaries as defined in
note 2[i) to the consolidated financial statements are in progress of
debt restructuring (the “Debt Restructuring”) for purpose of reducing the
level of debts of the Relevant Subsidiaries. As of the date of this report,
we have not been provided with the debt restructuring agreements
and were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to
confirm the timing and extent of the Debt Restructuring.

Furthermore, up to the date of this report, the Group had notified and
licised with the creditors, banks, financial institutions and holders of note
payables for extension/alternative refinancing of the Overdue Debts. As
of the date of this report, we have not been provided with the exfension
agreements or refinoncing agreements in respect of the Overdue Debits.

Up to the date of this report, the Group had been liaising with banks
and financial institutions for obtaining new financing. As of the date of
this report, we have not been provided with the financing agreements in
respect of the new financing.

In addition, up to the date of this report, the Group has been
endeavouring fo improve the Group's operating performance and cash
flows through cost control measures and working capital management to
mainfain sufficient liquidity. We have not been provided with sufficient
audit evidence on effect on overcoming the net current liabilities and net
liabilities positions of the Group from such cost control measures and
working capital management.

Also, up to the date of this report, the Group has been in the process of
resolving the Group's lifigation fo release the freezing orders on bank
accounts and seizure orders on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and inventories. As of the date of this report, we have not
been provided with the sefflement agreements with creditors in respect
of the amount due to the creditors.

In absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence of the above,
we were unable to ascertain whether the use of the going concern
assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZEBEN RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER MATTERS

Had we not disclaimed our opinion regarding the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we would otherwise
have qualified our opinion regarding the scope limitations on our audit
relating fo the matters detailed below.

(a)

Trade and bills receivables

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's trade and
bills receivables amounted to approximately RMB 13,254,000
and RMB146,292,000 respectively, the amount of which
approximately RMB nil and RMB115,007,000 respectively
(the “Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables’] were past due
and/or have not been settled up to the date of this report. The
management is still negotiating with and considering taking any
action fo the debtors on the setflement. Due to (1) the past due
situation of the Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables, (2) financial
difficulties of debtors and (3) unfavourable negotiation results with
debtors, the management considered that the chance of recovering
the Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables to be remote. The
Group recognised provision for doubtful debts of approximately
RMB105,391,000 and RMB8?,322,000 respectively in respect
of the Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables in profit or loss for the

year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Due fo the above uncertainties, the management is not able fo
provide further evidences in justifying the sufficiency, adequacy
and extent of the provision for doubtful debts being recognised.
Accordingly, we are not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidences to ascerfain the recoverability of the balance
of Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables of approximately
RMB115,007,000 as at 31 December 2023. More importantly,
there is no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
perform fo satisfy ourselves whether the balance of Overdue Trade
and Bills Receivables of approximately RMB115,007,000 were
fairly stated as at 31 December 2023. Consequently, we are
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidences on the
provision for doubiful debts of approximately RMB105,391,000
and RMB89,322,000 recognised in profit or loss for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 and the recoverability
of Overdue Trade and Bills Receivables of approximately

RMB115,007,000 at 31 December 2023.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER MATTERS (Continved)

(b)

Advance payments to suppliers

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
as af 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's advance
payments to suppliers amounted to approximately RMB nil
and RMB75,320,000 respectively, of which approximately
RMB nil and RMB72,421,000 (the "long Outstanding Advance
Payments”), were long outstanding and/or have not been
utilised/recovered up to the date of this report. The management
is still negotiating with and considering taking any acfion fo the
debtors on the sefflement. Due fo (1) the long outstanding position
of long Outstanding Advance Payments, (2) financial difficulties of
debtors and (3) unfavourable negotiation results with debtors, the
management considered that the chance of utilising/recovering
the long Outstanding Advance Payments to be remote. The
Group recognised provision for impairment loss of approximately
RMB72,314.000 and RMB207,988,000 respectively in respect
of the Llong Outstanding Advance Payments in profit or loss for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Due fo the above uncertainties, the management is not able to
provide further evidences in justifying the sufficiency, adequacy
and extent of the impairment loss being recognised. Accordingly,
we are not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidences fo
ascertain the recoverability of the balance of the long Outstanding
Advance Payments of approximately RMB72,421,000 as
at 31 December 2023. More importantly, there is no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves whether the balance of the long Outstanding Advance
Payments of approximately RMB72,421,000 were fairly stated
as at 31 December 2023. Consequently, we are not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidences on the provision
for impairment loss of approximately RMB72,314,000 and
RMB207,988,000 recognised for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 and the recoverability of the Long Outstanding
Advance Payments of approximately RMB72,421,000 at 31
December 2023.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZEBEN RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER MATTERS (Continved)

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group's consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 and the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.”

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a frue and fair view in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such infernal control as the directors
determine is necessary fo enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due fo fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem
and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the directors
either infend fo liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but fo do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA") and to issue an auditor’s report. However,
because of the significance of the material uncertainties relating to the
going concern basis described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERREEMZERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #F2024F 12431 HIFF/E

Notes
B

REVENUE X 8
Cost of sales &R
GROSS LOSS B
Other income/[expenses), HEgk A (X))

gain/(loss), net Wz, (EE) Q
Selling and disfribution expenses tHE KD A<
Administrative expenses THFAX
Provision for doubtful debts, net REREEFE 21
Impairment of advance payments B EEIERE

fo suppliers 19
Finance cosfs B RS RAR 10
Share of losses of associates JE{GEE S R A g 1R 18
Loss before tax BATEE
Income tax expense PSR 2 13
Loss for the year attributable to ARAAEEABEFREE

owners of the Company 11
Other comprehensive loss after tax: & H 2 EEE :
ltems that may be reclassified AJREEF TR E R EA -

fo profit or loss:
Exchange differences on franslating  #E /G INE T HYE X Z 58

foreign operations
Other comprehensive loss for BRAEAFAHM2EER

the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive loss for AARBEAAEBLEFAZE

the year attributable to BEARE

owners of the Company
Loss per share BREE 14

Basic (RMB per share] EXR(BERARKE)

Diluted (RMB per share) BE(ERARE)

2024

2024 F
RMB’000
ARBF T

468,036
(498,765)
(30,729

30,301
(1,600)
(102,990)
(121,829

(72,314)

(354,055)
(323)

(653,539)
1,077

(652,462)

(2,873)

(2,873)

(655,335)

(0.15)

(0.15)

2023
2023
RMB'000
ARKETTT
837,704
(949,599

(111,895
52,029
(7,197)
(110,661)
(141,978)
(208,100)
(277,660)
(299)
(805,767)
(13)

(805,780)

(1,835)

(1,835)

(807,615)

(0.18)

(O0.18)



Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fr 8 MBIk R

As at 31 December 2024  R2024F12H31H

Notes
B 5T

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M -~ BB KRR 16
Rightof-use assets EREEE 17
Interests in associates BN Bl 18
Prepayments, other receivables and  TEAI K+ E fth FEUCRIE K

other assets Hi&E 19
Total non-current assets BIERBEE
Current assets REBEE
Inventories VENSY 20
Trade and bills receivables B 5 B FIA R RN EE 21
Prepayments, other receivables and ~ FEHR ~ Elth FE YR IE [2

other assets HmEE 19
Amounts due from associates EHQ%%@ IE 22
Amounts due from related parties JFEE A7 7 e 23
Pledged deposits ETRTW?%( 24
Cash and cash equivalents RekRELFEER 24
Total current assets BREEE
Total assets mEE
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B 5N RIE 25
Other payables and accruals Hth B~ IR K A B R 26
Note payables JERRIE 27
Inferestbearing bank and other T RSRIT REMERK

borrowings 28
lease liabilities HEaE 30
Amounts due to a director JEH%%?AIE 31
Amounts due to associates JEST B N B 5R08 22
Amount due to a related party P 1~ R Bt HTAIE 23

Tax payable FEBITR IR

Total current liabilities FEWEDN=R

Net current liabilities FERBAME

Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARETT
387,299 418,342
95,846 99,830
46,484 46,807
19,877 19,760
549,506 584,739
39,208 64,536
13,254 146,292
417,211 508,209
27,867 27,775
199 179
32,262 32,262
3,613 18,327
533,614 /97,580
1,083,120 1,382,319
789,288 /89,709
2,638,762 2,291,725
24,373 23,922
1,642,001 1,628,000
= 379

207 207

201 208
57,722 61,756
92,069 Q1,829
5,244,623 4,887,735
(4,711,009 (4,090,155)
(4,161,503 (3,505,416)
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMEBRAR

As at 31 December 2024  R2024F12431H

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥TT ARBFIT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred government grants S5 RE ST #68 B 32 644
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 33 1,152
Total non-current liabilities IR AE 1,796
NET LIABILITIES FEE (4,161,503) (3,507,212)
EQUITY e
Share capital A& A 34 363,611 363,611
Reserves s (4,525,114) (3,870,823)
TOTAL EQUITY R (4,161,503) (3,507,212)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 177 were #H R FBOEIN//E 2B &M B HwRER
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 20253 A 31 BEE =& #t & KX #E T

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: T WATIEERRESE
Yu Jianqgiu Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
BN BEE
Director Director

EE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #Z2024F 12431 H1FF/&E

Share-based
Share Share Exchange Capital Statutory payment  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
MR RER
R R i7EE EifE BAfE EERE  NARRE RHER et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR®TT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARWTR AR%T:
At 1 January 2023 %2023%51 818 63611 2204701 (511000 132055 144662 19844 (5515773 (2702,000)
Loss for the year FAER - - - - - - [805,780) (805,780)
Other comprehensive FREBRZERR:
loss for the year:
Exchange differences BEBMNEBE
on franslating foreign ERER
operations - - [1,835) - - - - (1,835)
Total comprehensive FRZEBEES
loss for the year - - [1,835) - - - (805,780) (807,615)
Share options lapsed/forfeited 24 /R IR IR IE - - - - - (372) 372 -
Equity-setfled INBREEIARN B
sharebased payments S ANE - - - - - 2,403 - 2,403
At 31 December 2023ond #2023 124318
1 Janvory 2024 R202451R18 363,611 2,204,701* [52,935)*  132,055* 144,662* 21,875%  16,321,181]* (3,507,212
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - 652,462 (652,462)
Other comprehensive FREBRZASE:
loss for the year
Exchange differences hEENEBN
on franslafing ERER
foreign operations - - 12,873) - - - - (2,873)
Total comprehensive FNEEERER
loss for the year - - 12,873 - - - 652,462 (655,335)
Share options lapsed/fofeited  BK %/ /R U & - - - - - [70) 70 -
Equity-setfled INBREEURN B
share-based payments ERZAR - - - - - 1,044 - 1,044
At 31 December 2024 20245124318 363,611 2,204,701* [55,808)*  132,055* 144,662* 22,849% (6,973,573 (4,161,503]
Note: Bt -

ZERBRECESAMBRNRANGA ABHERAA
R#4,525114,0007(2023F : ZEBEFERBARE
3,870,823,0007) °

[i) * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated negatfive reserves of RMB4,525,114,000 (2023: i)
consolidated negative reserve of RMB3,870,823,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEeBaRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #Z2024F 12431 H1FF/E

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

REZHHERENE
TRl

g2

RELATIRR #HE -

WE - BERRETE

Depreciation of rightofuse assets EREEERE
Equity-setiled share-based payments IARE s 45 5 DA D R AR
WARE
Finance costs IR IBN
Impairment of advance payments fo suppliers <] i & 7 SR IE R E
Interest income B A
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items HEWE BERXEER
of property, plant and equipment Z (Wa) /K18
Provision for doubtful debts, net ~EREEFE
Provision for inventories FERE
Written-off of property,plant and equipment ME - BB KR
Share of losses of associates JEREE R R E R
Operating loss before working capital changes & iE & & B EATH) & X E18
Change in frade payables B HRNFIAES)
Change in invenfories FEEH

Change in trade and bills receivables
Change in other payables and accruals

B 5 FE SO BRI
Sft BB K B 2 AR

Change in prepayments, other receivables FARR - E AR IE K
and other assets Hih & EZ S
Cash used in operations LEMARS
Income tax paid AT
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMAFRS

2024
2024 F
RMB’000

ARBFT

(653,539

31,635
3,489

1,044
354,055
72,314
(28)

52
121,829

68,826
(421)
25,328
11,209
(3,677)

18,567

(17,820)
165

(17,655)

2023
2023
RMB'000
ARKETTT

(805,767)

37,688
4,678

2,403
277,660
208,106

(7,085)

(119)
141,978
2,501
69

299

(137,589
(158,490)
33,909
[51,776]
268,966

[24,563)

[69,543)
230

[69,313)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEBRRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #Z2024F 12431 H1FF/&E

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR¥ETTT
Cash flows from investing activities REZBFBRERE
Interest received BT 8 28 17,183
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - RENBEEZIA
plant and equipment 411 339
Advance to related parties and associates 3k T BAEE 75 [ B & A A (92) (2,665)
Payments for items of property, plantand — BE¥15 - B &R EEE &
equipment and rightofuse assets EREEENR (380) (498)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE(FTA) 8 FEERe
investing activities (33) 14,359
Cash flows from financing activities BMETBFERERE
New bank and other borrowings HIR1T R E AL R 12,000 80,600
Repayment of bank and other borrowings — EE#R1T R E &K = (268)
Interest paid ERFE (4,585) (3,797)
Guarantee fees and other charges ERERKEMAX = (3,643)
Principal portion of lease liabilities HEBBENALSIHD (379) (1,864)
Repayment fo related parties ER AN T Rt AR FIA
and associates (4,034) (121)
Net cash generated from RMETBHREERE
financing activities 3,002 70,907
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBEEEEEENW
cash equivalents g CR D) (14,686) 15,953
Cash and cash equivalents af FYR2 LR EEEAR
beginning of year 18,327 2,391
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREHFTE
changes, net (28) (17)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREERFEESEEER 3,613 18,327
Andlysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBESHEBEE DN
Bank and cash balances RITMIR S R 3,613 18,327




China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M B 8 R ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 February 2013.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
"Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacturing and
frading of copper and related products. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) since 21
February 2014.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB”), while the Company's functional currency is Hong Kong
Dollars ("HK$").

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB652,462,000 and RMBB805,780,000 respectively for
two consecutive years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB4,711,009,000 and net liabilities of
approximately RMB4,161,503,000. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB3,613,000, while debts repayable within one year or on
demand (including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and note payables| were approximately RMB1,666,374,000.
In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the Group had defaulted
the repayment of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and note payables of approximately RMB1,630,001,000 and
RMB24,373,000 respectively. In addition, as at 31 December
2024, the Group was also involved in various litigations
resulting in the freezing of several bank accounts and the
seizure of property, plant and equipment, rightofuse assefs and
inventories. All these conditions indicated the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt as to the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

—REH
FESBERAAARARNIAR

AIR2013F2A22B EHESHS
S AR o

ARRAREENB LR (FHENEE])
TERERARAEERNLEERES
EH o RRAIRMMN2014F2 A 21
BEREMARIMER QA ([
FrDERLES -

HEVBRRAAREITARKDZ
5l MARRZNEEEE BT
7tl) e

FEEEEE

REEREZE2024F £ 2023F 12
ASTBIEMEEEFE D RIEEE
SRR/ ARMES52,462,0007T
& AR #805,780,0007T ° 22024
F12A318 AKRENFRBEAE
HR/RAR®E4711,0090007T - M
FERBEHNRAR®K4,161,503,000
Joo M2024%F12A318 - A& H
MR RREFEBEREHNRARE
3,613,000 MAR —FAHKE
ER(B B RIT R HE A E R
EBNEBE)EEZEHHN/SARE
1,666,374,0007T o0 72024
FI12A31H AEBEKREEED
Al # B ANERHET,630,001,000 7T #Y
MEtBRITREMERROARYE
24,373,000 T FE I R4 © LE 4N
2024 12A318 AEEBETE
R Z B  BRZERITRP K
REEARE - BB M&E - ERE
BERGFEREH - FIAELBERE
REEEATETEN  AIEHAKE
FELENRNELEARM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M 55 8 R P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

In light of the above, the Directors of the Company have
implemented, or in the process of implementing various financial
plans and measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and fo
improve its financial position. These measures included but not
limited to the followings:

(i)

The Group is in the process of restructuring the debt.
Mianyang Tongxin Copper Co., lid. (#3F5HR&E %GR
A7) ("Tongxin”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company; and Mianyang Jin Xunhuan Metal Materials
Co., Id. (BEeRREBMEAR AT ("Jin Xunhuan”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
were both undergoing a restructuring with the existing debt
holders in accordance with the applicable provisions of
the Enterprise Bankruptcy Law in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"). The restructuring involved the filing of a
voluntary application for bankruptcy reorganisation with the
People's Court of Youxian District (the “Youxian Court”) in the
Mianyang City, Sichuan Province, the PRC. On 3 January
2023, the Company received from the Youxian Court
concerning the Youxian Court’s civil rulings, court decisions
and notice to Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan (collectively known as
“Youxian Court Documents”) regarding the reorganisation.
Pursuant fo which, the Youxian Court Documents indicated
that the Youxian Court accepted the application from the
Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan for bankruptey reorganisation in
accordance with the Enterprise Bankruptcy Law in the PRC.
The first creditors” meeting was held on 28 March 2023.
The debt restructuring is in progress up to the date of this
report.

2. FEKEEE#®)

HEREXF - RAFREFEKHIE
B it & B8 55T 8 S 4 i A BB
HECBNRBEETHNRR - %F
HEBEREETRR

AEBIEETEREE - K56
BREXARQA([RE]) > Ao
AzHEEZEMB LR kB
TRERREBMHERRAR (&1
R ARBIZHEEEZENRBL
A BE(hEARLMBE(H
B0 )) 4 BB A A )iE A GRS B
REBRAEZE - EREFHT
B )& 4 ks il R A ROERT
(TEALABE DIER B E S
BHRFE R2023F1H38 -
AREWBIKBEIDEREBE
BEMBIERREREE Ak
REENRFENSBERZE
S BIBEMOER XM - &
It - DR XA 2R BB LERE
EERFENERRRBE(PE
CEWEZX)BERGX ZBWES
EHF - F-RERATZER
2023 3H28B £ 17 A E
AE|EBH  EHBEENEET
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M B 8 R ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

(i)

(Continued)

In addition to the bankruptcy reorganisations of Tongxin
and Jin Xunhuan, Mianyang Baohe Taiyue Communications
Cable Co. ltd. (RN ETBBEEEER A
al) ("Taiyue"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, is undergoing restructuring ifs existing
indebtedness with existing debt holders through the
applicable provisions of the Enterprise Bankruptcy law of
the PRC. A voluntary application for the aforementioned
bankruptcy reorganization of Taiyue (the “Taiyue Bankruptcy
Reorganisation Application”) has been filed with the Youxian
Court on 18 May 2023. On 24 May 2023, Taiyue
received the Youxian Court’s civil ruling dated 23 May
2023. According to the civil ruling dated 23 May 2023,
the Youxian Court has accepted the Taiyue Bankruptcy
Reorganisation Application. The debt restructuring is in
progress up fo the date of this report.

Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Copper Co., Ltd. (77 $REH 4R
JE#ZE AR AR ("Yinlian Xiangbei”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, received a civil ruling
(the “Civil Ruling”) from the People’s Court of Miluo City,
Hunan Province (the “Court of Miluo City”) in relation to
a pefition for winding-up against Yinlian Xiangbei filed
by Hunan Miziyuan Asset Holdings Co., ltd. (#FH2
REZEEBEAR AR ("Miziyuan”), a creditor of Yinlian
Xiangbei, on the ground that Yinlian Xiongbei was unable
to repay the debts falling due. The debts involved were
in the amount of approximately RMB11.9 million. Yinlian
Xiangbei opposed the petition and applied to the Court of
Miluo City for bankruptcy reorganisation instead. According
to the Civil Ruling, affer taking into account the situation
of Yinlian Xiangbei and the bankruptcy reorganisation
of the Company’s other three subsidiaries in Mianyang
City, Sichuan Province, the Court of Miluo City rejected
Miziyuan's petition for winding-up and accepted Yinlian
Xiangbei's bankrupicy reorganisation application on 21 July
2023. The first creditor's meeting was held on 5 January
2024. The debt restructuring is in progress up to the date of
this report.

2. FEKEEE#®)

(i)

(&)

BRiNSRSBRRINESE &
FRMBEBERERRAQ A
(TZF#]) AR ZEEZEM
BAR - MEE(hEEREE
R)BRGNXERBEHRHAA
TESBEEREER - LilAR
FHH B RRESZERB([ZH
WESEHBIEN2023F5 A
18 HR3ERT » M 2023F 5 A
248 RBWH AR 20234
5H23 A ZEMER REEE
£ -REBHH/2023F5H23
BZERRERES  BIUEER
EEMNFURESESRR - HE
AmEAH  EHREBDEET
o

W EREORIL IR AR A A ([4R
Bomde ) - AnmzEE 2 EH
BRAR] - WRIRAHREEREN
ABRER(DRZET ARER ) -
BN REXEEERA
BA(RZR D ERRERILHE
A BT EREE ML RAERN B H]
AIEIE B M ET SHRBORIE IR 2
BREFNRSFHATE(TRSFH
EE]) HEBHBHEROARSE
11.9B & - REOMIL R Z
2FLFBET A FFRES
B -REZRFHETE KEE
SREEOMRAE 2 B2 3 AN A Al )l
ARG EM =B R R 2K
EEE  ERBREDAZIRZ/F%#
25 LEMRB MR 2023 F
TA2VAZWEEERAF - F
—RERASHDN2024F )
ASHRT - EEARERAH
BERERINELETH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(Continued)

Hubei Rongsheng Copper Co., lid* (HitEt R EBERm
BMRAA]) ("Hubei Rongsheng”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, received a decision dated 12
September 2023 and notice to Hubei Rongsheng dated
12 September 2023 from the People’s Court of Yunmeng
County, Hubei Province in relation to Hubei Rongsheng's
application for pre-restructuring in accordance with the pre-
restructuring procedure under the applicable provisions of
the Enterprise Bankruptcy Law of the People’s Republic of
China to prepare for its infended bankruptcy reorganisation
application an 12 September 2023. The debt restructuring
is in progress up fo the date of this report.

Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan, Taiyue, Yinlian Xiangbei and
Hubei Rongsheng are collectively known as the “Relevant
Subsidiaries”;

The Company has been negotiating with China Huarong
International Holdings Limited (“Huarong”) for further
extension of the convertible bonds to Huarong (“Huarong
CB") (Huarong CBs has been reclassified as other
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2023),
which were matured and fall due on 31 December 2022
and with creditors, banks, financial institutions and note
holders for alternative refinancing and/or extension of the
due dates;

The Group has been liaising with banks and financial
institutions from which cross default clauses as stipulated in
the relevant loan agreements were breached by the Group;

The Group has been actively seeking other financing
arrangements with a view to obtain new funding, including
but not limited fo convertible bonds from invesfors, subject to
certain conditions;

The Group has been endeavouring to improve the Group's
operating performance and cash flows through cost control
measures and working capital management to maintain

sufficient liquidity; and

2. FEKEEE#®)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

[v)

(&)

MRS BEEARD A
KRR AR ZMEERER
BAA - WEIRET A EBE
ARZER B R 20239 A 12
A 0 3RE 8 & B 8182023 59
A1288Es  ARALERS
R ARLRBE O ERE
EOEREX THRERRF 2 HE
EREH - HOERE 202350 A
PEES F2 1T LR
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T 2B/R T8 BEME
I ERIE RS EEENE A
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RAREHERMBEIR S RIZERE
RARITERDAE-TER
ERL ARG S (TR AT RARE
F(ERTBRESFDRESR
2023F 12A31BIEFEEH
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A3TEMEHBE REEEA -
RIT - TREE  ZERHAAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

(vi)  The Group has been in the process of resolving the Group's
litigation fo release the freezing orders on bank accounts
and seizure orders on property, plant and equipment, right-
ofuse assefs and inventories.

The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that future cash
flow generated from operation together with the financial plans
and measures will be sufficient to repay all these liabilities. The
directors of the Company are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concem basis.

Although the Directors of the Company have formulated a number
of plans and taken a number of measures, there are sill significant
uncertainties as to whether the Group will be able to implement its
plans and measures. The Group's ability to continue as a going
concern is dependent on the following matters:

(i) Successful completion of the restructuring by Relevant

Subsidiaries;

(i)  Successful negotiation with an offshore lender on debt
extension;

(i) The Group's ability to seek cooperation with banks and
financial institutions for which cross default clauses were

breached:

(iv) The Group's ability to scale down its operation while
maintaining positive ongoing business relationship with the
Group's suppliers;

(v]  The Group's ability to successfully obtain new source of
funding; and

(v The Group's ability to successfully resolve the pending
litigations of the Group and releasing freeze of bank
accounts and seizure of property, plant and equipment,
rightof-use assets and inventories.

BHEKEEHE#)

(vi] ZAEBIEERRREEZFDA
BRERIRITP DM RAES MY E -
BEN&E  EREEENTFE
MEHS -

RRAREERR  RREEELNR
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EEEREGAMBHRREEE -
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Hit I MBI IDABERTHREM
AEERFBLEEBNENER T
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(i) FYTERIBENBARZEER

(i) AIhEFEIMEE AL ERSEHIHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made fo the consolidated financial
statements fo adjust the value of the Group's assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and fo reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assefs and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that are relevant fo its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
January 2024. IFRS Accounting Standards comprise Infernational
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); Intemational Accounting
Standards (“IAS") and Inferpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised IFRS Accounting Standards did not result in significant
changes fo the Group's accounting policies, presentation of the
Group's consolidated financial statements and amounts reported
for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRS Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards but is not
yet in a position to state whether these new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.

BHEKEEHE#)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the hisforical cost convention. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the
nearesf thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires the directors of the Company
fo exercise their judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
confrol. The Group confrols an enfity when it is exposed, or has
rights, o variable returns from ifs involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entfity’s refurns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its pofential voting
rights as well as potfential voting rights held by other parties,
fo determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
fransferred fo the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
the control ceases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /Continved)
Consolidation (Continved)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in @
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
refained in that subsidiary and [ii] the Company's share of the
net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating
fo that subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency
franslation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
fransaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed fo the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
fransactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition
is measured at the acquisitiondate fair value of the assefs given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assefs and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date
fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /Continved)
Business combination and goodwill (Confinved)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company's share
of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assefs and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assefs and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is atiributed to the
Company.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity inferest in
the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income
(for example, equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive incomel, the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis as would
be required if the previously held equity inferest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured atf cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are
expected fo benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power fo participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an enfity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
fo significant influence, the holder's infention and financial ability
fo exercise or convert that right is nof considered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /Continved)
Associates (Continved)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s postacquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and ifs share
of the postacquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative postacquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds ifs inferest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising ifs share of those profits only affer its share of
the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment refained in that associate and (i the Group's share
of the net assefs of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign
currency franslation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group confinues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the refained
interest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Associates (Continved)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated fo the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the fransaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assef
fransferred. Accounting policies of associafes have been changed
where necessary fo ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
group entfities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates [the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial stafements
are presented in RMB. The Company’s functional currency
is Hong Kong Dollars. The direcfors consider that choosing
RMB as the presentation currency best suits the needs of the

shareholders and investors.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are franslated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the fransaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange ratfes at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are franslated using the exchange rafes at

the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary ifem is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Foreign currency translation (Confinved)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presenfation currency are franslated into the Company's
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are franslated af the closing rate af
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are franslated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the fransaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are franslated af the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

(i)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency franslation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
franslation of the nef investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assefs and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separafe asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow fo the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rafes sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straightline basis. The principal
annual rafes are as follows:
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The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporfing period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at
cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant
assefs are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Leases

The Group as lessee

leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by
the Group. Rightof-use assefs are sfated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated af rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straightline basis.
The principal annual rate is as follows:

Over the lease ferm
Over the lease term

leasehold land
Properties

Plant and machinery 510 10 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 310 10 years

Right-of-use assefs are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be defermined, or otherwise the Group's incremental
borrowing rafe. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with shortterm leases and leases of low-
value assefs are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straightline basis over the lease terms. Shorterm leases are leases
with an inifial lease ferm of 12 months or less. low-value assefs
are assets of value below US$5,000 (approximately equivalent to

RMB35,000).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated cosfs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Construction contracts in progress

Construction confracts in progress are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs atfributable to
such confracts. Net realisable value is defermined by reference to
the contract prices.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party
fo the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assefs are derecognised when the confractual rights
fo receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group fransfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither fransfers nor refains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assefs but has not refained
confrol on the assefs. On derecognition of a
difference between the assef's carrying amount and the sum of the

financial asset, the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs except in the case of investments af fair value through profit
or loss. Transaction costs directly atiributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assefs at amortised cost
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Financial assets (Continved

(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assefs (including trade, loan and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assefs in order fo collect confractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective inferest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
fo the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for frade receivables or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
fo the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporfing period.
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M B 8 R ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /Continved)
Loss allowances for expected credit losses (Continved)

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period fo the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and shorterm
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under IFRSs. An equity insfrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of ifs
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below .

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of fransaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective inferest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer setflement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured af amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are sfated af cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, nef of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
confract with a customer with reference fo the custfomary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a confract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies o performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the ferms of a confract and the laws that
apply fo that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over fime if:

— the cusfomer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced:; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an assef with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If o performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other income

Inferest income is recognised on a fime-proportion basis using the
effective inferest method.
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee enfiflements to sick leave and matemity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
fo the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percenfage of employees’ basic salaries. The refirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
confributions payable by the Group fo the funds.

The Group also participates in a defined confribution
refirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage
of the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. The
confributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers fo reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-seftled share-based payments to cerfain
directors and employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non marker-
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments atf the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
seffled share-based payments is expensed on a straightline basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly affributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assefs are substantially ready for their
infended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capifalisafion.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is defermined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable fo the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
fo it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with the
cosfs they are infended to compensate.

4.

EXRGETEE#E)
LU B2 2 5K

AEBRETEEREEE LA
REUABR D RERZ AR - AR
BUBRNABERZNFAREERZ
B AR T Az X HE (RR 2F 35 55 88 1%
H2HE)TE - RREAEREE N
B SERZNRERBEZRFE
REASEGAHRREB RO
RIETMGREBIRT 2 E TIARHE
R B ENIA B SRESEH ©

[EENDEN

R 2RALEESEREE(AS
E-BRBRERET A ETERTE MR
KM ENEE) M EZEEBRKRAR
ERABR  ERELFEEMNIDK
K BEZFEEERMEAEREEE
RERHERRLL - EREERAIE
BEBREEX AT (FRE PR
BEWAR B BT E AR E KA H

AR —RBERMBERSAEREE
MEANEEME @ AIBEFTEARNE
KK & TR TR % T8 A B W S Pk
FAOERCLLRETE - EMMCELERR
38 AT AN 5= 1B 5% BT A 1) K fEDE 5 3R
(T EELREAEREEME AN
TE fE 30 B N I8 SRBC AR

PTG HAb B R A E £ HIH N8
= AR o

BS54 B
BB & 2R AR B M T
BRI B &Y i S AR B B (4 5
& T IAHR -

B A AR 2 BT B & BORE - 8

3¢ Taay
I fERR ©

105



106

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Government grants (Continved)

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Government granfs relating fo the purchase of assets are deducted
from the carrying amount of the assefs. The grant is recognised
in profit or loss over the life of o depreciable asset by way of o
reduced depreciation charge.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current fax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes itfems that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current fax is
calculated using fax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assefs and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised fo the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on invesiments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assefs is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset fo be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
fo apply in the period when the liability is seftled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
fax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
fax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, fo recover or
seffle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabiliies are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assefs against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
foxation authority and the Group intends fo settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
(Al A person or a close member of that person'’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES /Continved)
Related parties (Continved)

(B]

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entfity is an associate or joint venture of the other
enfity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both enfities are joinf ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is o postemployment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly confrolled by a person

identified in (A).

A person identified in [A)li) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used fo distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its fangible and other intangible assets except
goodwill, deferred tax assets, inventories and receivables to
defermine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. I any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of cash-generating units ["CGU")
fo which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
fax discount rafe that reflects current market assessments of the fime
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is esfimated fo be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or
CGU is reduced to ifs recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
freated as a revaluation decrease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)
Impairment of assets (Continved)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or CGU is increased fo the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or CGU in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
freated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or consfructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to seftle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are sfated at the present
value of the expenditures expected fo settle the obligafion.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a confingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when
material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATION

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concemn basis, the validity of which is explained
in note 2 to consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(a)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the present value of estimated
future cash flows. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected or there are unfavourable events and change
in facts and circumstance which result in revision of future
estimate cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

5.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATION
(Continved)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continved)

(b)

(c)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and other receivables

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the frade
and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The identification
of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the frade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group defermines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This esfimate is based on the hisforical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives and residual values are different to
those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolefe or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

5. EEHERETEMET (&)

FRMGEHTHABRRE)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it fo a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure fo foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
Group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
fransactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group's certain bank deposits and borrowings bear
interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to
fair value interest rate risks.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings are fixed rate borrowings, no
sensiivity analysis on interest rafe risk is presented.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables,
deposits, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from related parties and bank balances included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
Group's maximum exposure fo credit risk in relafion to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continved)

(c)

Credit risk [Continuved)

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high creditratings assigned by
international creditrating agencies.

Amounts due from associates and related parties are closely
monitored by the directors.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assefs on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as af the reporting date with the
risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding- looking
information. Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rafing;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower's ability to meet its obligations;

—  actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower:

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in
the quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrower.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continved)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk [Continved)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a confractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 180
days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
cafegorises a receivable for write off when a debtor fails
fo make contractual payments greater than 360 days past
due. Where receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continves to engage in
enforcement activity fo attempt to recover the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-rade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category and adjusts for forward looking
data.

6. ERMREXREREE ©)

(c)
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Category Definition Loss provision

E:ball BE EiERE

Performing low risk of default and strong capacity fo pay 12 month expected losses
EE KB DR K& S RE B2 12 8 A EHAES 18

Significant increase in credit risk
B ON Rl

Non-performing

TR

Lifetime expected losses
EHIEHER

Liquidity risk
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

(d)

hRBETRER

AEBOBRBERERBAL
BHNRBESHTE @ AERE
wREEMREHERNEHE
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6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRREXREREE ()

(Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Confinved) d RBESERMERE)
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of ARENERABRBREBERTAR
the Group's financial liabilities is as follows: SRMIBBERASFTIOT

On demand Total
or less than undiscounted Carrying
Tyear  1-2years  2-5years  cashflows amounts

RERY, ARIR
—EHT -EmE MELE Be EHE
As at 31 December 2024 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
R2024512R31R ARSI ARBTn AR%Tn AR¥Tz ARETR
Trade poyables ZHENZE 789,288 789,288 789,288
Other payables and accruals HiEN AR E B A 1,290,547 1,290,547 1,290,547
Note payables EREE 24,373 24,373 24,373

Inferestbearing bank and SHERTREMER

ofher borrowings 1,642,001 1,642,001 1,642,001
Amounts due fo a director [N 207 207 207
Amounts due fo associates L A=UNGIE 201 201 201
Amount due fo a related pary fEf— %Eﬁﬁwﬁz I3 57722 57722 57,722
3,804,339 3,804,339 3,804,339

On demand Tofal
or less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows amounts

REXHK BARITH
—&)T —EM¥ MERF Rem REE
As at 31 December 2023 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2023 12R318 AREFT ARETT ARBTT AREFT ARETR
Trade payables 2 HENTE 789,709 - - 789,709 789,709
Other payables and accruals ﬁﬁﬁﬁ IE&JE,#EFH 915,232 - - 915,232 915,232
Note payables M"J%TF 23,922 - - 23,922 23,922

Inferestbearing bank SRR RERER

and other borrowings 1,631,675 - - 1631675 1,628,000
lease liabiliies HEaE 386 - - 386 386
Amounts due fo a director ENEENR 207 - - 207 207
Amounts due fo associates e 7 R 208 - - 208 208
Amount due o a reloted parly eI — % B A 7E 61756 - - 61756 61756
3,423,095 - - 3423005 3419420
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

i & M 55 8 R P 5

6. TRRELAAKREE 2

e} M12A3TBEMERT AR

Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost

(including cash and cash equivalents)

REBHERATTENEREE
(BREReMRESFEER)

ERAE

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

REHERAGENEREE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T AR¥ETT
119,926 278,506
3,804,339 3,419,420

() Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

(g) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
refun to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes borrowings and amounts due to relafed parties,
and equity affributable to owners of the Company, which
includes share capifal and reserves.

The Group's management reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
issuance of new shares as well as raising of borrowings, if
necessary.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments as follows:

(] Recycled copper products segment: use of scrap copper
and electrolytic copper for the manufacturing and trading of
recycled copper products, and trading of electrolytic copper
and nickel products;

[i)  Power transmission and distribution cables segment:
manufacturing and sales of power transmission and
distribution cables; and

(i)  Communication cables segment: manufacturing and sales of
communication cables.

The Group's reportable segments are sfrategic business units that
offer different products. They are managed separately because
each business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in nofe 4 fo the consolidated financial statements.
Segment results do not include certain inferest income, non-lease-
related finance costs, corporate and other unallocated expenses
as well as share of losses of associates.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group's profit
before tax except that certain interest income, corporate and other
unallocated expenses, certain finance cosfs as well as share of
loss of associates are excluded from such measurement.

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is not provided
regularly to the Group's most senior executive management and
accordingly, no information about segment assets or liabilities is
presented.

The Group accounts for infersegment sales and fransfers as if the
sales or fransfers were to third parties, i.e. af current market prices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

Segment results

7.

Intersegment sales and fransfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties af the then prevailing market prices.

Segment revenue THERE

Seles to extemnal cusiomers ASMSEFRITHE

Infersegment sales HEEHE

Reconciliation: #HE -

Elimination of infersegment sales HENAREE

Revenue X

Segment results VEIES

Reconciliation: #H% -

Inferest income FBKA

Corporate and other unallocated ~ AEREMAA EFRX
expenses

Finance costs BB

Share of losses of associates EhBE N AR

Loss before fax RaEE

Other segment information At A HER

Depreciotion and amorisafion HEREH

VAT refunds, government grants SBERES - BATHE kA8
and subsidies

Impairment on advance payments BT IEREFER(E

fo suppliers

Provision for doubiful debs, net AEREFE

Recycled
copper
products
BrEER
RMB'000
ARMTR

467,542
2,694

470,236

(247,959)

28

(336,005)

(29,660)
39,054

(72,314)
(121,715)

EXBER T HER @)

(a) DEEE

DEFEIHE REE IS B ER
RITHEME=ZFHEMBANE
BETRS -

2024
2024 %

Power
transmission
and distribution
cables
ARER
RMB'000
ARBTT

Communication
cables Total
REER @t
RMB000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTR

437 468,036
= 2,694

470,730

(2,694)
468,036
(250,023

28

(66,102)
(337,119
(323)

(1,113

(653,539)

(35,350)
39,054

= (72,314)
(101) (121,829)
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. EXFRIBERE)

(Continved)
(a) Segment results (Continued) (a) 2EWHEE)
2023
2023 F
Power
Recycled fronsmission
copper  and distribution  Communication
products cables cables Total
BEWER RiEE BESE @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue AHEER
Sales o external customers SN EPEITHE 833,966 3,498 240 837,704
Infersegment soles NHEEE 6,747 - - 6,747
840,713 3,498 240 844,451
Reconciliation: #% -
Elimination of infersegment sales HEHBEHE 6.747)
Revenue e 837,704
Segment results PHEE (490,395 25,359) (1,105) (516,859)
Reconciliation: HE
Interest income FBYA 7,085 - - 7,085
Corporate and other unollocated ~ BEREMARAERX
expenses (52,713
Finance costs BB (240,100 (2,844) (37) (242,981)
Share of losses of associates FEEEERAER (299)
Loss before tax BAIER (805,767)
Other segment information it HER
Depreciation and amorisation TEREH [31,867) (9,328 (1) (47,196)
VAT refunds, government granfs BEREY  HITEDRER
and subsidies 44,337 - - 44,337
Impairment on advance payments R ERE IR RIE
fo suppliers (208,106] - - (208,1006)
Provision for doubtful debrs, net AEREFE (140,503 (688) [787) (141,978
[Provision] /reversal of provision FE(BE)/BORE
for inventories (3,117) 616 - (2,501
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. EXERIEERE)

(Continued)

(b) Geographic information (b) EZHEHR
The Group carries out its business operations in the PRC, AREBRPELEER - Bty
thus no separate geographical segment analysis based on B2IIREERERBMBE
the location of assets and the revenue and profit or loss are T B 5 BB bR D E AT ©
presented.

(c) Information about major customers ) EBEXEEFHESR
Revenue from each of the major customers, which KEMAEEZEBR 0% L
contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue, is set out MR EEEFPNEERNT
below:

2024 2023

2024 5 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T AR¥ETT

Recycled copper products segment BAREMDH

Customer A* P At 219,344 N /AT E F

Customer B ZFEB 63,076 252,998
# Customer A had less than 10% of the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 ’ BE2023F12A31BILEE - BRPAK

December 2023. AEBEEETR10%
8. REVENUE 8.

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFT

Revenue from contracts with customers BEAHEERE 468,036 837,704
Revenue from contracts with customers are mainly derived from BEFENEXETEaPHEENIE
manufacturing and sales of copper and related products in the ERMMABEMESL RREXRBT

PRC, of which the revenue was recognised at a point in time REmE X E R R

when goods were transferred.
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8. REVENUE (Continved) 8. BEH®)
The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows: BEREREXESHENAT
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Sales of recycled copper products HE B A REM 458,062 811,094
Sales of power transmission and HEXAEE
distribution cables iky4 3,498
Sales of communication cables HEBEEE 57 240
Sales of scrap materials SHEREZEM K 5,054 17,797
Others Hb 4,426 5,075
468,036 837,704
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BEFEHEEENSE

2024
2024 %

Power
Recycled fransmission
copper  and distribution ~ Communication
products cables cables Total
BEWER wEER BRES act
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARBTFR AR®TR

Sales of recycled copper producs HEBEWEM 458,062 458,062
Soles of power transmission and HERREE

distribufion cables - 437
Soles of communication cables HERREEE - 57
Sales of scrap materials HEBZIH 5,054 5,054
Others Hiw 4,426 4,426
Total revenue from contracts EFANELRLs

with customers 467,542 468,036
Timing of revenue recognifion EXRRANE

Goods fransferred af a point in fime REERERSEZER 467 542 468,036
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8. REVENUE (Continved) 8. EXEH®)
2023
2023%
Power
Recycled fransmission
copper  and distribution  Communication
producs cables cables Tolal
BEfER wEEE BEES @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT N S AEBTT
Soles of recycled copper products HEBEWEM 811,094 - - 811,094
Soles of power transmission and HERRESR
distribution cables - 3,498 - 3,498
Soles of communication cables HEBEES - - 240 240
Soles of scrap materiols HEEZNMH 17797 - - 17797
Others Eth 5075 - - 5,075
Total revenue from contracts with customers BEAK)& £ 5@ 833,966 3,498 240 837,704
Timing of revenue recognition EXERAGH
CGoods fransferred af @ point in fime REEARRSEZER 833,966 3,498 240 837,704

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is generally due within O to 3 months from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally

required.

HEEm

BRHEERINEMEFTEK - MR
BEBRXMNEBROEIMAREE -
IEPME - BEREERALMRK -
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9. OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES), GAIN/(LOSS), NET

9. HAMFWA(BAX) - k:E
(B18)

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
iz AR®T T AREFTT
VAT refunds BRERD
— Comprehensive utilisation —EFANBER
of resources (i) 24,382
— Others —HAth 37
Govermnment grants B4l B (i) 400
Govermnment subsidies BT #a BL 19,518
Interest income ) B2 U A 7,085
Foreign exchange differences, net  JFHMNEZFE (666)
Written-off of property, WiEE - BE M@
plant and equipment (69)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HE&EWIE - BE RFFEHH
plant and equipment (B1R), W= 119
Others Efb 1,223
52,029
Nofes: Bitat

(i The Group s entifled fo government grants for refunds of 30% for the year ended 31 December
2024 2023: 30%) of the net VAT paid/payable.

The Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation jointly issued a notice
concerning the “Catalogue on Products and Labour Services relating to Comprehensive
Utilisation of Resources Eligible for Concessions of Value-added Tax" (Cai Shui 2015 (No. 78))
[the “New VAT Policy’) on 12 June 2015, which replaced, amongst others, Cai Shui 2011 (No.
115) [the "Former VAT Policy")). Under the Former VAT Policy, certain subsidiaries of the Group
are entitled fo govemment grants for refunds of 50% of the net VAT paid/payable. The New
VAT Policy took effect on 1 July 2015. According fo the New VAT Policy, the applicable VAT
refunds for such subsidiaries are reduced from 50% to 30%.

(i) The amounts represent local govemnment grants received by operating subsidiaries of the Group
in the PRC for the purpose of providing immediate financial support to those subsidiaries for
general operating purposes with no future related costs. No specific conditions are required fo
mest in connection with these granfs.

[i) HE024F 12831 ALEE  AREERER
1B 30% (2023 < 30%) BN /B L ERF
A RBHERBTHEE ©

PHRHBREZRBRRER2015F6A12BHAE
HENMERGANAERNSBEERESEH)
MBA(F 5 2015(785%)) ([HEBERKEK]) &
B (ERaE) B 2011 (115%) (g ERK
R REMEERRR - AREETHERAE
BIRERS0%EH /B EERFEOERERR
FFHEE - FEERIRR2015F7 A1 BER - R
BHREERBE  ZEWNBLANERLEERER
LBl 50% M= 30% ©

(i) FZECEEARERTE 2 2 EMB LR KEmE
WHBRHED - EAHZENE RN HE
B AERAR-—REE MASELRRABK
A o BARERZSHITARRIEIT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

10. FA#E A A

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Inferest expenses in relation to: MEFBER :
— Bank and other borrowings —RITREMER 214,821 140,947
— Default fee —EHNER 135,963 123,531
— lease liabilities —HE8E 7 331
— Note payables —RNEE 3,264 2,979
— Bills payables — RN RE - 6,229
Guarantee fees and other charges EREAREMIKE - 3,643
354,055 277,660
11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. FRBE
This is sfafed at after charging/|(crediting) the following: BTy R (GEA)ATIER &5
N
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT
Cost of sales (Note] HERRA(KIEE) 498,765 Q49 599
Depreciation of property, M - BB RRETE
plant and equipment 31,635 37,688
Depreciation of rightofuse assets EREEENE 3,489 4,678
Research and development costs DI IDN 419 599
Auditor’s remuneration A GTE 2,100 1,800
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXNK(BHREZEME)
remuneration):
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances — e B4 N ERL 23,250 23,481
— Retirement benefit scheme — RURAERNET B
contributions 3,300 2,668
— Equitysetiled share-based payments — — ARG E 2 LAIRD A&
B e 1,044 2,403
27,594 28,552

Note: ~ Cost of sales includes RMB5,618,000 (2023: RMB16,284,000) relating fo staff costs, B aE -
depreciation and amortisation, and provision for inventories, net of approximately RMB nil (2023:
provision for inventories of RMB2,501,000), the amounts of which are also included in the

respecfive fofal amounts.

HEKABBREBTIRA FERBHERTERE
FEAWEMHARES,618,0007T(2023%F : ARY
16,284,0007T) * HBRHARBZT(2023F : 77
EREARE2501,000)  FASEMGHA
BRRER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 12. EERFETHRAETFHNRE
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS F
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Fees B 835 895
Other emoluments: H b REN -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEREYNE 4,976 4,787
Equity-settled share-based payments AR 8 5 2 PARR A0 AR ZL it
EOEREAN 71 172
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RO A ET B R 17 48
5,002
The emoluments of each director were as follows: ZEE T ¢
(@) The emoluments of each director are as follows: (a) BEZ=zMEwT :

2024
20245
Salaries, Retirement
allowances  Equity-settled benefit
and benefits ~ share-based scheme
Fees inkind  payments contributions Total
ge o RM 2UBRHR RIKEN
we REVANE EBRNGR  GHEMXR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTRT ARW®TR AR¥TRn

Executive directors BTES
Mr. Yu Jiangiu AR A 3,004 3,004
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson BMES K4 1,661 1,719
Ms. Zhu Yufen KERAZL 3N 508
Mr. Gao Qiang BREE - 167
Independent non-executive B FHTES

directors
Mr. Li Wei FELE
Mr. Fang Guanghua TRERE
Mr. Yu Rengzhong GIERL

Total et
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

(a)

12. EERFTETHAEHFMRE

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS /Continved) Mc#)
The emoluments of each director are as follows: (a) BES=zMEWT : (&)
(Continved)
2023
2023 F
Salaries, Refirement
allowances  Equitysefiled benefit
and benefits  sharebased scheme
Fees in kind paymenis  confributions Tolal
DR ALEE
e EM 2UkRGA RIEF
we REWAE  EROAR SRR @at
Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETE AR®ET:R
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Yu Jiangju AENEE - 2,883 - 32 2,915
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson B & 15 % & - 1,620 98 16 1734
Mr. Huang Weiping BEMELE fi 80 - - - 80
Ms. Zhu Yufen KEFL 163 284 74 - 521
Mr. Gao Qiang BRLE 163 - - - 163
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. i Wei FREE 163 - - - 163
Mr. Fang Guanghua HRERE 163 - - - 163
Mr. Yu Rengzhong RSt 163 - _ _ 163
Total st 895 4,787 172 48 5,002
Notes: Wi

Retired as an executive director on 30 June 2023.

(i) 1202356 A0 BRAEMITES -

127



128

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & M5 R ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 12.
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS /Continved)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the vear included three (2023: three] directors whose
emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The emoluments
of the remaining two (2023: two) individuals are set out

EERFETRABHFHRE

Aoz

(b) BEBREFHMAL
FRNRELARBHHALTRE=S
BHE(2023F : = &) - HFH
HEHN EXM () B TR
#(2023%F : MA)ZBHHA

below: THHMEIINT
ylopZ: 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Salaries, allowances and e RBREYAS
benefits in kind 1,425 1,332
Pension scheme contributions RREFT IR 70 16
Equity-setiled share-based payment IR A& H 2 LARR 19 7%
B3R 113 246
1,608 1,504
The emoluments fell within the following bands: & FLATEE :
2023
20234

Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000% 7T
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 BLE
1,500,000 % 7T
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS /Continved)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continved) (b)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company
or five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office (2023: nil). There was no arrangement under which a

director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Cerfain directors were granfed share options, in respect of
their services to the Group, under the share option scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in note

35 1o the consolidated financial statements.

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. EERFTETHAEHFMRE
M)

EEREHFMAL(E)

MRBE2024F12A31BIEF
B AEEXERANARESRN
TaEmFMALNME - 1F
RBEREFMANEE - SHER
AR E B 2 SR SR T (E
(20234 : &) - B E2024%F
12A31HIEFE  BEBEESEN
ZRREREREAHS AL H
(2023 : &) -

BEFE - REAQ BN ERE
AR ETESERHERAEERE
HA RS BAAE - E— P
BHNER A M BRI L3S ©

13. FRBHRAX

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Charge for the year

BRI — P B TS
FRHER

Deferred tax (note 33)

EFER A (M5 33)

2024 2023

2024 ¥ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT

75 13
(1,152) -
(1,077) 13
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE /Confinved)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before
fax at the statutory rates for the countries/regions in which the
Company and the maijority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense af the effective tax rates, are as follows:

13. I8 &)

RAAREREANE DM B QR EM
BBIR MR 2R TE B R AT E A BAT
B8 2 AR IR R S BIR IR KRG
HWHBERAS 2 BIRINT

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT
Loss before tax ATEE (653,539) (805,767)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREFTEHHIA (149,923) (179,158
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or R RE & 1 Skt 5 RA AR M 2
enacted by local authority BRH K 73 5,165
Profits and losses affributable to associates B & X R & (k4 £ K 548 53 49
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 381
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BEHBESANRIARRE (577)
Tax losses and deductible temporary e A HE R TR BT 18 [
differences not recognised AT E R =58 148,354 174,153
Income tax expense FriSfi 2 (1,077) 13

Pursuant fo the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"}, the Group is notf subject to any
income fax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the
Group did not have assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

The subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are subject fo income tax
at the rate of 25% (2023: 25%). In 2024, 1 subsidiary (2023: 3)
was given the New,/High Tech Enferprise Award and entitled fo a
tax concession of a lower income tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%),
and 9 subsidiaries [2023: 8) were in the western region of the
PRC that engages in the industries encouraged by the government
and entitled to a tax concession of a lower income tax rate of

15% (2023: 15%).

REREHELRBRLHS ([ RE
REESDORAILRN - AEEH
BHERSHELRRBRIBESHMNT
PSR ©

MR AEEREE2024F12 31
BIESFERNEEBLEELERTE
B WA ERBAFESHAIEEE
(20234 : &) -

REBER BB R R AEZ25%
(20234 : 25%) VL RGN FTIS TR ©
2024 4 - 18 (20234 « 3f) i BB
NEERTH SRR CERIEH
15% #) 8K BT 15 B¢ B R (2023 4 -
15%) MR EE - MO (2023 F -
8 8] ) Fff /&8 2~ A &R FE 78 AR 3 [5a Je 7 B B
I BBESR  XFH 15%BIEH
T E(2023F  15%) KW 5 &
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14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on PR B AR R #E B R T 5 BURA
the following: i
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Loss: BE
Loss attributable to owners of ARt EEREREEH
the Company for the purpose of RNAREE AFELEE
caleulating basic loss per share (652,462) (805,780)
2023
2023 F
Number of shares: RHHA :
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG EGREAREIEH
shares for the purpose of TR NRE T8
caleulating basic loss per share WY RIYMIAN  4,481,557,26]
Basic loss per share (RMB) BREAFR(ARY) (0.15) (0.18)
Diluted loss per share EREBEER
There was no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the Company’s NN Y () AR AT {5k B AR S SRR TE Y
outstanding share options, the diluted loss per share for the years BE T dmik - 8 E2024F k2023

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were the same as basic

loss per share.

15. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of any
dividend in respect of the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

FI2AVBLFEZEEREFER
HERAENERMER -

15. RS

EFUEEE2024%F & 20234F
1I2A3T1HILEFEEZREXTIRE
RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. 1% - BERRHE

Furniture,
Plantand fitfings and Motor  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BFE %E
BT BEREE SET - ERIE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AREBTRT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost A
1 January 2023 2023%1R1H 400,003 306,083 7,490 5,444 139,840 858,860
Additions hE - 8,053 45 5 - 8,103
Whitien-off L - - (18] - (66) (64)
Disposal RE (1,438 (23,022 (29 (584) (2,227 (27,296
As at 31 December 2023 W2023512A31R
and 1 Janvary 2024 k202451418 398,565 291,114 7,492 4,865 137,547 839,583
Addiions 5E - 420 635 - - 1,055
Disposal RE - 02 (1,141 1208 S 64
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512A318 398,565 291,242 6,986 4,657 137,547 838,997
Accumuloted depreciation R HERFE
and impairment
1 January 2023 2023%1R1H 173,632 221,894 6,580 4,529 4,009 410,644
Charge for the year FRMG 17,545 19,628 383 132 - 37,688
Wiittenoff ik - - (15) - - (15)
Disposal RE (1,438 (22,836 [25] [569) (2,212) (27,076
As ot 31 December 2023 20235 12R31 8
and 1 Janvary 2024 k2024517418 189,739 218,686 6,923 4,096 1,797 421,24
Charge for the year ERE 16,998 14,358 152 127 - 31,635
Disposal RE - (144) (836) (198) - (1,178
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512R31 8 206,737 232,900 6,239 4025 1,797 451,698
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512R318 191,828 58,342 747 632 135,750 387,299
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12R318 208,826 72428 569 769 135,750 418,342

At 31 December 2024, property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of RMB205,093,000 (2023: RMB223,345,000) was
pledged fo secure general banking and other facilities granted fo the
Group [see note 28).

20245 12A318 - BREEA A
ER#205,093,0007T(20234F - AR
% 223,345,000 L) MM - BB &
RIBOHEREE T AEE A —RIRTT
NEAEE (BT 28) FAEM -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continved)

At 31 December 2024, the Group has yet fo obtain property
ownership certificates for buildings with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB25,416,000 (2023: RMB27,548,000). The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
owned the beneficial tifle to these buildings as at 31 December

2024 and 2023.

At 31 December 2024, as a result of various litigations, buildings

with nef book value of approximately RMB 149,122,000 (2023:
RMB67,304,000) were seized pursuant fo various court orders
(note 37).

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At 31 December: M12A318:
Rightofuse assets EREEE

— Properties —%

— land-use-rights — L Hb{E A

At 31 December 2024, rightof-use assefs with an aggregate
carrying amount of RMB74,857,000 (2023: RMB84,164,000)
were pledged fo secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (see nofe 28).

16. % - WMERZE®)

2024512 A31 8 - REE# K
BEEE M A A R 25416,0007T
(20234 : AR ¥27,548,0007T )
MREDRESNEF A RE - ALF
EERR R2024F & 2023F 12
A3 8 AREEBRSRENNE
CEL R

20245128310 - ARNETZE
s - BREFEHARE 149,122,000
7t(2023% : A R #67,304,0007T )
W TFIRBEIB AR < K E (M
37) e

HERERAEEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
336

99,494

99,830

2024512 A31 B - ERAEEER
M #21E AR®K74,857,0007(2023
F: AR®B4,164,0007T) B 1EHE I
NERANEEERN—RIBITHE(R
BiEE28) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continved)

Depreciation of rightofuse assefs EREEEFEER
— Properties at7JE 3
— land-use-rights — b e AR
— Plant and machinery — R K tkEs
lease interests HERNE
Total cash outflow for leases HE®B SR

At 31 December 2024, as a result of various litigations, the right-
of-use assets of RMB4 1,051,000 (2023: RMB36,470,000)

were seized pursuant fo various court orders (note 37).

The Group leases various land-use-rights, land and buildings and
motor vehicles. lease agreements are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 20 years (2023: 2-20 years). lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

17. HEREREEE @)

2024 2023

2024 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®ET T
336 502

3,153 3,485

691

4,678

331

2,195

2024512 A31 H - ARNETTEZIA
A AR ®41,051,0007(2023
F: AR®36,470,000 7T )80 A #
BERREB A m<SmEE (M
37)

AEBEHEINE LM EMRE it
MEFRAE HEMRBETER2F
E205F W B E #BR(20234F : 24
E20%) - HEHRRZAERTT A&
E - W EA Z B AR A GRS R
HEBBETIREEFMOE  MEEER
ETSREERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REKE QAR
2024 2023
2024 ¥ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT

Unlisted investments: FELTIRE -

Share of net assets B FEE 46,484 46,807
The Group has the following associates as at 31 December 2024 12A31H XEBE U
2024. Y - VANCI

Principal place % of

Name of business ownership interests  Principal activities

=L FTELEME BiEFAEREZBE I FEER

Deda Holdings Limited BV 30% Investment holding

REERBR AT RERUES 30% REEK

Hong Kong Fuijian Invesiments Llimited ~ Hong Kong 30%  Investment holding

HEREREARAR i 30% REEK

Sichuan Baohe Fushan Resources The PRC 30%  Industrial park operation

Recycling Development Co., Lid. and development

)l B RNEILBEERFE ] 30% KENBERIXE

BERAF]
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of TRINRAEEEERE @R AEKXR
the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are REDEGENBERRNETH -

accounted for using the equity method.

2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
At 31 December: R128318:
Carrying amounts of interesfs R IREE 46,484 46,807
Year ended 31 December: BZ12B31HLEE:

Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAEXEEBEERE (323) (299)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continved)

At 31 December 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group's associates in the PRC denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”)
amounted to RMBQ,000 (2023: RMBS,000). Conversion of RMB

info foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange

19.

Control Regulafions.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

18. REF&E DRIV R (4)

2024 12A31H - REBEHH
B2 RNRIUARE(TARY DFHE
MEIRIT R BB R/ AREQ,0007T
(20234 : AR%Q,0007L) - AR
BRI BINEBZ P EARLME SN
B & Bl iR I AR PR o

19. AR - HtBRRER Kb

ASSETS BE
ylyZ 2023
2024 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - BB KR
equipment and land-use-rights T b {sE FRRETE L X 19,877 19,760
Current assets REBEE
Advance payments to suppliers A E R ROR 1,008,176 1,011,182
Impairment of advance payment fo A e R SR IRDRUE (B RE )
suppliers (nofe i) (1,008,176 (935,862)
- 75,320
Government grants receivable JFE LALIER TS #58 B 211,698 216,695
VAT input accrued R ETER 162,640 162,298
Other deposits and receivables H iz e KB IGRIE 42,731 53,671
Prepayment TR 142 225
47,211 508,209
437,088 527 969




Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M 55 8 R P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

ASSETS (Continved)

Note:

fi

The management of the Group makes impairment loss on advance payments fo suppliers based
on assessments of the recoverability of the advance payments to suppliers, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection/utilisation history of suppliers. The movement in provision
for impairment of advance payments fo suppliers is as follows:

19. AR - HBWRER Hid
BE#)

GEE

(i) AR I [ AR R A P R R B RO AT A
(BEREANRTERTIRRBELRE BB
SORBRAHEERRIFLRERSR - 2R HEEK
HRERBERNT :

2024 2023

2024 % 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT

Balance at beginning of year FNEH 935,862 727,756
Provision of impairment RERE 72,314 208,106
Bolance at end of year FREH 1,008,176 935,862

20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Raw materials A 37,433 50,983
Work in progress & m 1,639 1,677
Finished goods LR mn 136 11,237
Goods in fransit i8R 2 B - 639
39,208 64,536

At 31 December 2024, the Group's inventories with a carrying
amount of RMB26,583,000 (2023: RMB26,583,000) were
pledged as security for the Group's bank borrowings, as further
detailed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

As af 31 December 2024, as a result of various litigations, the

inventories of RMBnil (2023: RMB2,430,000) were seized

pursuant to various court orders [note 37).

2024512 A31 B - AEBERHEE
BN R 26,583,000 (2023 4 -
AR 26,583,000 L) FEEER
AEERITEROER  FREAY
Ty Rt 28 -

2024 12A318 - BRETE
HFTR - ARBZIT(2023F 1 AR
# 2,430,000 L) MFERRBEEZE
Pran < E (MEE37) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2. ESRBRIERERREE

Trade receivables B ERGIA
Provision for doubtful debts RIRFEE
Bills receivables U EE
Provision for doubtful debts REREE

Nofes:

(i) The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new cusiomers,
where payment in advance is nomally required. The credit period is generally O to 3 months.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict confrol over is
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over ifs trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-

interestbearing.

(i) As part of its normal business, the Group entered info a frade receivable factoring arrangement
[the “Factoring Arrangement”) and transferred certain frade receivables fo a financial insfitution.
Under the Factoring Arrangement, the Group is required to reimburse the bank for any loss,
including the loss arising in default of the trade debtors. Subsequent o the transfer, the Group
has retained the substantial risks and rewards of the trade receivables and accordingly, it
continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the trade receivables. Factoring loan s
recognised for any consideration received for the Factoring Arrangement. The carrying amount of
the assefs that the Group confinued fo recognise as at 31 December 2024 was RMB nil (2023:
RMB nil) and that of the associated liabilities as at 31 December 2024 was RMB507,000,000

[2023: RMB507,000,000).

(il

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥TT
407,808 419,017
(394,554) (317,130)
13,254 101,887
78,509 78,509
(78,509) (34,104)
44,405

146,292

AEEIBUEENAETPILBS KA
BEEBIHMBFEANR - GEH-RA0EIAE
A BEREPUREERERER - A&EN
KERAEHERKE YRR - TREEERHE
F UEBERECERR 2RERETHESE
Btk BV EREESRYRERI AL
MER R ERERER - 5 ERFAT
5.

i

ERAREBN -8 ARETU-REHEN
REREZH(RERS))  YRETEREYK
FOREETLREE - RERERYE  AREAR
BOHEEAER REEZIEBARNELNE
B #EE FEEERBEZRETENEXRE
BEER Al BEERZESRIGIRNZE
REE - pREZFRBMOEARE#RDARE
ER - AEEN2024F 12831 AEERRNE
EREEAARKTIL(2023% : ARKEL) M
ERAER2024F12A31 ANEAERARY
507,000,0007t(2023% = A & # 507,000,000
L) e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continved) 2. ESEWFEREREE#)
The aging analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on the B 5 RWHIE R KRR DT
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: (ERBEZA W IMBREE) T

2024 2023

2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR¥ETT

Within 30 days 30K/ 26,275
31 to 60 days 31 260K -
61 to 180 days 61 2180K 584
Over 180 days #8iE 180K 119,433
146,292
The movement in provision for impairment of trade and bills B RRFIENEKREEBRER B
receivables is as follows: BT
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Balance at beginning of year FHEER 351,234 281,560
Provision for bad debts, net EIREE - F 121,829 141,978
Written off of trade receivables B E 5 W GRIE - (72,304)

Balance at end of year FREH 473,063 351,234
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES /Continved) 2. EZRRREREWRE#)
The Group applies the simplified approach under IFRS @ 1o 7N 5= B BR A AR 92 B R B 7 o o5 R R 5B
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss OSREVEL AR E U FRIA® A
provision for frade receivables. To measure the expected credit %%ﬁi‘ﬁ,ﬁﬁ@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ c RETBREEE
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared EFE - ERKFIBERARGEER
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected RRFBLBHXE A - RHEEES
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information. TE MEZREER -

Past due
at:i
1 days fo 2to bto Over
Current  2months 6 months  12months 12 months Total
10Z 2% 6% ikl

0 28R 6f8A 12848 1288 EH

At 31 December 2024 R2024%12R 318
Weighted average expected MEFIRSERE
loss rate Y 42.3% 53.2% 99.8% 96.7%
Receivable amount RMB'000]  EWFB(ARETT) 705 25,955 381,145 407,808
Loss allowance [RMB'000) BREEARETL) 298 13,800 380,456 394,554
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12F 318
Weighted average expected MEFIRSERE
loss rate 4.7% 17.8% 36.5% 62.6% 87.8% 757%
Receivable amount [RMB'000) UGB ARETFTL) 25,847 1,993 896 109,263 281,018 419,017
loss allowance [RMB'000) EREGEARETT) 1,211 354 327 68,44 246,797 317,130
22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES 22. U FEA B A TR
The amounts due from/to associates are unsecured, interestfree JEHQ/JEH%%%@ NI AEEAE
and are repayable on demand. TET B R BEREREE -
23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED PARTIES 23. FEUWFE{TEREE 5 FOE
The amounts due from/to related parties are unsecured, interest- FEUY FERT BAEE 5 s B A R

free and are repayable on demand. TR NERERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

24, BERREFERBAUREE

HER
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

3,613 18,327
32,262 32,262

35,875 50,589

Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHERR
Pledged deposits [REGREEERN

Pledged deposits: EHEMER

— Deposits with guarantee companies ~ —RERAFIMRE
— Deposits with other companies —REMARNRESR

1,825 1,825
30,437 30,437

32,262 32,262

Pledged deposits were placed with other companies and
guarantee companies for the purpose of obtaining bank loans
of RMB41,500,000 (2023: RMB41,500,000), which were
secured by the property, plant and equipment of such companies
(see note 28).

At 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi [“RMB”)
amounted to RMB35,780,000 (2023: RMB50,488,000).
Conversion of RMB info foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

LS IRTTE R A R® 41,500,000
TT(20234F : AR¥ 41,500,000 7T)
MR E R A M ER A R R E
T AXERARNYE - BB L&
IR (LHIEE28) ©

20245 12A318 - K & B N
ARBTARB D ENREZ R
ReFEEABARCERERB/A
R#35780,0007T(2023% : AR
#50,488,0007T) - AR LR HIN
MAXPEARKLMBEIMNEE B &P
AR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continved)
At 31 December 2024, as a result of various litigations, the
bank accounts with balances of RMB2,756,000 (2023:

RMB4,507,000) were frozen pursuant to various court orders (nofe

37).

25. TRADE PAYABLES

24, BERREFERBAUREE

25.

HER@E)

2024 12H318 - BB RN % 18
A BB ARE2,7560007T
(20234 : AR#4,507,0007T) #)
RITRPERBZ R AB i< R
(BFsE37) -

B 5 ENE

2024 2023

2024 ¥ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARETT

Trade payables B 5 RN

789,288 /89,709

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of
receipt of goods, is as follows:

BIEREBE 85 EMRIENER
DT -

2024 2023

2024 ¥ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARETT

Within 30 days 30K

31 to 60 days 31 260K

61 1o 180 days 61 180K
Over 180 days i@ 180K

144 14,561
81 -
83 39
788,980 775,109

789,288 /89,709

The trade payables are non-interested bearing and are normally
seffled on 30-days ferms.

BHENFIATE  BEIRI0KM
HIRGEHE -



26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

Salaries, wages, bonus and
other accrued benefits

Payables for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment

VAT payable

Other taxes payable

Confract liabilities

Inferest payables

Others

Default fee payables

Note:

(a) Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities — advances
received from customers

26. HttENRERETER

Revenue recognised in the year that was

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P aE ARET T AR®ET T
e IE - 4Rk
Hfth fE 518 51 44,816 38,022
BEWE  WELERBEN
FETRIR 23,160 22,487
FEfTIGET 902,329 209,843
H fth pE T 318 75,400 74,648
AHEE (a) 370,486 392,002
FEA B 590,776 375,784
H 247,170 233,104
EELHER 384,625 244 935
2,638,762 2,291,725
BieE
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
#2024 5 R 2023 F #2023 F
12A318 12A31H 1TA1H
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFT ARBFT
AHBE-RNEPKERMZHR
370,186 392,002 238,278
2024 2023
2024 & 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFT
RED NG N EE 2 FRER R E
238,278

included in confract liabilities ot beginning of year 392,002

143



144

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & M5 R ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continved)

Note: (Continved)
(a) Contract liabilities (Continved)

Transaction prices allocated fo performance obligations unsatisfied af end of year and expected
fo be recognised as revenue in:

26. HittEN IR R ETER(#)

GERNE)
() ARERE)

RERDEERERBHEELARRNATFREHE

2024 2024 %
2025 20254

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year:

Increase due fo operafions in the year FREGEMLM
Transfer of contract liabilifies to revenue BREANAEERE

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation fo transfer products to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

27. NOTE PAYABLES

REMEZZHE -
2024 2023
2024 2023%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR AREFT
- 392,002
370,486 -
370,486 392,002
FRNENEEEREE
2024 2023
20245 2023%
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFT
422,368 542,307
443,884 (388,603)

AHEEEASOREREFPRE(IRESRT
B)MABRERTEPZEAL

27. ENRE

2024 2023

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥ETT

Note payables, at amortised cost RS ARG E R E iR 24,373 23,922

The nofe payables with an aggregate principal amount of HK$
26,320,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB24,373,000)
(2023: HK$26,320,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB23,922,000)) are unsecured, interestbearing ot 12% to 13%
(2023:12% to 13%) per annum and overdue (2023: one year).

JERT RIEAR & 4258 26,320,00078 7T
(HZERLH ARM®24,373,0007T )
(2023 % : 26,320,000% 7(H %
RAAREE23,922,0007)) BEE
1 12% %2 13%(20234F : 12% %
13%) B9 M| &5 B3 2 B HA (2023
F:—%)-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. FTESRITRHEMMER
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Current B A
Bank loans — secured RITER—FER 252,330 244,328
Bank loans — unsecured IRITE R — EE 5,000 5,000
Other borrowings — secured E &R — 108,160 108,160
Other borrowings — unsecured and HOh 8 R — M R R
unguaranteed 463,414 457 405
Factoring loan — secured RIEEH—HEKIF 507,000 507,000
Entrusted loans — secured ZEER—FIEKTF 306,097 306,107
1,642,001 1,628,000
The borrowings are repayable as follows: f&RZEIRIA TR EIEE -
On demand or within one year BERHE—FR 1,642,001 1,628,000
2023
2023 F
The average inferest rates at W12 A 31 BEFERERAT -
31 December were as follows:
Bank loans — secured RITER—FHEM 7.44%
Bank loans — unsecured IRITE R — EIK 3.85%
Other borrowings — secured HER— B EM 6.00%
Other borrowings — unsecured H &5 — A N EAE R
and unguaranteed 7.12%
Factoring loan — secured REER—HBEKH 7.30%
Entrusted loans — secured ZEER—EEH 9.92%
All 'bank and other borrowing of RMB1,642,001,000 (2023: fMAERTREREMHLERARE
RMB1,628,000,000) are arranged at fixed interest rates and 1,642,001,00078(2023F : A R
expose the Group fo fair value inferest rate risk. #1,628,000,000 7T ) LA @ E F & 5t

BRSAEERE X FENERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continved)

Notes:

fa)

(ol

Certain of the Group's interestbearing bank and other borrowings are secured by:

(i morigages over the Group's property, plant and equipment, which had an aggregate
carrying value at the end of the reporfing period of RMB205,093,000 (2023:
RMB223,345,000);

(il morigages over the Group's land-use-rights, which had an aggregate carrying
value at the end of the reporting period of approximately RMB74,857,000 (2023:
RMB84,164,000);

(i) the pledge of inventories amounting to RMB26,583,000 (2023: RMB26,583,000);

(iv) the pledge of the Group's time deposits with guarantee companies and other
companies amounting fo approximately RMB32,262,000 (2023: RMB32,262,000);

v) the pledge of 310,317,000 ordinary shares [2023: 310,317,000 ordinary shares)
in the Company held by Mr. Huang Weiping, shareholder of the Group, representing
6.92% (2023: 6.92%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2024,

vi) At 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB12,000,000 (2023: RMB12,000,000)
were secured by property, plant and equipment of Sichuan Gushan Vegetable Fat
Chemistry Co., lid ("Gushan Vegetable"), a private company controlled by Mr. Yu
Jiangiu; and

[vii] At 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB47,000,000 (2023: RMB47,000,000)
were secured by property, plant and equipment of Mianyang Boohe Jiohao Waste
Material Recycling Co., ltd. [“Bache Jiahao']. An associate of the Group has 20%
equity inferests in Baohe Jiahao.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had defaulied on the repayment of inferestbearing
bank and other borrowings amounted to approximately RMB1,630,001,000 (2023:
RMBT,548,000,000).

28. &

Uk

(a)

(o]

RITRE MG (4#)

AEBETHERTRAMETAUTEEER
b

(i) AEENE  BERRENER RES
HMROEREEAHARY 205,093,000
(2023 % : AR¥223,345,0007T) :

(if) ARELHERAEOER RBESHR
MEFEHEARNARE4,857,0007T
(2023% : AR¥84,164,0007T) :

(iii) FERMERB AR K2,583000T
(2023% : AR¥26,583,0007) :

v FEERERAAREBRAREN
AR #32,262,0007(2023F : AR
32,262,000 70) E BT SRRV IR

v) AEERREBFEEABENLD
A310,317,0008 & @ MR(2023%F :
310,317,000 B & @A) A - ZERA
HERARDAR2024F12 A31 BE#T
IR 6.92% (2023 F : 6.92%)

[vi] R2024%612R318 R 7 B R A
R #12,000,0007T(2023% : A R %
12,000,000 72)) a9 Il & 12 R (L 2R R
AR(TEZME D (—RhaRREEmE
HIAARA) ZME - BERREER
3

[vii] R2024612R318 R 7 B R A
R %47,000,00070(2023% : A R %
47,000,000 BB RMEEEENE
R ERAR(RMEEDZDE  BE

RFBER - AREOBEATEERN
5 20% MR -

R2024512A31 A AEEREEELED
REANRE1,630,001,0007C(2023F : AR
1,548,000,000 7T ) 05t 8 3R17 R EMAE S -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

i & M 55 8 R P 5

29. AR ES

The Huarong
CBs

R

CIE: ¢
RMB'000
AREFTT
(note a)

(Bf5Ea)

As at T January 2023

M2023F 1 A

1H

Reclassification to other borrowing
and other payables

EXHBRER

231,720

8 R e EL At & A5 FROR

(231,720)

As at 31 December 2023,1 January 2024 and

31 December 2024

F2023F 12 H31 8 »

2024F 1 A1 BR20245F 12831 H -

Notes:

On 11 August 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds (the “Huarong CBs') with an
principal amount of HK$400,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB340,944,000) at

face value to China Huarong International Holdings Limited (“Huarong”).

The Huarong CBs carry 8% coupon inferest per annum payable in arrears quarterly. Unless
redeemed or repurchased early, the original maturity date of the Huarong CBs is the second
anniversary of the issue date (the "Maturity Date”]. If the Huarong CBs are not fully converted
before the Maturity Date, the Company will redeem all the outstanding convertible bonds at
nominal value plus the interest accrued but unpaid to Huarong.

Huarong has the right fo convert the principal amount of the Huarong CBs info ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each of the Company on any business day from the issue date up fo and including
the Maturity Date ot an initial conversion price of HK$3.0 per share but subject to adjustments ot
any fime during the term of the Huarong CBs, subject fo the minimum public float requirement.

If the average closing share price of the Company during any six consecutive months within the
period commencing from the issue date fo the Maturity Date has never, af any point of fime,
reached or exceeded the conversion price of the Huarong CBs, the Company shall, upon
redemption of the Huarong CBs amounting fo HK$400,000,000, compensate Huarong in cash
so that the Huarong CBs is guaranteed an annualised return of 12% for the period commencing
from the issue date fo the date of redemption.

B

(a)

R2017E8R1NE AR AZRHAELE R
400,000,000 % 7T (18 & 149 AR % 340,944,000
) EERERERARAR(#R]) BT’
BefE s (=R AR ES )

ERTAREFREFRANRLHE  BFEX
- BRFRFBOLED  ERUTARESRIH
AABTHEE-_REFA(IHA]) - WERTSR
BEFREBANAERREL  ARFKEREAE
BEMRAMAEENTRRESSNEFERT T
ERAFIE

ERAARASFANENESRE  EREENET
HREEREAEINBANZEMERBUNT A
BERIOBT(AITAR)HERITAREFNOA
SEBARALRABRAEO N ETHOL AR - 1§
DRFHERTERRERK -

WARF RN KRBT BEDH B HEEM
BEAEARNEARROTORTERGREE
ZERTRREFLBESIAL  AARAFERD
400,000,000 B T E R ATARESE - BUREH
AMEER UREERTRRESFNETRHEE
BRI REEG 1 2% F DR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS /Continved)

Notes: (Confinved

[al

(Continved)

The Group had defaulied in its repayment of the Huarong CBs which had matured on 11
August 2019. On 22 April 2020, the Company and Huarong entered into the extension
deed [the "Huarong Extension Deed") fo extend the original maturity date on 11 August 2019
of the converfible bonds [the “Extended Huarong CBs’) with a remaining principal amount of
HK$390,000,000 for one year to 11 August 2020. Pursuant fo the Huarong Extension Deed,
the Company and Huarong have agreed to the following amendments:

- Huarong has the righl to request for eor\y redempﬁon of oulstondmg amount of the
Extended Huarong CBs, provided that the aggregate nominal value of the Extended
Huarong CBs fo be redeemed shall not exceed HK$ 190,000,000, and the Company
shall redeem at nominal value of the requested redemption amount [plus any accrued
but unpaid inferests and default interest (if applicable and if any)).

- The Extended Huarong CBs bear interest af the rate of 12% per annum from and
including 12 August 2019 payable quarterly in arrear.

The effective date of the Huarong Extension Deed was 7 May 2020.

On 11 August 2020, the Group defaulied on the Extended Huarong CBs.

On 31 December 2021, the Company and Huarong entered into the Huarong Subscription
Agreement, pursuant fo which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue and Huarong
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 500,000,000 Shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.465 per subscription share. Upon complefion, the subscription consideration shall be
set off against the equivalent amount of the outstanding principal amount and accrued interests
amounted to HK$232,500,000 under the Huarong CBs on a dollarfor-dollar basis and the
maturity date of the remaining portion of the outstanding principal amount and accrued interests
amounted fo approximately HK$239,530,000 under the Huarong CBs shall be extended fo 31
December 2022, pursuant fo an amendment deed signed on 31 December 2021.

On 24 February 2022, 500,000,000 subscription shares in aggregate were allotted and
issued fo Huarong at the subscription price of HK$0.465 per subscription share pursuant fo the
ferms of the Huarong Subscription Agreement.

The amendments were completed on 31 March 2022 pursuant fo the ferms and condifions of
the Huarong Subscription Agreement. Following the complefion of the amendments, the Huarong
Maturity Date was extended o 31 December 2022 af the inferest rafe of 6% per annum.

On 31 December 2022, the Group defaulied on the Extended Huarong CBs.

In 2023, the Huarong CBs has been reclassified to other borrowing with the default interest rate
on the overdue amount from the due date up fo the date of actual payment at 0.03% per day in
accordance with the agreement of the Huarong Subscription Agreement.

Up to the date of this report, the Company and Huarong are sfill negotiating on further
arrangement.

29. MRRES &)

Bt :

[a)

(#)
(#)

ARBREEER2019F8A T BIANER
AR ES - R2020F4 4228 AAFRAE
BAVERZB(ERIEHZE]) BALER
§?3QOOOOOOO/§EE’J§HQTT@W HFHRE J

H2019F8A 11 BIER—FF2020F8A 11
(Hﬁﬁiaﬂ—l BefEz]) - RIBFRTHRE $
DRHEERRABUATET

- ERERRERELEHERTARESN
AEESE ARRHTELMNTHER
AR ES LEE TR 190,000,000 %
L RARRIEREEERZROELDS
BN EEFERSFSRENT S (NE
BARWA)) -

- EHERTHRREFREMNRI12%5E
B(RBE)2019F8 B 12 BGEENM -

ZERICHARBHEMAER2020F5878 ¢

202068 A 1
]k ES o

18 AEEREEETHERT

R2021 128318 ARAEERTLERR
Bz Bl ARABEREABHITRERD
BEHRAERAEESRBERD O AéS?%ﬁE%ﬂ%
500,000,000 Bz 7 » RIERM 4 - EREE
BEERHERTRRESTAE izﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁgﬁ
FB 2 &% 232,500,000/ * MERAARESR
T$1§3§$$§E&%§ﬁw%%@239,530,000?%7_52
Mg 2588 HRERN2021 EIQHSW 5]
xquE’J FIRBERE 202251231

R2022%2R 248
NEREERRR IR
0465 BTRERHET -

a ,\SOO 000,000 % 2 1 i
ERiTRBEERRERN

AR TEE@OQQ&MQ JERBERRBGA
BRI o BRI KR - ERBHRER
£2022%12R31 El FRRRO%

R2022F 12831 AEEREER
AR ES

EHER

%2023¢ ERUAREFDENDEEZHBE
BREERZBBENGE  ARFABIHA
ii AR B B RO IO E B R 0.03%

HEAREAS A2
EITRER o

RNERE-SRH
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

Within one year
In the second o fifth years,
inclusive

—FR
RE-_EFLF
(BREEMF)

less: Future finance charges

B ARBEER

Present value of
lease obligations

HEEENRE

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 month [shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for sefflement
ofter 12 months

B RI12{EAR

CACEIEELGN
mBEEET

BR)

1218 A REEB

VIR
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30. HEAE

Present value of lease

Lease payments payments

HEMR HENRERE

2024

2024 5
RMB’000
AR®ETR

At 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing rate
was 3.25% to 4.76% (2023: 3.25% to 4.76%). Interest rates are
fixed af the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value

inferest rate risk.

2023 2024 2023
2023 F 2024 % 2023 F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT PNLAPN ARETT

2024 12A310 - FHERE
RN ER3.25%F 4.76% (2023 F -
3.25%FE4.76%) - XK AK A H
B AEBEFEIRAR D FENE
[\ o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

31. AMOUNTS DUE TO A DIRECTOR 31. ERESRIE
The amounts due to a director is unsecured, inferest bearing at ENEERERBERM  REMNE
12% per annum and is repayable on demand. 12%5t 8 WRIREKERE -
32. DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS 32. IEEH T BN
The amount represents government grants received from the % R VE AR U B 2R B 0 R A B IR RO R
Provincial Finance Bureau, Hunan Province. These government FI#Bh o 225 BN 8 Bh 5 & EE AR K
grants are assets related and are amortised over the useful life of REMEENERFHANE 201457
the related assets, which is ten years since July 2014. AREEH 10 F s -
33. DEFERRED TAX 33. IR IE
Depreciation/
amortisation
allowances in
excess
of related
depreciation/
amortisation Total
BHAER
WERE B
BEHiE
Wi et
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 #2023 1 A1 H » 20234

and 1 January 2024 12 A31H R
202451 A1 H (1,152) (1,152)
Charge to profit or loss for the year MR FRNEBR 1,152 1,152

At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31 H - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

DEFERRED TAX (Continved)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after

offset) for consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

33. IEAEBL IR ()

AT Bt &R G M ISR R T A B R IE
IR &R (RIH1R ) DA

Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR¥ETT
(1,152

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses
of RMB1,275,103,000 (2023: RMB884,652,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses (2023: RMBnil) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Unrecognised fax losses
are losses of RMB1,260,007,000 (2023: RMB884,652,000)
that will expire in 2029 (2023: 2028).

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries and associates for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised is RMB78,999,000 (2023:
RMB162,063,000). No liability has been recognised in respect
of these differences because the Group is in a position to control
the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

RBEBRR AEBERFERM
B E B AR ®1,275103,0007T
(20234 : AR%884,652,0007T)
A] B DA 85 R 2ROE B o B A R 2R A
HEREMTAEANYE - K ZEE
(2023F : A\RBEZL)ERELER
HEE - AERRESEREAREK
1,260,007,0007T(20234F : A B
884,652,000t ) &5 18 #5 7 2029
F (20234 : 2028 ) FIH -

RBEHRR BRERELCHER
BEOHEB AR REZE QR RKER
MERNEREZRABRARYE
78,999,000 L(2023F : A B %
162,063,0007T) - BE B BN ZF
ZREWER  THERAEBEARENE
HEBOEREEZENRERZEFZEARN
A RS R A ge N R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. R
Number of
shares RMB'000
RHEE ARBT T
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B0 BT E R
At 1 January 2023, 31 December B2023F 1A 18 - 20234F
2023, 1 January 2024 and 12A318 2024541 A1H
31 December 2024 K 2024912 A31H 100,000,000,000 8,071,000
Issued and fully paid: CRTREHRE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B0 B TH R
At 1 January 2023, 31 December MW2023F1A1H 20234
2023, 1 January 2024 and 12A318 202451 81H
31 December 2024 N 2024%12A31H 4,481,557,261 363,611

35.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are fo safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and fo
maximise the return fo the shareholders through the optfimisation of
the debt and equity balance.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Eligible participants include director or employee
of the Group and any other person (including a consultant or
advisor) who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed
or will contribute to the Group. The Company has a share option
scheme which was adopted on 28 January 2014 and has come
info effect upon the Company's listing on 21 February 2014 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date. The Scheme expired during the year and
no further share option scheme has been effect.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of shares
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

35.

AEEREREANBRARELE
FEEENRENFRBBIER R
R AR ERRERRE AL

AR A0 B E R K

RRARRABBBE S ([%ETE])
EERAERZEERMERH MR
B AEERSHARRWER - &
RERZ2EEREASEEENER
REZEzRERNBERASEHIGHH A
SEELERNEMEMAL(BEE
—HZER) - N2EEBRETER
2014F 1 A28 R - W X2014
F2A21 AARRR EHEFAER - BRIE
SBEEUHRE N - BRER 8K 8%
BEERISERAH10F - ZAt3E
P A e B B4 R A AT 8 A
X e

BRI RIBZT IR B Z R1TEBK
BHE TN SEBEZSHEETERAN
NANE B BITRGD 2 10% « RAEM
TEAMRE - ZAHETAERS
HERBERENERTZRNEA
NEEBARREFARIRE ZETRND
Z 1% o E— R TR H U R 2 B
RAERREBRRAS LHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continved)

Share options granted fo a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject fo approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share opfions granfed fo a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares af the date of
the grant] in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders” approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$ 1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences affer a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not lafer than five years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry dafe of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company's shares on the date of
the offer of the share options; |ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company's shares for the five frading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and {iii) the nominal
value of the Company's shares on the date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder fo dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

35. LRI RERBNNRE)

AEEE ARFAETETHRABRE
ERFRABREZEMBEALRT
BREEELISELIFNTESL
JE e BEAN o W E PMER + — {8 A
B RYAQRAETERRIIBLIEH
TEFIWEZEZEMBEALZ
BIRERE LR R ERRFIRD ETR
20 1%HBAEREREBBAR
Al ERETE)BES00E BT
AASERAERRAS EEUSBRELE ©

AR AR L BB 30 BRRE
EREMER 2 BIE  WARER
REXEH I BT zBEZRE - BR
RZTEHPHESRE ANRX R
EH&FLG - B8R EBERESRZE
AR D FAREERE)
Bk e

BREZTEERESETE - ETSE
ERTII&ESE () AR BN EK
2L B RN Z W IE (i) &
RABRMREERZHANABER S B
KB P2 SFIRTE + R (ill) A
AN BHE S 2EE -

BERELTETEREADZERER
RERKE EREZ R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continved)

Defails of the specific categories of options are as follows:

35. LRI RERBNNRE)

BRI AEOBFBEWT

Exercise price

Tranche Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period HK$
TEE
#tx REBEH FEH 1TEHR BT
Options granted to executive directors and employees
RTQTESRESNBRE
A 7 May 2015 One third on the first anniversary, 10 years 1.68
one third on the second
anniversary, and the remaining
on the third anniversary of
the grant
2015 5A7H =R —RERENE—BF 104
=P REZBFR
HHBMNE=ZRF
B 31 May 2016 Same as above 10 years 3.66
MR2016F5H31 H il 104




Annual Report 2024 & —Z —FUF 3R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & M 55 8 R P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continved) 35. IR RERAN R

Exercise price

Tranche Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period HK$
TEE

#tx REBEH FEH TR BT

Options granted to certain eligible participants

BRTETaERSRENBRE

C  On 12 December 2017 On 31 March 2019, subject to 6.3 years 3.7
the grantees achieving the pre-
determined performance
farget for the period from
1 December 2017 to
31 December 2018 and
the grantees remaining as
eligible persons ot the date
of vesting

2017 12H12H 201943 A31 8 - 6.3%F

HEARR AZRTERIR 2017 &
12A1BZE2018%F
12 A 31 BMEE
FEEAREARARGE
HER AABERAL

D On 14 December 2021 One third on the first anniversary, 10 years 0.465
one third on the second
anniversary, and the remaining
on the third anniversary of
the grant

202112 14H =2 REREHNE—BEF - 104

=N REZBFR
HBRE=ZBF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS /Continued) 35. MR AERNSTRE)
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group. EE—BEREMAASE - HBRERNH
FR °
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as FARMAITEBREFBOT
follows:
2024 2023
2024 2023 #F
Weighted Weighted
Number of  average NUulYSEe average
share  exercise share exercise
options price options price
BiE EFH BiiE TS
B TEE 2R 171E(8
‘000 HK$ ‘000 HK$
TR BT TR BT
Outstanding af the beginning REREITE
of the year 141,883 WYAOR 149,483 0.68
lapsed /forfeited during the year FRERW LT (2,083) (0.47) (7,600) (0.47)
Outstanding at the end of the year ~ RRERAKRETTE 139,800 VR 141,883 0.70
Exercisable af the end of the year ~ RAFARFA] F1T{E 139,800 Wy 103,858 0.81
The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted PSR 18 AR 1T B A A 2 I P 19 £
average remaining confractual life of 6 years (2023: 7 years| TEHOFHROF(2023F : 7F) -
and the exercise prices range from HK$0.465 to HK$3.7 (2023: MITEER N F 04658 TLE 3.7 B

HK$0.465 to HK$3.7). TT(20234F : 0.465BTTEI.7BIT) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

RESERVE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial

statements.

(i)

i)

i)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the Company and cerfain subsidiaries with
functional currency other than Renminbi. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in nofe
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises mainly capital contributions
from shareholders in respect of the contingent considerations
for the acquisition of Jinxin and Xiangbei in November 2010
and August 2011 amounted to RMB33,226,000 and RMB
11, 555, 000 respectively borne by the shareholders and
deemed capifal contribution of RMB77,700,000 being the
amount due fo the shareholders waived by the shareholders

on 31 December 2012.

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Llaw of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Llaw of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account of the Company are distributable
to shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of the business.

36. f#1H
REBNAEERBEFEORES

BREDRGANHRENGA #3
BE% 27 -

(i)

(iii)

BE 5 R

EXFEERBRELIFAARE
RUMEEE AR RE KA TH B
N A B 7% R P EE AR RO PR S
KEZ8 - ZRBIRBEEVER
RMFEAFTEM SR BREIE -

BB
BRGEHEEBERERR
2010 11 B K 201148 B Ik
BRI R ARE(S B
AAR 33,226,000 7 R AR
#11,555,0007C © H MR R A&
F)EE  LARBER 20124
12831 BERENBRHREA
R¥77,700,0007T + E81EE
& o

MR AD B

BaERNEREHASES R
AEEE RERNSHELTA
E o ARBEIBRMDEERNERA
DIRFARBIBER - HEBEER
DIKBEZ BIE - ARBIABRE
N BAEREBIETBEIHE
& o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

36. RESERVE (Continved)

(iv)

(v)

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise
Law applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to make appropriations to the
Statutory Reserve Fund (the “SRF”). At least 10% of the after
fax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable
PRC accounting standards and regulations must be allocated
to the SRF until the cumulative total of the SRF reaches 50%
of the subsidiaries” registered capital. Subject to approval
from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used fo
offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The SRF is not available for
dividend distribution to shareholders.

Share-based payment reserve

Share-based payment reserve represents the portion of the
fair value of unexercised share options granted to employees
of the Group at grant date that has been recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
setiled share option expense in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The amount will either be transferred fo the share premium
account when the option is exercised, or be released directly
fo refained profits if the option is lapsed or forfeited.

36. #EE)

(iv)

(v)

EERE
RIEFEERNTEMBRRNINE
2% ZEWBRRARRE
EERFBR(DEERBES D - R
FEAN T B R KOER AT
BEMBRBRREFEED 10% 0
BANEBELERHEE  EEATE
T R AR EDZEM
B R BIFEMEAH 50% - &KLAER
FEBEHER  XERHBEEA
PR 85 2 7] R 5t 5 B S8 A%
FHBABINEMER  JAE
w2 A ARABRRELRES
I e

URAD R BRI

ARy AER R REE R
TARKERE MARITENBEIRAE
RELBEHH R TERD - 7L
FEDERRESMBRRM T4
Lt A B B R S TR A A
SRR o

2% B P BRI 1T (RS 9
E | R TS
S D - B EEEEERD %
7 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 {2 20244 1231 H1FF/&

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the Group was in progress of various legal litigations relating to
bank and other borrowings and trade and other payables. As
a result of these litigations, various bank accounts were frozen
and various properties, right-of-use assets and inventories were
seized. The amount of aforesaid relevant bank balance, property,
plant and equipment, rightofuse assets and inventories as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are stated as follows:

As at 31 December
®m12H831H

37. AAREE

RILEGAEMBHRERAY  AEEZ
RERITMEMEKIALE B RAR
TR Ko Ho A FE 5 R IB AR BE RO R R B RA D
FH#ET - mRARGFL - B TRITR
FHRRE ETHE ERAEEER
FEHE - R2024F k20234

RITREER

Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB KRB
Rightof-use assets EREEE
Inventories e

Bank balance

Save for the above-mentioned litigations, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

12A31H - BB RITAER - D
X BELREG HRABEENTFE
BT
2024 2023
2024 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
2,756 4,507
149,122 67,304
41,051 36,470
= 2,430
192,929 110,711
Fr bt 3F sA 90 - 72024 4F [ 2023

F12A31 8 AEERELMAEX
HRAME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EAREIE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Contracted but provided for: BETHEBEBE -
— Property, plant and equipment —W%E - BB MRE 13,242 13,242
— land-use-rights — bl RAE 12,545 12,545
25,787 25,787
39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BHE RS
(@) In oddition to those related party transactions and balances (a) BRRERE M BEHRREAD D HWE
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, RIREES 5 X B R AEsRIN - REE
the Group had the following material transactions with its MAFEEBEM IS A TER
related parties during the year: R5
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P 5 AR®T ARBTT
Delivery cost charged by HESERYREZXER
Mianyang Jin Xunhuan NEl(—HElaEREE
Logistic Delivery Limited, RPN FLARR])

a private company controlled PATUCER 89 B2 AN B
by a daughter of Mr. Yu Jiangiu (i)

2,984




39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS /Continved)
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Notes:

The delivery cost is charged at a rate ranging from RMB28 o RMB68O per fon [2023:
RMB28 o RMB68O per fon).

Other related party fransactions:

(i

(i)

Entrusted loans of RMB299,116,000 (2023:
RMB299,116,000] were secured by an aggregate
amount of 310,317,000 ordinary shares (2023:
310,317,000 ordinary shares) in the Company
held by Ocean Through Limited, First Harvest Global
Limited and Gold Wide Enterprises Limited, which are
companies wholly owned by Mr. Huang Weiping,
key management personnel of the Group.

The Huarong CBs of RMBnil (the amount of
RMB231,720,000 has been reclassified to
other borrowings and other payables) (2023:
RMB231,720,000) were secured by 278,000,000
ordinary shares in the Company held by Epoch Keen,
a company wholly owned by Mr. Yu Jiangiu, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

9. BEHARZ (&)

(a)

(b)

(%)

BEE

(i)

ZNREBBRARE 28TEARY 680
T(2023%F : BEARB28TEARY
6807T) °

HmBs 25

(i)

(i)

ZdFERXRARE
299,116,0007L(2023
F: AR 299,116,000
TO)IHFERARAR - E
CRRBERARLEHEEE
ERABFHANAREE
$£310,317,000 i & i@ %
(20234 : 310,317,000
P E B A IR AR R - Pr A
ZERBBRAKRETEE
BEABREREYLELER
=

ERUBBREZFAREE
7T(A K ¥ 231,720,000
TEEHDHEEEMER
Ko E & 500R ) (2023
F: AR®231,720,000
TT) T AR EE R
TEEFMENELEZER
BERAIKERAEART
278,000,000 fx & 38 Az 12
IR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Confinved) 9. BHARZ (&)
(b)  (Continued) (b) (&)

(i) During the year, the Group was granted unconditional i) A ~&EERESDT)IE
government subsidies of RMB25,000,000 (2023: %5 AT L R B BB HE IR
RMB19,518,000) from Youxian District Finance BEKGBATEEAR
Bureau, Mianyang City, Sichuan Province. The 25 000,0007t(2023
subsidies were received through Boahe Fushan. Baohe F£: AR ®19518000
Fushan has the discretionary right to allocate and T) o A EHE D B BRMN
distribute the government subsidies, with reference to & WUE - SRFNE LA
the amounts of tax payments made by the entities. 2RZEEOVRAEED

Bic Ko 0 B BT RE ©

() Compensation of key management personnel () FEEBASEHM

2024 2023

2024 ¥ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT

Shortterm employee benefits RHEEER 7,535 8,087
Postemployment benefits BER R m A 147 64
Equity-setiled share option expense RREEBRER 350 890
8,032 ?,041
Remuneration for the Company’s directors and five highest RAREEH MK 1A &K=
paid employees, is disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated BENGEMBHRERMTI2M

financial statements. T -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

40. ZFEREREBRMEE

CASH FLOWS
(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) METHEEZ2EEEH
The following fable shows the Group's changes in liabilities TREFIAEBFARE LTS E
arising from financing activities during the year: EZRER
Inferest- Amounts Total
bearing dueto liabilities
bank and Amounts  associates from
Other Note other  Converfible Lease duetoa  andrelsted financing
accruals — payables  borrowings bonds  liabilities director parfies activifies
ENBE
Hip st FEBRTR Eff REAREE BERD
BER  EARE  AHHR TAREX  HEAR  EFERE FRE MARE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABETT ARMTR ARMTT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETR
Asat 1 Jonuary 2023 M202351 418 205,822 23511 1,338,370 231,720 2,230 207 62,085 1,863,945
Changes in cash flows HETEEY 17,109 - 80,332 - 2,195) - 1121) 70,907
Norrcash changes *5EEY
— finance costs —BIERA 147 569 - - 331 - - 147 900
~ reclassffication o other —ENPREER
borrowing and ofher EHREL
payables ERFIE 28,292 - 203,428 (231,720 - - - -
— exchange differences -EREE 1210 4 5,870 - 13 - - 7,504
As ot 31 December 2023 #20235
and 1 January 2024 12A318R
2024%1R18 375,784 23922 1,628,000 - 379 207 61964 2,090,256
Changes in cash flows BETREEY 14,578 - 12,000 - 38¢) - 4,034) 3,002
Non-cash changes FREEH
— finance costs —BIBRA 218,085 - - 7 - - 218,092
— exchange differences -EREE 1,485 451 2,001 - - - 7) 3,930
As ot 31 December 2024 #2024512 318 590,776 24,373 1,642,001 - - 207 57923 2,315,280
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

(a) ADBHBMRRE

2024

2024 F
RMB’000
AR®TT

Non-current assets
Inferests in associates

46,484

46,484

84
90

174

46,658

Current assets RBEE

Amounts due from associates JE A BS: 2N B FR TR
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER
Total assets HEE

Current liabilities REAE

Other payables Hh A5 IR

Note payables B EE

Amounts due to subsidiaries Rl ENGIE

Amount due fo a related party
Other borrowings

FE& - — & BBk 75 50R
H A tE 5K

139,235
24,373
223,308
5,232
223,308

615,456

(615,282)

(568,798)

(568,798)

363,611
(932,409

Net current liabilities BREBEE

Total assets less current liabilities HEERABERE
NET LIABILITIES BEE

Capital and reserves EXK#E

Share capifal AR

Reserves et

TOTAL EQUITY s

(568,798)

41, BBARR KRR BB

2023
2023
RMB'000
ARBT T

46,807

46,807

109,605
23,922
219,185
8,625
206,981

568,378
(568,269)
(521,462)
(521,462)

363,611
(885,073)

(521,462)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continved)

41. BBERRRRARQBDREEE)

(b) Reserves of the Company (b) ARQFEFE
Share-based
Share  Exchange Copital payment  Accumuloted
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Totol
HERB
RERN
RVEE  ERRE  ERRE  ARBE  RHEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Asat 1 January 2023 R2023F1R18 2,204,701 37 437 289836 19844 (3,387,839  (836,021)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - 68,468) (68,468)
Exchange differences BREELNELZE
on fronslation - 17,013 - - - 17013
Tofal comprehensive loss ERnzEERES
fortheyear R TAE - B8 (5145
Share options lopsed/forfeiled ~ BAR/HA RERE - - - 372) 372 -
Equitysefled share-based WERBE IR
paymens RERZAR - - - 2,403 - 2,403
Asaf 31 December 2023 ond 120235128318
1 January 2024 R2024E1R18 2204701 54,450 289,836 21875 (3435935 (885,073
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (64,142) (64,142)
Exchange differences BEEENELZEE
on franslation - 15,762 - - - 15,762
Total comprehensive loss FRTEERLR
for the year - 15,762 - - (64,142) 48,380)
Share options lapsed/forfeited Bk /BT AHRIE - - - 70 70 -
Fouityseftled shore-based WSS R
payments BERZHR - - - 1,044 - 1,044
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F128318 2,204,701 70212 289,836 22,849 (3,520007) (932,409
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. KR TEIM B A RS
COMPANY
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512A31H
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
FMKL/
WEAREHE MR EE L BERA EE Mg TEXE
Engen Invesiments Limited BVI United States dollars 100% = Investment holding
['Engen’) ("USD") 10,225
BeREERAA(BL]) RERAHE 10,225%7C 100% - REHER
(1%7))
True Excel Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$ 1 - 100%  Investment holding
("True Excel'|
REERAERAR(TRE]) BE &7 - 100% &R
Alpha Legend Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Alpha Legend'|
RRERERAA([HER]) BE &7 - 100% &R
Alpha Business Invesiments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Alpha Business'|
BHEREERAA(EH]) BE &7 - 100% &R
Alpha Universe Group limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Alpha Universe”)
BASEERAA (BN BE &7 - 100% &R
Fanmay Limited ["Fanmay’) BVI HK$ 1 100% = Invesiment holding
ZXERAA(EX]) RBRAHE 13T 100% - REHER
China Recycling Aluminium Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Invesiment holding
['Recycling Aluminium’)
FRIERAEERAA 55 13T - 100% &R

(MEgREX])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. XRRMBRRNFR#E)
COMPANY [Continved)
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512A318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/
MWELRER dfREFLH BRRE HE B IEXHB
Cosmo Hope Limited ["Cosmo’) BVI UsD1 100% - Invesiment holding
Cosmo Hope Limited ([Cosmo)) EBEXES [E3 100% - REZR
China Metal Resources BVI UsD1 100% - Investment holding
Corporation Limited "CMR’|
China Metal Resources RERLEE [ 100% - REBRRK
Corporation Limited ([CMR])
Hong Kong Jin Xunhuan Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Invesiment holding
Group Limited ["HKXH')
BELEREBARAA BE 1ET - 100% ®REER
(IEBeRR])
China Metal Resources Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
[Hong Kong] Limited ("CMR HK')
TEeBER(BR)ERAR B 1T - 100% ®EER
(MEsBEREE])
China Zhaofeng Copper limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
[Zhaofeng']
PEKEREERARD(KE) FE 1 BT - 100% REER
Value Link Developments limited BV UsD100 100% - Invesiment holding
("Value Link")
HEAERARAA(HE]) RERAES 100 %7 100% - REBR
Silver Eminent Group Limited BVI UsD100 100% - Invesiment holding
("Silver Eminent’)
RpEBARRAR (8 ]) RERAES 100 %7 100% - REBR
Sky Harvest Clobal limited BVI UsD100 100% - Invesiment holding
["Sky Harvest')

REERERAA(XE]) RBRIES 100 £t 100% - REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

42. X AR B R RANFEE)

COMPANY [Continved)
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512 4318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/
MWELRER afREELE BERA HE B IEXHB
China Sanmei Copper Limited Hong Kong Usb100 - 100%  Invesiment holding
PE=XHEXBRAF &R 100 £t - 100% RERER
China Rongsheng Metal Limited Hong Kong UsD100 - 100%  Investment holding
TERREEERAT &R 100 £ - 100% HERR
Mianyang Jinxin Copper The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrop copper
Co., lid. ['Jinxin") Limited liability and electrolytic copper for
company (Hong Kong, the manufacturing of
Macau and Taiwan copper related products
legal person
sole investment)
RHEeBWEARAT e ARH - 100% IIEERBEERMA
(&) BREARA 100,000,000 7 HEE R R B
(BREEABE)
Hunan Yinlion Xiangbei Copper ~ The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrop copper
Co., lid. "Kiangbei'|* Limited liability and electrolytic copper for
company (Hong Kong, the manufacturing of
Macau and Taiwan copper related products
legal person
sole investment)
BRI REERAT e ARH - 100% IIEERBEERMA
(e > BREARA 80,000,000 7T HEE R B

(BRRZEABE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. XATIME A RS
COMPANY [Continved)
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512A318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/
MWELRER afREELE BRRE HE B IEXHB
Mianyang Tongxin Copper The PRC RMBS50,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper
Co., ltd. (" Tongxin"|* Limited liability and electrolytic copper for
company (sole the manufacturing of
proprieforship invested copper related products
or controlled by
natural person)
BERERXERAR(RE]) T AR - 100%  MIAEFRREERHFS
BREERR 50,000,0007c B R B
(BAARES
ZREEABE)
Sichuan Bache Xinshiji Cable The PRC RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sale
Co., ltd. ("Bache Xinshiji"|* Limited liability of power fransmission and
company {Hong Kong, distribution cables
Macau and Taiwan
legal person
sole investment]
MIRMFELREERAR  PE ARH - 100% AERBEXLES
(TRAAERE ) BREERT 150,000,000 7
(BRBEANBE)
Mianyang Baohe Taiyue Co., lid.  The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Manufocturing
['Baohe Taiyue'|* Limited liability Communications
company {Hong Kong, Cable and sale of
Macau and Taiwan communication cables
legal person
sole investment]
RERNZEBRAT P E ARH - 100% HEBCEBRHERE
(TR ])* BREERT 80,000,0007T 6 |

(BRRIZABE)

169



170 China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ® & /BERFIFHHR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M B 8 R ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

42. X AR B R RANFEE)

(BREENEE)

COMPANY [Continved)
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512 4318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/

WEAREH dfREFLH BRRE HE B IEXHB

Mianyang Jin Xunhuan Metal The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Matericls Co., lid. Limited liability anodic copper and
(*fin Xunhuon")* company [sole frading of

proprieforship invested electrolytic copper
or controlled by
natural person)

BELRREBMHERRR P ARH - 100% HERHEEREFN

(T&fER)* BREERR 30,000,000 EESHA
(BAARES
ZREEABE)

Shanghai Epoch Keen Metal The PRC RMB60,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Trading Co., lid. Limited liability related products
["Shanghai Shijian"|* company {Hong Kong,

Macau and Taiwan
legal person
sole investment]

LERESBHERRAA P E ARH - 100% EEFEHRER

(I Emg))r BREERT 60,000,0007¢
(BRBEANBE)
Mianyang Xinhuan Aluminium The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Trading of aluminium
Co., ltd. (Xinhuan Aluminium*  Limited liability related products
company [Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan
legal person
sole investment]

REBREZARAT P E ARH - 100% EE®EBER

(TBR\E]) BREERT 30,000,0007T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. KRB B LA BINFEE &)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512A318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/
MWELRER afREELE BRRE HE B TEER

Shanghai Bujiang Mefal The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Inactive
Material Co., lid. [‘Bujiang’)* Limited liability
company [sole
proprieforship invested
or controlled by
nonnatural person)
PR IEBMHERRAR PE AR - 100% EEXK
(T BREERR 30,000,000
(FFERARER
ZREEABE)

Sichuan Boxin copper The PRC RMB10,500,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper
Co., ltd ["Boxin")* Limited liability company and electrolytic copper for
[sole proprieforship the manufacturing of
invested or controlled by copper related products
norrnatural person)
M BREZERAF] PE AR - 100% MIEERBEERMA
(IMe& ) AREMRH 10,500,0007¢ B R BRI
(FEAARE
ZREZEABE)

Mianyang Yuxin Recycling The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Development Co., lid. [Yuxin')*  limited liability related products
company [sole
proprieforship invested
or confrolled by
natural person)
RHEEEBLERAEERAR  HHE ARH - 100% EEMEHER
(M2g)) BREERT 50,000,0007c
(BAARES
BROENER)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

42. X AR B R RANFEE)

COMPANY [Continved)
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512 4318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/

MWELRER afREELE BERA HE B IEXHB

Hunan Yinlion Xiangbei The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Nonferrous Meal Co., lid. Limited liability related products
["Kiangbei Youse'|* company [foreign

investment company
as sole proprietor)

B RERL RSB e ARH - 100% BEMEWER
BRAR(DHLEED* BREERR 50,000,0007¢

(ERERR
ENBE)
Sichuan Zhixin Mefal Materials The PRC RMB49,470,300 - 100%  Trading of copper
Co., ld. |"Zhixin"* Limited liability related products
company [Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole
investment)

M HEE B HARAR PE AR - 100% EEFEHRER

(&) BREERR 49,470,3007C
(BREEZABE)

Fuging Zhongjin Nonferrous The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Metal Co., lid. Limited liability related products
['Fuging Zhongjin”|* company (Hong Kong,

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

RETLEELEBMHARAR HE ARH - 100% BEMEWER
(MEERe ) BREERR 100,000,000 7

(BREENEE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & M 55 8 R P 5

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY [Continved)

Name of the subsidiary

MEARER

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
iz ave
R E

Paid up capital

BRBA

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

42. X AR B R RANFEE)

Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
R2024512A31R
KR EERE

Direct Indirect

E% itk

Principal activity

IEXEH

Chengxin Copper Co., lid
["Chengxin”|*

REAFERLA(RE])

Ganzhou Sanmei Copper
Co., Itd.

BN=XBXERAT

Mianyang Zhaofeng Copper
Co., lid. ["Zhaofeng’|

BHERSREBRAR]
(Tkg))

The PRC
Limited liability

company [sole

proprieforship invested

or confrolled

by natural person)
7

AREARH

(BRARED

BEMENER)

The PRC
Limited liability

company [Hong Kong,

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole
investment)

h
BREAAR
(BREEABE)

The PRC
Limited liability
compoany [Taiwan,
Hong Kong or
Macau joint venture]
7
AREARH
(RERAE)

RMB10,000,000

ARE
10,000,000t

HK$12,000,000

12,000,000 &7t

RMB10,000,000

ARE
10,000,000t

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Processing of scrap copper
for the manufacturing of
copper related products

MIAERERER
PR R iR

Investment holding

RAME

Trading of copper
related products

ERRERERD
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

42. X AR B R RANFEE)

COMPANY [Continved)
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512 4318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/
MWELRER afREELE BERA HE B IEXHB
Hubei Rongsheng Copper Co., lid  The PRC RMB7,602,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper
'Rongsheng’) Limited liability for the manufacturing of
company {Hong Kong, copper related products
Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole
investment)
HLRREBRRERAA PE AR - 100% MIAEFREER
(TR ) BREERR 7,602,000 Fr B RESR
(BRBEABE)
Ningbo Jinxuan Nonferrous The PRC RMB60,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Metal Co., lid* Limited liability related products
company [foreign
investment company
as sole proprietor)
ERSEARECEMH e ARH - 100% BEMEDHER
BRARE* BREERR 60,000,0007¢
(ERERR
ENBE)
Ningbo Xiangbei Supply The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Chain Management Co., lid * Limited liability related products
company [foreign
investment company as
sole proprietor)
BRMIEEEERERAT " SE ARH - 1007 EEAEEES
BREERR 80,000,0007T
(OERERE

EABE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. KRB B LA BINFEE &)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024512A318
incorporation/ KA FEERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMERL,/
MWELRER afREELE BRRE HE B TEER

Fujian Zhongjin Aluminum The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Technology Co., lid * Limited liability related products
company [sole
proprieforship invested
or controlled by non-
natural person)
BRPERENRERAE PE AR - 100% EEMEHER
AREARH 100,000,000 7
(FEAARE
ZREEABE)

Huili Boxin Copper The PRC RMB18,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Manufacturing Co., Lid* Limited liability related products

company (foreign
invesiment company as
sole proprietor)

ERBEANHEERAR PE AR - 100% EEREHER
AREMRH 18,000,0007¢
(OERERSE
ENBE)

Chongging Yuming Steel The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Distribution Co., lid* Limited liability related products
company (legal person
sole investment)
BRNHMM A ER AR " e ARH - 100% BEMERER
BREERR 100,000,000
(EABE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/&

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42, ZRF B RNFES &)

COMPANY (Continued
Equity interest attributable
to the Company at
31 December 2024
Place of R2024%12A31H
incorporation/ FARELRE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
AL/
WEAREE aMRERLR HERK HE B TEXK
Chongging Yuming Aluminum The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Co., lid* Limited liability related products
company (legal person
sole invesiment]
EENHmERRAR e ARH - 100% EERERER
BREARA 50,000,000 7T
(EABE)
Chongging Yuming Recycling The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Resources Development Co., Lid*  Limited liability related products
company (legal person
sole investment]
ERNHAEERAE hE ARH - 100% BEMERER
BRAF BREARR 50,000,0007¢
(EABE)
Chongging Yuming Metal The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
materials Co., lid* Limited liability related products
company (legal person
sole investment)
EENH B HERAR " e ARH - 100% EERERER
BREARA 50,000,000 7T
(EABE)
Hubei Pangxin Nonferrous The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper
Metals Co., Ltd* Limited liability related producs
company [foreign
invesiment company as
sole proprietor]
HLEREEEEBARAR " HHE AR - 100% BEMERER
BREERT 10,000,000 7t
(OERERE
EANBE)

The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official names of these companies

are in Chinese.

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally offected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

LRWNEGEER2H - ZERATNETEEA

R e

ERRINIEHAEERE BEXEA

BEREEZENMBARS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B{Z 20244 12431 H1FF/E

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. REHEREE

Except for the disclosure of events after the reporting period in the BRAFREFSMENRETHES
report of the direcfors of the annual report, no further events affer HHEE)N BMEFBEESHREHE
the reporting period were disclosed. 218 o

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 44. HEFREMHERE
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and ZEEAMBHRREN2025F 3 A
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025. 31 AR EES &R ERNE -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMGEBE

31 December 2024 20244 12531 H

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2024
2024 %
RMB’000
ARET T
Total assets BEE 1,083,120
Total liabilities FES=E (5,244,623)
Net (liabilities)/assets EAG=L-OP & -y (4,161,503
Results B

Loss for the year FREE (652,462)

Total comprehensive FAZHEER

loss for the year

B

(655,335)

EERER
2023 2022 2021 2020
2023 % 2022 % 2021 % 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
1,382,319 2,398,071 6,733,999 6,257,670
(4,889,531) (5,100,071) (5,024,602 (4,769,535)
(3,507,212) (2,702,000) 1,709,397 1,488,135
(805,780) (4,763,152) [95,477)  (387,249)
(807,615) (4,802,860) (71,757)  (344,237)
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited
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